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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ETRE®|E

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board” or “Directors”), |
am pleased to present the 2021 full year results to the shareholders
of Hop Fung Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”, and, including
subsidiaries, the “Group” or “we").

In 2021, the global epidemic situation is still volatile. In the face of
the threat of new COVID-19 variants, although the pandemic
situation is under control in China, there are still occasional
fluctuations. As a result, China’s economic growth has slowed down,
resulting in unstable market demand for corrugated packaging. In
addition, since 2021, the Chinese government has completely
prohibited the import of waste paper, resulting in a tight supply of
raw materials. The shortage of domestic waste paper has led to high
prices, and the prices of other raw materials and commodities have
risen. The overall costs remained high, causing a heavy burden on
corrugated packaging companies.

The revenue of the Group’s corrugated packaging business relies
mainly on Chinese domestic sales. Since the first half of 2021, the
demand in China has rebounded due to the stabilization of the
epidemic, resulting in an increase in the Group's revenue in the first
half of the year compared to the same period last year. However, the
repeated development of epidemic still dampened the market
demand, coupled with the impact of upstream business event, the
Group's revenue declined in the second half of 2021.

Entering in October, due to the consideration of the environmental
policies by the local government, the annual boiler licence review for
the Group’s upstream business was suspended, that led to the
temporary suspension of the Group’s upstream production operation.
The above reason caused the Group's total sales to drop significantly
in 2021. In addition, the fourth quarter is traditionally the peak
season for the corrugated packaging business. The production
suspension has increased the burden on the Group. At present, the
coordination between the Group and the local government is still in
progress, and an announcement will be made in due course when
the final plan is implemented. The Group has sufficient inventories of
containerboard paper and will purchase from third party suppliers in
a timely manner to meet its production needs, which has no impact
on other production businesses.
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Putting all these together, the Group recorded a slight profit in the
first half of 2021 but recorded a loss in the second half of 2021,
ending the full year of 2021 at a loss. The Group has consistently
focused on containerboard and corrugated packaging products with
short production cycles and maintains a roster of quality clients.
Thus, the Group continues with its track record of next to no bad
debts. At the end of the year, the Group’s balance sheet was at a net
cash position (with total bank balances and cash exceeding total
bank borrowings), maintaining our consistently robust financial
position.

In addition, the Group is still in the process of installing a pulp
production line at the leased facility in the Philippines, subject to the
prevalent COVID-19 pandemic in the region. The Group will actively
monitor the local situation so as to facilitate the commencement of
production as soon as possible. Consequently, it could satisfy the
business needs of our Group’s upstream business, bringing the
Group's production volume and overall business back on track.

Looking forward to 2022, we expect the development of the global
epidemic, rising global inflation and interest rates, and Sino-US trade
relations, etc., will continue to affect the economy in China and
market demand for corrugated packaging. However, the Group will
maintain good capital management and low debt levels, in order to
have greater flexibility to cope with market instability, and seize
opportunities to follow the general direction of national economic
development and environmental protection, and ultimately improve
the Group’s profitability.

The Group will continue to improve our production process and
reduce wastage, and strictly control costs to alleviate the impact of
rising operating costs and provide more high-quality corrugated
packaging products to our customers. We remain committed to
extending our competitive advantage as a vertically integrated
producer and striving for sustainable long-term growth in earnings.

Lastly, I would like to take this opportunity to thank our management
team and staff, express my gratitude for their solidarity in facing
adversities and various challenges, and thank our customers,
suppliers, bankers and investors for their support over the years. We
will continue to strive to deliver better returns to our shareholders.

Hui Sum Ping
Chairman
26th July, 2022
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEEN®WE DN

BUSINESS REVIEW

In the first half of 2021, the demand for corrugated packaging in the
PRC market slowly recovered as COVID-19 pandemic alleviated. The
Group’s average selling price and sales volume increased, and
revenue increased by 26.4% compared with the first half of 2020. In
the second half of 2021, despite the increase in the Group's average
selling price, it is still slower than the increase in raw material costs.
As for the sale volume, it has declined mainly because the Group’s
upstream business being affected by local policies, resulted in
temporary suspension of production. As a result, the Group’s revenue
in the second half of the year decreased by 15.7% compared with
the first half of the year, and decreased by 51.7% compared with the
second half of 2020 and revenue decreased 27.4% for the year.

The Group's upstream containerboard business produces corrugating
medium and linerboard, mainly supplied to the Group’s downstream
corrugated packaging business (manufacturing of corrugated
paperboards and carton boxes), and directly sold to customers in
response to changes in market demand. In 2021, the upstream and
downstream businesses accounted for 14.2% and 85.8% of the
revenue respectively, mainly due to the temporary suspension of
production of the Qingyuan Factory. The upstream revenue decreased
by 75.7% compared with last year, while the downstream revenue
increased by 8.4% compared with last year.

The Group's main raw materials, waste paper and containerboard are
sourced both in the domestic and overseas markets. Due to the
shortage of raw material supply, and the prices of bulk commodities
and shipping costs continued to rise, these resulted in high overall
raw material costs in 2021. In addition, affected by the sharp fall in
the sales volume of the Group’s upstream business, although the
sales and distribution costs and administrative expenses decreased
due to the decrease in revenue, the proportion of recurring overhead
costs remained high, resulting in the Group recording a loss for the
year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

For the upstream business of the Group, since receiving a notice from
the local government regarding the establishment of the Prohibition
Zone for High-Pollution Fuels in Qingyuan City in March 2020, the
Group has taken active measures and plans to change its boilers to
use clean energy. However, upon receipt of legal advice in respect of
the related notice, the management noted that the content of the
notice was unreasonable and contradicted the existing regulations. In
addition, annual inspection of licences of the relevant boilers was
renewed successfully in October 2020 and the Group’s upstream
factory was awarded Environmental Integrity Enterprise (Green Label
Enterprise) which could meet the ultra-low emission standards as
required by the relevant policies set by the government of the
Guangdong Province and continue to use it. With reference to the
legal advice, the relevant policies of the notice was invalid and not
applicable to the Group at that time and no law or regulation having
concrete timetable for existing coal-fuel boiler to change to use clean
energy, the Group’s upstream business did not violate any valid and
existing laws or regulation but in itself a voluntary action taken by
the Group. Entering October 2021, the local government suspended
the annual inspection of the licence of the boilers, resulting in the
temporary suspension of the Group’s upstream business. During the
period of temporary suspension of production, the Group continues
to coordinate with the local government for the annual inspection
procedures of the licences for the coal-fuel boilers to resume
production and in parallel to resume the project to change its boilers
from coal-fuel boilers to gas-fuel boilers pursuant to the
environmental policies of the local government that was cancelled by
the management of the Group in last year. The Group has engaged a
supplier and entered into a contract to carry out the project for the
works to change to gas-fuel boilers and assist the Group in
completing the annual inspection procedures of the licences for the
boilers, and expects to resume production in 2023. For the impact of
change to gas-fuel boilers, the management expects that for the
containerboard segment, cost per ton should increase by around
RMB350. With the completion of installation of large-scale pulp
production lines in the Philippines in 2023, the cost of raw material
should greatly decrease . Overall, the impact on gross profit margin
on containerboard segment is not significant.

BEEENWR DM (&)

¥ O am)

EREENENER B -_T-_TF=-_A%K
EEWBRARMRIIBED )T RN
EH A KR SECBEERRIUERE 5738
HREWABRER - A - EHELEHN
EMERRTHRERBINATHFETGE N
7o MERITERBERE  MEBBREN
BRFENR_ZT_TF+AIBNBESB &8
EHBEEFSRERBEDLE (RELE)
B 12 B B 3R & I BT AR 32 AE B ISR P AR TE #Y
BMEHFMIRE TAIEERR HEMER
RAEERBHNRENERFILEXLTER
RAEE - TREED SR I s A R R IE
HAIRRERA RRNRER - SE L
EBRARREIAABRLEEMAEN R
fl EERAREERERR TS - BAZ
Z_—F+Ah BEHBNEEEHEREN
BRFESEH UWBREEBNLEHEKTER
FE REREEHHE ~EEEERANK
08 bR PR O 28 A2 Fr B 30 IO 165 A DA IR 1B A
E G UYREREASEEEENEFIORE
TTIRBE B 2 3R R USR8 B R o
MRMBENIAR - AKRECEFHERLR
RIEH NETHAMRMETIEEE - I
W BN AR B e A SR IE I IR E R AR - FBAHS
R-TF-_=ZFWELE AAARRBIEZ
TEME  EEERMMERED B2 BMENX
ARG IE K AR 3507 © FEE B KRB R 4T
HERR T _=FTHREE RMEK
KERNERD - BEME - YRRES L2
ENMEBIEBEARE -

SEEEERBRAR o T —FFR

07



08

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
BEEENRRD N ()

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Operating results

The Group recorded a decrease in revenue of HK$284.8 million in
2021, representing a fall of 27.4% from HK$1,040.4 million in 2020
to HK$755.6 million in 2021. The drop in revenue was mainly
attributed to the decline in sales volume resulting from the temporary
suspension of production of Green Forest (QingXin) Paper Industrial
Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.

Cost of sales increased from HK$912.5 million in 2020 to
HK$1,127.1 million in 2021. Impairment loss on property, plant and
equipment attributable to the temporary suspension of the upstream
production, amounting to HK$420.6 million was included in cost of
sales (2020: nil). Excluded the effect of the impairment loss, the
extent of the decline in cost of sales was less than that in revenue
due to the increase in the average cost of raw materials outweighed
the increase in average selling price.

Because of the impairment loss recognised this year, gross profit
declined from HK$127.9 million in 2020 to gross loss of HK$371.5
million in 2021, representing a 390.5% decrease. Gross profit
margin dropped from 12.3% to -49.2%. Eliminated this effect, gross
profit of 6.5% resulted in 2021.

Other income decreased from HK$23.1 million in 2020 to HK$17.9
million in 2021. Such decrease was mainly attributed to less scrap
sales and less tax refund from the Chinese Government.

Other gains and losses rose from HK$4.1 million in 2020 to HK$12.8
million in 2021, primarily due to exchange gain resulting from
appreciation of Renminbi and gain on liquidation of a subsidiary.

Selling and distribution costs reduced 18.1% from HK$38.1 million in
2020 to HK$31.2 million in 2021. The decrease was in line with the
decrease in revenue.

Administrative expenses fell 3.2% from HK$80.1 million in 2020 to

HK$77.5 million in 2021. No significant change was recorded.

Other expenses increased from HK$21.4 million in 2020 to HK$22.9
million in 2021. No significant change was recorded.

Finance costs decreased from HK$8.8 million in 2020 to HK$8.4
million in 2021. The decrease was owing to lower borrowing level in
2021.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Operating results (Continued)

In 2021, HK$56.2 million was credited to income tax expense, being
the sum of Hong Kong Profits Tax charge of HK$0.5 million, PRC
Enterprise Income Tax charge of HK$1.5 million, Macau
Complementary Tax of HK$0.1 million and deferred tax credit of
HK$58.3 million.

Loss for the year of HK$422.8 million was recorded in 2021 while
profit for the year of HK$1.4 million was recorded in 2020,
representing a decrease in profit by HK$424.2 million. Profit margin
fell from 0.1% to -56.0%.

Liquidity, financial and capital resources

At 31st December, 2021, the Group’s bank balances and cash were
HK$246.7 million (31st December, 2020: HK$291.5 million), mostly
denominated in Renminbi.

All bank borrowings were unsecured, falling from HK$282.6 million
at 31st December, 2020 to HK$226.9 million at 31st December,
2021. At 31st December, 2021, the current unsecured bank
borrowings declined HK$31.6 million while non-current unsecured
bank borrowings fell HK$24.1 million. The group recorded a net cash
level (net of bank balances and cash less total bank borrowings) of
HK$19.8 million (31st December, 2020: HK$8.9 million). Gearing
ratio (total bank borrowings to total equity) and net gearing ratio (net
balance of total bank borrowings less bank balances and cash to
equity) were 18.2% and -1.6% respectively (31st December, 2020:
17.4% and -0.5% respectively).

At 31st December, 2021, net current assets and current ratio of the
Group were HK$225.0 million (31st December, 2020: HK$265.8
million) and 1.8 (31st December, 2020: 1.7) respectively.

In 2021, the Group spent HK$18.8 million on capital expenditures for
property, plant and equipment in China and spent HK$17.6 million
for paying deposit for acquisition of property, plant and equipment
in the Philippines.

Debtors, creditors and inventory turnover were 49 days (2020: 59
days), 37 days (2020: 32 days) and 44 days (2020: 47 days)
respectively.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
BEEBSwmR DM (&)

OUTLOOK

We expect that the global economy will still be affected by the novel
coronavirus variant in 2022, but the Chinese economy is expected to
grow steadily amid the continuous and effective prevention and
control measures, which will drive consumption to increase the
market demand for corrugated packaging. In terms of upstream
business, the Group will carry out the works to change to gas boilers
in order to complete the annual inspection procedures of the licences
for the boilers and resume production. As for the new factory leased
in the Philippines, when the local epidemic situation stabilizes, it will
continue to complete the installation of large-scale pulp production
lines, thereby reducing production costs and increasing sales volume,
so as to solve the shortage of raw materials and strive to improve the
Group's profits.

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31st December, 2021, the Group employed a total workforce
of around 805 full time staff (2020: 1,050). Competitive
remuneration packages were offered to employees. The Group may
also grant share options and discretionary bonuses to eligible
employees based on the performance of the Group and individuals.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Hui Sum Ping, aged 60, is the chairman of the Board, an
executive Director of the Company and a co-founder of the Group.
Mr. Hui is responsible for the business development and overall
corporate planning of the Group. Mr. Hui has over 37 years of
experience in the corrugated packaging industry in Hong Kong and
the PRC.

Mr. Hui Sum Ping is a brother of Mr. Hui Sum Tai (executive Director
and chief executive officer of the Company). Mr. Hui is a
brother-in-law of Mr. Tsui Yung Wai (a senior management of the
Company). Mr. Hui did not hold any other directorship in companies
listed in Hong Kong or overseas in the last 3 years.

Mr. Hui Sum Tai, aged 55, is an executive Director and the chief
executive officer of the Company. Mr. Hui has joined the Group since
its establishment and is responsible for the strategic planning and
day-to-day management of the Group. Mr. Hui has over 35 years of
experience in the corrugated packaging industry in Hong Kong and
the PRC.

Mr. Hui Sum Tai is a brother of Mr. Hui Sum Ping (chairman of the
Board and executive Director of the Company). Mr. Hui is a
brother-in-law of Mr. Tsui Yung Wai (a senior management of the
Company). Mr. Hui did not hold any other directorship in companies
listed in Hong Kong or overseas in the last 3 years.
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MANAGEMENT PROFILE (CONTINUED)
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chee Man Sang, Eric, aged 60, is an independent non-
executive Director and the chairman of the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee of the
Company. Mr. Chee is a practising Certified Public Accountant in
Hong Kong and a senior partner of Chee Chan & Co., a firm of
Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Chee had worked in two
international accounting firms in Canada and Hong Kong. Mr. Chee
is an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants
of Ontario, Canada.

Mr. Chee obtained a Bachelor’s Degree of Commerce (Accounting)
with Honours from Birmingham University in 1984. Mr. Chee does
not have any relationship with any Directors, substantial shareholders
and senior management of the Company.

Mr. Chee used to be an independent non-executive director of
Evershine Group Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Mr. Chee did not hold any other
directorship in companies listed in Hong Kong or overseas in the last
3 years.

Mr. Wong Chu Leung, aged 74, is an independent non-executive
Director and a member of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee of the Company.
Mr. Wong has over 37 years of experience in enterprise management
and manufacturing operation management. Mr. Wong is a
shareholder and a director of a metal ware manufacturing company
with manufacturing plant located in the PRC.

Mr. Wong does not have any relationship with any Directors,
substantial shareholders and senior management of the Company.
Mr. Wong did not hold any other directorship in companies listed in
Hong Kong or overseas in the last 3 years.

Mr. Chau Suk Ming, aged 64, is an independent non-executive
Director and a member of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee of the Company.
Mr. Chau is a retired businessman with more than 15 years of
experience in the corrugated packaging industry. Mr. Chau was a
shareholder and a director of a corrugated packaging company with
manufacturing plant located in the PRC.

Mr. Chau does not have any relationship with any Directors,
substantial shareholders and senior management of the Company.
Mr. Chau did not hold any other directorship in companies listed in
Hong Kong or overseas in the last 3 years.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Tsui Yung Wai, aged 60, is the general manager of the Group.
Mr. Tsui is responsible for the supervision of procurement, logistics
and human resources of the Group. Mr. Tsui has over 26 years of
experience in corrugated packaging industry in Hong Kong and the
PRC. Prior to joining the Group in February 2008, Mr. Tsui was a
shareholder and a director of a corrugated packaging company.

Mr. Tsui is a brother-in-law of Mr. Hui Sum Ping (chairman of the
Board and executive Director of the Company) and Mr. Hui Sum Tai
(executive Director and chief executive officer of the Company).

Ms. Wong Yuk Kwan, aged 51, is the senior accounting and
administrative manager of the Group. Ms. Wong is responsible for
overseeing accounting operations of the Group. Ms. Wong obtained
a Degree of Bachelor of Business Administration majoring in
accounting from the University of Houston — Downtown in the United
States in 1994. Ms. Wong worked in an international accounting firm
prior to joining the Group in May 2002.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CEBREE

The Board is pleased to present this Corporate Governance Report in
the Group’s annual report for the year ended 31st December, 2021.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board is committed to maintaining high corporate governance
standards to safeguard the interests of shareholders and enhance
corporate value, formulate its business strategies and policies, and
enhance its transparency and accountability.

The Company has adopted the principles and code provisions of the
Corporate Governance Code (the "CG Code”) contained in Appendix
14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing
Rules”) as the basis of the Company’s corporate government
practices.

The CG Code has been amended with effect from 1st January, 2022.
As this Corporate Governance Report covers the year ended 31st
December, 2021, all the corporate governance principles and code
provisions mentioned herein refer to those stated in the CG Code
before the amendments, not the revised CG Code.

The Company has in place a corporate governance framework and
has established a set of policies and procedures based on the CG
Code contained in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules. Such policies
and procedures provide the infrastructure for enhancing the Board’s
ability to implement governance and exercise proper oversight on
business conduct and affairs of the Company.

The Company has applied the principles set out in the CG Code.
The Board is of the view that throughout the year ended 31st
December, 2021, the Company has complied with all the code

provisions as set out in the CG Code, except for code provisions
A.2.1,B.1.2 and C.3.3.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted its own code of conduct regarding
Directors’ dealings in the Company’s securities (the “Code of
Conduct”) on terms no less exacting than the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code") as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules.

Specific enquiry has been made of all the Directors and the Directors
have confirmed that they have complied with the Model Code and
the Code of Conduct throughout the year ended 31st December,
2021.

The Company has also established written guidelines (the “Employees
Written Guidelines”) no less exacting than the Model Code for
securities transactions by employees who are likely to be in
possession of inside information of the Company.

No incident of non-compliance of the Employees Written Guidelines
by the employees was noted by the Company.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Board Composition

The Board currently comprises five Directors, consisting of two
Executive Directors and three Independent Non-executive Directors as
follows:

Executive Directors

Chairman
Chief Executive Officer

Hui Sum Ping
Hui Sum Tai

Independent Non-executive Directors

Chairman of the Audit Committee,
the Remuneration Committee and
the Nomination Committee

Member of the Audit Committee,
the Remuneration Committee and
the Nomination Committee

Member of the Audit Committee,
the Remuneration Committee and
the Nomination Committee

Chee Man Sang, Eric

Wong Chu Leung

Chau Suk Ming

The relationships between the Directors, if any, are disclosed under
“Management Profile” on pages 11 to 13.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
EEERME (&)

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The positions of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer are
held by Mr. Hui Sum Ping and Mr. Hui Sum Tai respectively. The
Chairman provides leadership and is responsible for the effective
functioning and leadership of the Board and business development.
The Chief Executive Officer focuses on the Company’s strategic
planning and daily management and operations generally.

The Board considers that the responsibilities of the Chairman and the
Chief Executive Officer respectively are clear and distinctive and
hence, written terms thereof are not necessary. This deviates from
the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code which stipulates that the
division of responsibilities between the chairman and the chief
executive officer should be clearly established and set out in writing.

Independent Non-executive Directors

During the year ended 31st December, 2021, the Board at all times
met the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment
of at least three Independent Non-executive Directors representing
one-third of the Board with one of whom possessing appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each of
the Independent Non-executive Directors in respect of his
independence in accordance with the independence guidelines set
out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all
Independent Non-executive Directors are independent.

Appointment and Re-election of Director

The Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company are
appointed for a specific term of around two years, subject to renewal
after the expiry of the current term.

Under the Articles of Association of the Company, at each annual
general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time being, or if
their number is not a multiple of three, the number nearest to but
not less than one-third shall retire from office by rotation provided
that every Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least
once every three years. The Company’s Articles of Association
provides that all Directors appointed to fill a casual vacancy shall be
subject to election by shareholders at the first general meeting after
appointment. The retiring Directors shall be eligible for re-election.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Responsibilities, Accountabilities and Contributions
of the Board and Management

The Board is responsible for leadership and control of the Company
and overseeing the Group’s businesses, strategic decisions and
performance and is collectively responsible for promoting the success
of the Company by directing and supervising its affairs.

The Board directly, and indirectly through its committees, leads and
provides direction to management by laying down strategies and
overseeing their implementation, monitors the Group’s operational
and financial performance, and ensures that sound internal control
and risk management systems are in place.

All Directors, including Independent Non-executive Directors, have
brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge
and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and effective
functioning.

The Directors shall disclose to the Company details of other offices
held by them and the Board regularly reviews the contribution
required from each Director to perform his/her responsibilities to the
Company.

The Board reserves for its decision all major matters relating to policy
matters, strategies and budgets, internal control and risk
management, material transactions (in particular those that may
involve conflict of interests), financial information, appointment of
Directors and other significant operational matters of the Company.
Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions of the Board,
directing and co-ordinating the daily operation and management of
the Company are delegated to the management.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
EREREE (B)

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Continuous Professional Development of Directors

Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and changes
in order to effectively perform their responsibilities and to ensure
that their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.

Every newly appointed Director has received induction on the first
occasion of his/her appointment to ensure appropriate understanding
of the business and operations of the Company and full awareness of
Director’s responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules and
relevant statutory requirements. Such induction shall be supplemented
by visits to the Company’s key plant sites and meetings with senior
management of the Company.

Directors should participate in appropriate continuous professional
development (“CPD") to develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills. Internally-facilitated briefings for Directors would be arranged
and reading materials on relevant topics would be provided to
Directors where appropriate. All Directors are encouraged to attend
relevant external training courses at the Company’s expenses.

During the year ended 31st December, 2021, the Company organized
two in-house briefings on updates on Listing Rules and related
matters for all Directors. In addition, relevant reading materials
including compliance manual, legal and regulatory update and
seminar handouts have been provided to the Directors for their
reference and studying.

The records of CPD relating to Director’s duties and regulatory and
business development that have been received by the Directors for
the year ended 31st December, 2021 are summarized as follows:
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Wong Chu Leung Aand B == AKB

Chau Suk Ming A and B B AXB
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Continuous Professional Development of Directors
(Continued)

Note:
Types of Training

A: Attending training sessions, including but not limited to, briefings, seminars,
conferences and workshops

B: Reading relevant news alerts, newspapers, journals, magazines and relevant
publications

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely, the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s
affairs. All Board committees of the Company are established with
defined written terms of reference. The terms of reference of the
Board committees are posted on the Company’s website and the
Stock Exchange’s website and are available to shareholders upon
request.

The list of the chairman and members of each Board committee is set
out under “Corporate Information” on page 2.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee currently consists of three Independent
Non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chee Man Sang, Eric, Mr. Wong
Chu Leung and Mr. Chau Suk Ming. Mr. Chee Man Sang, Eric is the
chairman of the Audit Committee.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are of no less
exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code.

The main duties of the Audit Committee are to assist the Board in
reviewing the financial information and reporting process, risk
management and internal control systems, effectiveness of the
internal audit function, scope of audit and appointment of external
auditor, and arrangements to enable employees of the Company to
raise concerns about possible improprieties in financial reporting,
internal control or other matters of the Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
EEERME (&)

BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Audit Committee (Continued)

The Audit Committee held four meetings to review, in respect of the
year ended 31st December, 2021, the interim and annual financial
results and reports and significant issues on the financial reporting,
operational and compliance controls, the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems and internal audit
function, appointment of external auditor and engagement of
non-audit services and relevant scope of works.

Since the Company has not engaged its auditor to review the
financial information in its interim report, the Audit Committee has
met with the Company’s auditor once to discuss matters arising from
the audit of the Company’s annual results and other matters the
auditor may wish to raise during the year ended 31st December,
2021. This deviates from the code provision C.3.3 of the CG Code
which stipulates that the audit committee must meet, at least twice a
year, with company’s auditor.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee currently consists of three Independent
Non-executive Directors namely, Mr. Chee Man Sang, Eric, Mr. Wong
Chu Leung and Mr. Chau Suk Ming. Mr. Chee Man Sang, Eric is the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are of no
less exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code.

The primary functions of the Remuneration Committee include
reviewing and making recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of individual Executive Directors, the
remuneration policy and structure for all Directors; and establishing
transparent procedures for developing such remuneration policy and
structure to ensure that no Director or any of his/her associates will
participate in deciding his/her own remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee met once during the year to review
the Directors’ remuneration policy and structure of the Company,
and the remuneration packages of the Executive Directors and the
remuneration of the Non-executive Directors.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Remuneration Committee (Continued)

Currently, the remuneration of the senior management is attended
by the Chairman and/or the Chief Executive Officer of the Company.
This deviates from the code provision B.1.2 of the CG Code which
stipulates that the remuneration committee should make
recommendations to the board on company’s policy and structure for
all the directors’ and senior management remuneration.

Details of the remuneration paid to the members of the senior
management by band for the year ended 31st December, 2021 are
set out below:
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Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee currently consists of three Independent
Non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chee Man Sang, Eric, Mr. Wong
Chu Leung and Mr. Chau Suk Ming. Mr. Chee Man Sang, Eric is the
chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are of no less
exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code.

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include reviewing
the Board composition, developing and formulating relevant
procedures for the nomination and appointment of Directors, making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment and succession
planning of Directors, and assessing the independence of
Independent Non-executive Directors.

In reviewing and assessing the Board composition, the Nomination
Committee would consider a number of aspects as well as factors
concerning Board diversity as set out in the Company’s Board
Diversity Policy. The Nomination Committee would discuss and agree
on measurable objectives for achieving diversity on the Board, where
necessary, and recommend them to the Board for adoption.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
CEERRE (A)

BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Nomination Committee (Continued)

Board Diversity Policy

The Company recognizes and embraces the benefits of having a
diverse Board and sees increasing diversity at the Board level as an
essential element in maintaining the Company’s competitive
advantage. The particulars of the Board Diversity Policy of the
Company are set out as follows:

1. The Nomination Committee will review annually the structure,
size and composition of the Board and where appropriate,
make recommendations on changes to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy.

2. In reviewing and assessing the Board diversity, a number of
aspects and factors will be considered, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and industry and
regional experience.

3. The Nomination Committee will discuss and where necessary,
agree on the measurable objectives for achieving diversity on
the Board and make recommendation to the Board for
adoption.

4. The Nomination Committee will assess regularly the diversity
profile of the Board and the progress on achieving diversity
objectives, if any.

5. The Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity

Policy as appropriate and recommend revisions, if any, to the
Board for consideration and approval.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Nomination Committee (Continued)

Director Nomination Policy

1.

The Board has adopted the Director Nomination Policy in order
to (i) set out the criteria and process in the nomination and
appointment of directors of the Company; (ii) ensure that the
Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the Company; and (iii) ensure the
Board continuity and appropriate leadership at Board level.

In evaluating and selecting any candidate for directorship, the
following criteria should be considered:

o Character and integrity.

. Quialifications including professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge and experience that are relevant to the
Company’s business and corporate strategy.

o Any measurable objectives adopted for achieving diversity
on the Board.

o Independency.

J Any potential contributions the candidate can bring to the
Board.

o Willingness and ability to devote adequate time to
discharge duties as a director.

o Such other perspectives that are appropriate to the
Company’s business, succession plan, etc.

In identifying and selecting suitable candidates for directorships,
the Nomination Committee will evaluate the candidates based
on the prescribed criteria, rank them by order of preference
based on the needs of the Company and reference check of
each candidate (where applicable) and recommend to the Board
to appoint the appropriate candidate for directorship, as
applicable.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
EREREE (B)

BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Nomination Committee (Continued)

Director Nomination Policy (Continued)

4.

For re-election of retiring director, the Nomination Committee
will review the overall contribution and service to the Company
of the retiring director and the level of participation and
performance on the Board, determine whether the retiring
director continues to meet the prescribed criteria and make
recommendation to shareholders in respect of the proposed
re-election of director at the general meeting.

The Nomination Committee will review regularly the nomination
procedures and the process and criteria adopted for selection
and where appropriate, make recommendations on changes to
the Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy
and business needs.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in the
code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code.

The Board reviewed the Company’s corporate governance policies
and practices, training and CPD of the Directors and the senior
management, the Company’s policies and practices on compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements, the compliance of the Model
Code and Employee Written Guidelines, and the Company’s
compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in this Corporate
Governance Report.
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ATTENDANCE RECORDS OF DIRECTORS

The attendance record of each Director at the Board, the Board
Committee meetings and the general meeting of the Company held
during the year ended 31st December, 2021 is set out in the table
below:

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
EXREREE (B)
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Attendance/Number of Meetings

HE/&E¥E

Audit Remuneration Nomination Annual General
Name of Director Board Committee Committee Committee Meeting
x4 - ENZER FMzEe REZEE® KRRBEFKE
Hui Sum Ping HHRFE 4/4 N/AT i N/ATNE R N/ATN 8 F 11
Hui Sum Tai FRE 4/4 N/AT i F N/AT @A N/ATER 1/1
Hui Yuen Li" AU 212 N/AT 8 F 1/1 1/1 1/1
Chee Man Sang, Eric R4 4/4 4/4 11 17 I
Wong Chu Leung =S 4/4 4/4 11 il il
Chau Suk Ming =R 4/4 4/4 1 1 7
1. Ms. Hui Yuen Li resigned as an Executive Director, a member of the 1. A LT ER—_E-—F N\ A= HETHT

Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee on 3rd August, EE BREEeRFHNEESSKERK -

2021.

Apart from regular Board meetings, the Chairman also held meetings
with the Independent Non-executive Directors without the presence
of Executive Directors during the year ended 31st December, 2021.

Independent Non-executive Directors have attended the annual
general meeting to gain and develop a balanced understanding of
the view of shareholders.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the risk management
and internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness. Such
systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of
failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement
or loss.

The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and
determining the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in
achieving the Company’s strategic objectives, and establishing and
maintaining appropriate and effective risk management and internal
control systems.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
EEERME (&)

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

(Continued)

The Audit Committee assists the Board in leading the management
and overseeing their design, implementation and monitoring of the
risk management and internal control systems.

The Company has developed and adopted various risk management
procedures and guidelines with defined authority for implementation
by key business processes and office functions including project
management, sales and leasing, financial reporting, human resources
and information technology.

All divisions/departments conduct internal control assessment
regularly to identify risks that potentially impact the business of the
Group and various aspects including key operational and financial
processes, regulatory compliance and information security.
Self-evaluation has been conducted annually to confirm that control
policies are properly complied with by each division/department.

The management, in coordination with division/department heads,
assesses the likelihood of risk occurrence, provides treatment plans,
and monitors the risk management progress, and has reported to the
Audit Committee and the Board on all findings and the effectiveness
of the systems.

The management has reported to the Board and the Audit
Committee on the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems for the year ended 31st December, 2021.

The Internal Audit Department is responsible for performing
independent review of the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems. The Internal Audit
Department examined key issues in relation to the accounting
practices and all material controls and provided its findings and
recommendations for improvement to the Audit Committee.

The Board, as supported by the Audit Committee as well as the
management report, reviewed the risk management and internal
control systems, including the financial, operational and compliance
controls, for the year ended 31st December, 2021, and considered
that such systems are effective and adequate. The annual review also
covered the financial reporting and internal audit function and staff
qualifications, experiences and relevant resources.

The Company has developed its disclosure policy which provides a
general guide to the Company’s Directors, senior management and
relevant employees in handling confidential information, monitoring
information disclosure and responding to enquiries. Control
procedures have been implemented to ensure that unauthorized
access and use of inside information are strictly prohibited.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILTY IN RESPECT OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledged their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31st
December, 2021.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement of the independent auditor of the Company about
their reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is set out
in the “Independent Auditor’s Report” on pages 67 to 72.

AUDITOR'S REMUNERATION

An analysis of the remuneration payable/paid to the external auditor
of the Group, Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu and its member
firms, in respect of audit services and non-audit services for the year
ended 31st December, 2021 is set out below:
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Service Category PR 7 48 5Bl BN ENER
HK$
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Audit Services 2= 1% R 7 2,120,000
Non-audit Services IEEIZ RS 20,000
2,140,000

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The Company engages with shareholders through various
communication channels.

To safeguard shareholders’ interests and rights, separate resolution
should be proposed for each substantially separate issue at general
meetings, including the election of individual Director. All resolutions
put forward at general meetings will be voted on by poll pursuant to
the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on the websites of
the Company and of the Stock Exchange after each general meeting.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
CEERRE (A)

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (continued)

Convening an Extraordinary General Meeting by
Shareholders

Under Article 58 of the Company’s Articles of Association, any one
or more shareholders holding at the date of the deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the
Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company may at all times have the right, by written requisition to
the Board or the company secretary of the Company, to require the
convening of an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the
Board for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition;
and such meeting shall be held within 2 months after the deposit of
such requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit the Board fails to
proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of
the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the
Company.

Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

The Board is not aware of any provisions allowing the shareholders
of the Company to put forward proposals at general meetings of the
Company under the Company’s Articles of Association and the
Cayman lIslands Companies Law. Shareholders who wish to put
forward proposals at general meeting may refer to the preceding
paragraph to make a written requisition to require the convening of
an extraordinary general meeting of the Company.

Detailed procedures for shareholders to propose a person for election
as a Director of the Company are published on the Company’s
website.

Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board of the Company,
shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company.

Note: The Company will not normally deal with verbal or anonymous enquiries.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (continued)

Contact Details

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as mentioned
above to the following:

Address: Workshops E, F and H, 22nd Floor

Superluck Industrial Centre (Phase 2)

No. 57 Sha Tsui Road and

Nos. 30-38 Tai Chung Road, Tsuen Wan

New Territories

Hong Kong

(For the attention of the Chief Executive Officer/
Company Secretary)

Fax: (852) 2414 5508

Email: hopfung@hopfunggroup.com

For the avoidance of doubt, shareholders must deposit and send the
original duly signed written requisition, notice or statement, or
enquiry (as the case may be) to the above address and provide their
full name, contact details and identification in order to give effect
thereto. Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as required by
law.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with
shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and investor
understanding of the Group’s business performance and strategies.
The Company endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with
shareholders and in particular, through annual general meetings and
other general meetings.

The Chairman of the Board, all the Independent Non-executive
Directors, and the chairmen of all Board committees (or their
delegates) will make themselves available at the annual general
meetings to meet shareholders and answer their enquiries.

During the year ended 31st December, 2021, there was no significant
change in the Company’s constitutional documents and these
documents are available on the websites of the Company and of the
Stock Exchange.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
EREREE (B)

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS (continued)

Dividend Policy

The Board has adopted a dividend policy pursuant to code provision
E.1.5 of the CG Code which aims at setting out the principles and
guidelines that the Company intends to apply in relation to the
declaration, payment or distribution of its net profits as dividends to
the shareholders of the Company as follows:

o In recommending or declaring dividends, the Company shall
maintain adequate cash reserves for meeting its working capital
requirements and future growth as well as its shareholder
value.

o The Company does not have any pre-determined dividend
payout ratio.

o The Board has the discretion to declare and distribute dividends
to the shareholders of the Company, subject to the Articles of
Association of the Company and all applicable laws and
regulations and the factors set out below.

o The Board shall also take into account the following factors of
the Group when considering the declaration and payment of
dividends:

financial results;

cash flow situation;

business conditions and strategies;

future operations and earnings;

capital requirements and expenditure plans;

interests of shareholders;

any restrictions on payment of dividends; and

any other factors that the Board may consider relevant.

O O O O 0O O O O
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND

INVESTOR RELATIONS (continued)

Dividend Policy (Continued)

o Depending on the financial conditions of the Company and the
Group and the conditions and factors as set out above,
dividends may be proposed and/or declared by the Board for a

financial year or period:

interim dividend,
final dividend;
special dividend; and

O O O O

appropriate.

o Any final dividend for a financial year will be subject to

shareholders’ approval.

o The Company may declare and pay dividends by way of cash or
scrip or by other means that the Board considers appropriate.

o Any dividend unclaimed shall be forfeited and shall revert to
the Company in accordance with the Company’s Articles of

Association.

any distribution of net profits that the Board may deem
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SCOPE

The reporting period for this Environmental, Social and
Governance report of the Group is from 1st January, 2021 to
31st December, 2021. It includes the operations of the Hong
Kong Office (“Hong Kong Office”) and the factory and office of
Green Forest (QingXin) Paper Industrial Limited (the “Qingyuan
Factory”) of the Group. The business of the Qingyuan Factory
includes production and selling of containerboard (corrugating
medium and linerboard) and corrugated packaging products
(corrugated paper boards and carton boxes). This report is
prepared in accordance with the Environmental, Social and
Governance Reporting Guide contained in Appendix 27 of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited.

COMMUNICATION WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Company’s annual general meeting and/or other general
meetings (if any) have provided an effective platform for the
Board of Directors and shareholders to exchange insights. Apart
from general meetings, in order to maintain a close relationship
with the stakeholders, such as clients and suppliers, the
Company would seek the opinions and understand the needs of
the stakeholders through visits, telephone conferences, e-mails,
follow-ups from customer service, questionnaires and other
ways on a regular basis. The Group’s overall performance would
also be reported to the investors through this annual report.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE PERFORMANCE

3.1 Environment

The Group endeavors to minimize energy consumption
through its operation, reduce greenhouse gas emissions
and waste emission in order to minimize its impact on the
environment. The Group strengthens its management in
energy conservation and emission reduction and infiltrated
such practices into its various operations.
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3.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE PERFORMANCE (continued)

3.1 Environment (Continued)

3.1.1 Emissions

Non-Hazardous Waste Minimization

Minimizing waste generation from its source and,
reusing and recycling waste before disposal are the
principles addressed by the Group’s waste
management policy.

As for waste control, in order to minimize
environmental impact, the Group devotes itself to
reducing waste. The Qingyuan factory has
established a set of fixed control procedures for
wastes, and has required each department to assort
wastes for collection and store any wastes
generated. The recycled wastes including scrap
metal, scrap pallets, scrap powder bag and waste
plastic barrel are collected and reprocessed by
qualified licensed collectors. In addition, the factory
has collected coal ash from boilers, providing it to
cement and brick factories as raw material to reduce
non-hazardous wastes.

Hazardous Waste Minimization

In dealing with hazardous wastes, monitoring of the
use of chemicals is of utmost importance to the
Group. The Qingyuan factory has established a set
of monitoring procedures for the use of hazardous
chemicals. The purchase of hazardous chemicals
should be based on the actual needs of production
orders. They should be delivered in batches to
prevent over-buying, which will lead to backlogs of
inventory. The number of purchases of hazardous
chemicals in 2021 was at approximately the same
level as in 2020.

The Group has strictly implemented the “Cleaner
Production Promotion Law"” of the People’s Republic
of China and the relevant provisions which increase
the efficiency of the utilization rate of resources,
reduce and avoid the generation of pollutants and
protect and improve the environment. In the
procurement of raw materials, non-toxic, harmless
and environmentally friendly materials should be
selected to minimize the generation of hazardous
waste.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
BRE #HERERRS (H)

3.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE PERFORMANCE (continued)

3.1 Environment (Continued)

3.1.1 Emissions (Continued)

The Group has demonstrated the following results in
the reporting period through the implementation of
the aforementioned policies and measures for waste
reduction:

Figure |

3.

BE HEREARAXRE @

3.1 BE #)
3115 ()

FBBE M LR D RBEEYE
BRRER  SERTHRE
HIME T IIER

B —

Total Annual Emissions (tonnes)

FEAHKRE (M)
2021 2020
Types of Wastes BEYESR —E-—F —EETF
Hazardous Waste BERBEED 2 3
Non-hazardous Waste mEEED —* 242
Waste Intensity per Employee
(tonnes/person)
THENEEMEL
BEYZRE (W, A)
2021 2020
Types of Wastes BEYNES —EZ—F —T-THF
Hazardous Waste BEEZEWD 0.01 0.01
Non-hazardous Waste EEREEY) —* 0.43
* In 2021, due to the policy of suspending the import of * TE—FEHEREREL
waste paper, no waste was generated . HEOBEE AWBSEESE
THEREY -
Reduction in Atmospheric Emissions LK S BE)

The main source of gas emissions for the Group
comes from the boilers which mainly consist of soot,
sulfur dioxide and nitrogen oxide. In the meantime,
the Group utilized a variety of technologies to
control the gas emissions: exhaust gas from boiler
combustion is passed to the Wet Flue Gas Spray
Tower for magnesium desulfurization to minimize
the sulfur dioxide in the flue gas; SNCR
denitrification technology is adopted to minimize
nitrogen oxide; and the soot from flue gas is
minimized through bag filters.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
BRE #ERERRS (H)

3. ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND 3. BE HEREARAXE @

GOVERNANCE PERFORMANCE (continued)

3.1 ®BIE (#@)
3115 ()

3.1 Environment (Continued)

3.1.1 Emissions (Continued)

Reduction in Atmospheric Emissions
(Continued)

Through these measures, the Group ensures that
atmospheric emission controls meet the national
emissions requirements.

Reduction Emission of Greenhouse Gases
(IIGHGII)

Reduction of Business Trips

The Group understands that business trips increase
energy consumption and lead to an increase in GHG
emissions. The group uses other effective means of
communication to reduce GHG emissions that arise
from additional traffic, including using phone and/or
video conferencing, and encouraging employees to
use public transport.

During the reporting period, business travel was
suspended due to the pandemic. The Group uses
telephone and video conferencing instead.

Procurement from Local Suppliers

Under the same business conditions (e.g. cost,
quality, technology and services, environmental and
other factors), the Group would give priority to local
suppliers to reduce delivery distance and its resulting
carbon emissions.

Control of Indoor Air Quality

Smoking is prohibited in the Qingyuan factory and
the offices to maintain good air quality. The Hong
Kong office has been equipped with air freshening
machine and ventilation system to improve air
quality.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
BRE #HERERRS (H)

3. ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND 3. BE HEREARAXE @

GOVERNANCE PERFORMANCE (continued)
3.1 BB ()

3115 ()
LB EmE([EFER
B2 ) B (&)
RIRE R EERE
WHREBIBREER TE

3.1 Environment (Continued)

3.1.1 Emissions (Continued)

Reduction Emission of Greenhouse Gases
(“GHG”) (Continued)

During the reporting period, the Group has strictly
complied with the relevant environmental protection
regulations and no violation of environmental BRIEWRAED - A FTE £
protection regulations was found. The sources and h RS ) AR R FE R E B
emission volumes of GHG generated during the ™

period were as follows:

Figure Il B =
Amount
HE
2021 2020
GHG Emissions Sources BER SRR —E-- —ZEZFF
Diesel fuel consumption from KA BT RS ERE (FH)
stationary sources (litres) 142,212 154,578
Gasoline consumption from KERBIRE D HERE (FH)
mobile sources (litres) 13,977 19,422
Business travel by passenger REZER(RNE)
(km) - 3,708
Coal consumption from R B E R B RO8 FE ()
stationary sources (tonnes) 36,868 100,750
Diesel oil consumption from RERBRRSEHERE (FH)
mobile sources (litres) 2,774 3,521
Electricity consumption by REREE (TRE)
facilities (kWh) 52,138 54,813
Total GHG emissions (tonnes BERBHRESE
carbon dioxide equivalent (M-St EE
("tCO,e")) (M —&femzEE])) 72,300 174,199
GHG emission intensity per FHEBMRBEMELERE
employee (tCO,e/person) REBHEWREE
(W& bixE 2 A) 148 311

3.1.2 Use of Resources 31 28R (EH

The Group’s business belongs to green industry.
Thus considerable attention is paid to environmental
protection to ensure reasonable and efficient use of
energy and resources.
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3.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE PERFORMANCE (continued)

3.1 Environment (Continued)

3.1.2 Use of Resources (Continued)

Energy Conservation Measure

Basically, the Group is only equipped with low-
power electrical equipment with less power
consumption to reduce carbon emission. In the
procurement process of electrical appliances, priority
is given to energy-saving products such as
refrigerators and washing machines which had grade
1 label of energy-saving logos.

Gradually all light bulbs have been replaced by LED
luminaires to reduce energy consumption. They also
reduce the generation of harmful waste by replacing
traditional luminaires with shorter life cycle.
According to the energy saving policies, lighting
devices, air-conditioners and printers are temporarily
switched off during lunch time to preserve energy.

Furthermore, the air-conditioning system has been
set to operate only during business hours with
temperature maintained at a reasonable level (e.g.
25 degrees Celsius). Energy consumption in 2021
was at approximately the same level as in 2020.
Apart from facility control, energy-saving slogans
have been posted at office entrances.

Water Conservation Measure

With regard to the use of water resources, the
Group has carried out regular inspection to reduce
water consumption. At the same time it formulates
monitoring control whereby abnormal water
consumption will be investigated. Water
conservation slogans are also posted to raise
employee awareness of water conservation and to
remind employees and visitors to conserve water.

3.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
BR -HERERES (B)

3.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE PERFORMANCE (continued)

3.1 Environment (Continued)

3.1.2 Use of Resources (Continued)

Water Conservation Measure (Continued)

In the process of manufacturing containerboard, lots
of wastes and useful fibers would be extracted from
waste paper. Parts of the useful fibers would be
retained in water (“White Water”). The Group has
adopted the reuse of White Water at the Qingyuan
Factory. After processing through the White Water
recycling system, wastewater reaching the standards
would be returned to the production lines for use in
order to minimize wastewater generation and water
consumption. Moreover, it has also been equipped
with effective wastewater treatment technique,
anaerobic digestion. With this facility and
technology, the Group has greatly reduced water
consumption and hazardous substance in the
wastewater. The thermal power station has been
equipped with cooling system so that condensed
water could be recycled for the boiler use.
Technological upgrade to the facilities has increased
the rate of reusing water and reduced the volume of
wastewater emission.

Office Resource Conservation

The Group actively promotes electronic
documentation to implement the concept of a
paperless office. Computer files are used instead of
hardcopies to reduce the use of paper in offices. The
Group also encourages employees to adopt other
recognized management practices to avoid excessive
use of resources by the Hong Kong and Qingyuan
offices such as (1) re-usable eating utensils instead
of disposable ones, (2) using single-side printed
paper as draft paper, (3) encouraging double-side
printing, (4) collecting waste office paper for
recycling, and (5) collecting and returning empty ink
cartridges to the qualified licence suppliers for
recycling. Concurrently, those scrap paper and
confidential documents must be shredded and
stored at the recycling station, and finally passed to
the qualified licence recyclers on a regular basis.
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3.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
BRE #ERERRS (H)

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND 3. RE -#HE8RERKRR @
GOVERNANCE PERFORMANCE (continued)
3.1 Environment (Continued) 3.1 RIE (@)
3.1.2 Use of Resources (Continued) 31 2EG & (&)
During the reporting period, the key resources consumed RmEHE  SEEBER
in the Group’s operations were summarized as follows: WEZERBAMNT -
Figure llI B =

Total Annual Consumption

FEHAEREE
2021 2020
Resources = —E-—F ZEFF
Electricity (kWh) BN (TR 52,138 54,813
Water (cubic metre) K (SZFK) 500,733 1,948,043
Packaging materials (plastic) sBEYE (BR) (BE)
(tonne) 6 17
Packaging materials (others) YR (Hia) (B8)
(tonne) 166 532
Figure IV pq
Consumption Intensity
per employee
BlUEESEERE
2021 2020
Resources BiR —E-—F ZEZFF
Electricity (kWh/person) (Note 1) &3 (FE&A) (KI7E1) 106.62 98.06
Water (cubic metre/person) K(SZHKN) 1,023.99 3,484.87
Packaging materials (plastic) BEWE (BE) (8, A)
(tonne/person) 0.01 0.03
Packaging materials (others) B (Hf) (B A)
(tonne/person) 0.34 0.95
Note: et -
1. The data of electricity consumption only refers to the 1. NEZEHERETIRIN
volume of purchases from outsiders. The Group mainly BENHE ~NEEFE
generates electricity from coal (refer to Figure II) RERRER(B2EE D)

SEEEERBRAR o T —FFR
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
BR -HERERES (B)

3.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE PERFORMANCE (continued)

3.1 Environment (Continued)

3.1.3 The Environment and Natural Resources

The Group understands the concerns of our society
on environmental issues; thus, it has implemented
the following green manufacturing and green
procurement policies:

Green Procurement Policy

In Qingyuan factory, as the main material for
production is recycled waste paper, it should be
non-toxic and non-hazardous. The Group requires
suppliers to provide a Restriction of Hazardous
Substances (ROHS) test report annually to ensure
that their products meet the environmental
protection requirement.

Green Manufacturing Policy

The Group is committed to reducing its impact on
the environment and natural resources. The
Qingyuan factory has been accredited with ISO
14001 certification for its environmental
management system, and continuously improves its
management of the environment. Various exhausts,
wastewater, solid wastes and noises from the
production sites have been strictly controlled by
government laws and regulations.

In addition, Qingyuan factory has set up a safety and
environmental incident emergency rescue team for
safety and environmental incident issue, and has
conducted different emergency drills. It has also
established contingency plans with corresponding
emergency preparations and responses dealing with
emergency to cope with various urgent
environmental safety incidents. Furthermore, in
delivering or storing hazardous solid wastes, it has
strictly complied with the requirements of the
“Standard for Pollution Control on Hazardous Waste
Storage” published by the government and relevant
administrative measures on hazardous waste transfer
to prevent pollution.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
BRE #ERERRS (H)

3. ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND 3. BE HEREARAXE @

GOVERNANCE PERFORMANCE (continued)
3.1 BE #)
313 RERBAENR (&)

3.1 Environment (Continued)

3.1.3 The Environment and Natural Resources

(Continued)

Green manufacturing Policy (Continued)

Concurrently, the Group is also equipped with
specialized facilities for wastewater treatment. And
it has also established clear pollutant treatments and
operating instructions which monitor the facilities on
real-time basis and record the results in detail.

The Group would carry out regular inspections on
the key pollution control facilities to ensure its
normal operation. According to the provisions of the
Law of Environmental Protection of the People s
Republic of China, the Group makes environmental
impact assessment on construction projects in the
Qingyuan factory and strictly complies with
government emission regulations. All pollutants after
processing have been discharged in standards.

Apart from complying with the local employment
regulations, the Group has formulated relevant
employment policies to ensure employees are
treated in a fair and reasonable manner.

Recruitment and Promotion

The Group ensures that the recruitment process is in
compliance with the legislation and free from
discrimination. All candidates have been treated
equally. During recruitment, it has been stipulated to
prohibit discrimination against factors such as race,
ethnicity, social class, nation, religion, disability,
gender, sexual orientation, marital status, age,
membership in trade union or political party.
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ENVIRONMENTAL,
BE HERE

SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
S ER A (4
BE®E (&)

3. ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE PERFORMANCE (continued)

3.2 Society (Continued)

3.2.1

Employment (Continued)

Recruitment and Promotion (Continued)

Employees would be promoted in accordance with
the Group's rules and regulations, through fair and
impartial performance appraisal, to ensure equal
opportunities for promotion.

Compensation and Welfare

The Group pays compensation and welfare to
employees in strict compliance with relevant laws
and regulations, including the statutory minimum
wages, legal calculation for overtime compensation,
social insurance paid for employees, statutory
holidays, paid annual leave and paid maternal leave.

In addition, whenever compensation to the employee
at work is required, the Group would implement in
strict compliance with the relevant laws and
regulations.

Employee Benefits

Employees would be entitled to insurance, medical
benefits, share options as well as discretionary
bonus. The Group offers holiday benefits to
employees.

During the reporting period, the Group did not make
any legal violation or discrimination.
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3.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
R -HERERARE (&)

GOVERNANCE PERFORMANCE (continued)

3.2 Society (Continued)

3.2.1 Employment (Continued)

As of 31st December, 2021, the total number and

3.

3.2 g W
32.11EFE (&)

BE HEREARAXRE @

RZEZ—F+=ZA=+—

distribution of employees were summarized as H EEBHE L HBERE

below: T

Figure V E&x

Number of Employees
EEHHE
2021 2020

Gender % 51 —EZ—F —T-FTHF
Male Sn 390 450
Female pegc3 99 109
Employment Type EEER
Full Time 2B 489 559
Part Time E 3 0 0
Age group FHRdE R
18-24 18224 21 27
25-34 25%34 125 174
35-44 35244 146 165
45-54 45254 148 153
55-64 55264 47 36
>65 >65 2 4
Total F 489 559

AUKEERERART o
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
BRE #HERERRS (H)

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE PERFORMANCE (continued)

3.2 Society (Continued)

3.2.1 Employment (Continued)

3.

BE HEREARAXRE @

3.2 g @)
32.11E1E (&)

The Group has implemented an occupational health
and safety management system which takes
different measures to minimize the occurrence of
occupational illness and industrial injury.

Occupational Health and Safety Policy

The Group has formulated a set of safety production
management, including first-aid and self-help
knowledge after the occurrence of an accident. In
the Qingyuan factory, it has set up a safety team
and provided three levels of safety training on
regular basis namely Factory Level, Departmental
Level and Group Level which are led by the
departmental heads and safety officers.
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Figure VI &<
Average Monthly Employee
Turnover Rate (%)
AHEERKE(%)
Average

FHE
2021 2020
Gender % 51 —E-—F —ET-FF
Male B 3.38 2.30
Female pegis 2.95 1.83

Average

FHE
2021 2020
Age group F R 4E Bl —E-—F —EETF
18-24 18%24 10.71 7.72
25-34 25834 5.4 2.83
35-44 35544 3.14 2.32
45-54 45%54 1.41 0.93
55-64 55%64 0.35 0.23
>65 >65 12.5 0
Overall Average BRI 3.29 2.21
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
BRE #ERERRS (H)

3. ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND 3. BE HEREARAXE @
GOVERNANCE PERFORMANCE (Continued)

3.2 g @)
322FHELT T (£)

3.2 Society (Continued)

3.2.2 Health and Safety (Continued)

Occupational Health and Safety Policy
(Continued)

The Qingyuan Factory is equipped with a fire engine
for safety purpose. Apart from this, the Group also
installs CCTV in various locations such as warehouse,
materials storage to reduce the risk from any
accident.

Workplace Safety Management

The Group has assessed safety risks in the
workplaces and has formulated corresponding
operating rules to manage the health and safety
hazards posed to employees as follows:

1. Operating procedures are set up for all level
positions, for example, regulations of
operations management for safe work in
confined space and the procedures for
operating machinery to protect the safety of
employees;

2. Safety officers would regularly inspect fire
protection facilities and safety facilities to
ensure they can function properly;

3. Protective equipment is provided to employees
such as masks, earplugs, plastic gloves and
anti-smashing shoes;

4.  Emergency exits are kept clear to prevent
obstruction.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
BRE #HERERRS (H)

3.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE PERFORMANCE (continued)

3.2 Society (Continued)

3.2.2 Health and Safety (Continued)

Employee Safety Training

The Group provides suitable training to ensure
effective implementation of operating rules and safe
operation of equipment. Moreover, all new
employees must take training in knowledge of
safety. The Group also arranges fire and emergency
drills in the Qingyuan Factory on a regular basis to
ensure employees are familiar with procedures when
dealing with accidents.

Work-life Balance Management

The Group emphasizes on employee work-life
balance and has regularly organized different
activities for employees after work. There are
recreational facilities in Qingyuan factory like sports
ground, gardens, billiard room, table tennis room
and karaoke room.

During the reporting period, 12 working hours were
lost due to work injuries and no work- related
fatality was identified. We have strictly abided by the
related safety regulations and there were no cases
of prosecution due to violation of related
occupational safety regulations.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
BRE #ERERRS (H)

3. ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND 3. RE -HEREARRR @
GOVERNANCE PERFORMANCE (continued)
3.2 Society (Continued) 3.2 g @
3.2.3 Development and Training 3.2.3% & K155

Career Development Policy B R ERIKE
The Group has established comprehensive training EEEY TREIRBRES
system that covers factory’s rules and regulations, EERIE®E RERER
product workmanship, environmental protection and HEZ2EFI R EE18E
the relevant safety training. In addition, the Group Rolpih EERFEFE
emphasizes practical experiences and thus arranges TEZHEEREEA  NEA
team leaders, group leaders or experienced BARKREENETIET
employees to guide new recruits in their work. TERIEEET -
During the reporting period, the total number of RIEBME - 2510k
employees attended training and the total number BREREESTHRIZINE
of training hours provided to employees were Rt T

summarized as follows:
Figure VII +

Total number of
trained employees

SmMEINESHAR

2021 2020
Gender % 51 —E-—F —E-EF
Male B 67 389
Female peglia 13 78
Employee Category EERE
Senior Management EAE R 2 2
Middle Management FEER 2 5
Supervisor FE 5 4
General Staff —RET 71 456

AN
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
BRE #HERERRS (H)

3. ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND 3. B -HERERRA W
GOVERNANCE PERFORMANCE (continued)
3.2 Society (Continued) 3.2 8 @)
3.2.3 Development and Training (Continued) 3.2 3% F# RIFH (&)
Career Development Policy (Continued) BEFRERBE (&)
Figure VIII BN

Total number of training hours
completed by employees (Hours)

18 8 52 A 35 91 O A8 B 3 (/)N B

2021 2020
Gender % 51 —EB=—F —E-%
Male B 347 742
Female % 88 354
Employee Category EBESE
Senior Management =ARER 26 67
Middle Management FEEE 15 147
Supervisor FE 110 84
General Staff —RET 284 798
During the reporting period, the total number of RIREESME - SE2mE
employees attended training was 80 and the total HIEEBEASVEREEE
number of training hours provided to employees was 8 58 A HY 15 5l 48 I B 435
435, The average training hours for each employee N o BB B SRR H) T 15

|\P

| 5 B4 /35,447 N o

were around 5.44 hours.

he]
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
BRE #ERERRS (H)

3. ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND 3. RE -#HE8RERKRR @
GOVERNANCE PERFORMANCE (continued)
3.2 Society (Continued) 3.2 €@
3.2.4 Labour Standards 3244 T#A|
The Group strictly prohibits the employment of child EEBREEILEAEL  #
labour and only employs individuals aged 18 or BRAFEREISRI A LA

above. The Group also ensures no forced labour
occurs.

During the reporting period, there was no reported
case of child labour or forced labour.

3.2.5 Supply Chain Management

Supplier’s Code of Conduct

The Group has developed various codes of conduct
which are communicated to suppliers of the Group,
to assure product quality. Prohibition on waste paper
being mixed with hazardous wastes would minimize
the impact on environment.

In addition, the Group has established a set of code
of practices in selecting suppliers. After evaluation of
factors such as product quality, price, environmental
protection and social responsibility performance, the
suppliers with the highest performance-to-price ratio
and the best overall performance would be selected.
Besides, the Group has also established evaluation
system for evaluation beyond commercial interest.
The system evaluates qualification of new suppliers
and performance of existing key suppliers on regular
basis. Evaluations are carried out in the form of
on-site audits and/or document reviews on
qualification and compliance.

B SEERRIAELRD
BITHBER -

SENHREARNALRHRAE
AIETHBHETHBER -

325w E

HIER T2 TA
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BTRAIAEREREER - &
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
BRE #HERERRS (H)

3. ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND 3. BE HEREARAXE @

GOVERNANCE PERFORMANCE (Continued)
3.2 g @)
325 T (&)

RZEBEZ—F+=ZA=+—
B SEEEFNMIES M
T

3.2 Society (Continued)

3.2.5 Supply Chain Management (Continued)

As of 31st December, 2021, the geographical
distribution of the Group’s suppliers was as follows:

Figure IX B h

Number of Suppliers

For assuring product safety, the finished products
must pass the final inspection and testing before
releasing to the market.
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HEFHA
2021 2020
Geographical location WIEN B —E-—F —ZEEF
PRC 1 187 226
Others Hih 15 33
Total &t 202 259
3.2.6 Product Responsibility 326 EmEIF
Quality Assurance Policy EBEEREKE
The Group has stringent criteria in monitoring SEEETAEREPER
production process. The quality of semi-finished & EVIR2E o ¥ o K m %
products and finished products are examined. BRI mERE -t &
Moreover, the Group ensures workers to operate ERRIATEEREFRE
carefully during the production process to avoid BHIEE URBTIREGDM
defective products being delivered to the market. s e
Product Safety Policy EmZEHE

ny%m%ﬂﬂi(i ’ BZ DE/
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3.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE PERFORMANCE (continued)

3.2 Society (Continued)

3.2.6 Product Responsibility (Continued)

Fair Marketing Policy

The Group’s salespersons are required to disseminate
information on the recognized competitive
advantage only when promoting the products.
Negative description of competitors is not allowed
so as to avoid misleading customers.

After-sales Service Policy

Customer service officers and salespersons would
make after-sales visits to customers on a regular
basis. The Group would obtain comments for
improvement according to results of customer’s
satisfaction survey and would follow up after-sales
issues immediately. If there are severe product
quality issues, the Group would recall the defective
products from the market.

During the reporting year, the Group received 43
(2020: 33) complaints in relation to product quality.

Privacy Protection of Consumer’s Information

Personal information of customers would properly
be maintained by the Group. Relevant information
has been stored at the internal specific department.
Moreover, customer information can only be
accessed by the authorized personnel. No one is
allowed to make own copies of or store privately or
get the customer information out of the offices
without permission.

The Group has strictly abided by relevant
regulations, and no violation of product
responsibility or privacy was found during the
reporting period.

3.

RE -HERER

BRE HERERES (K)
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
BRE #HERERRS (H)

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE PERFORMANCE (continued)

3.2 Society (Continued)

3.2.7 Anti-corruption

Corporate Governance

The Board of Directors has set up different
committees, such as audit committee, nomination
committee and remuneration committee, striving to
maintain high standards of corporate governance to
safeguard shareholders rights and interests, as well
as the Group’s value and accountability.

Whistle-blowing Policy

The Group has supervised the behavior of operating
personnel in order to safeguard employees’ legal
rights and corporate interests. In addition, the Group
welcomes employees to report any non-compliance
and dishonest behavior. The privacy of relevant
employees who report the issues would be
protected.

Financial Auditing

The Group engages Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as
the independent third-party auditor to audit the
Group’s financial accounts. This ensures that the
Group's accounts are clear and accurate, and the
interests of shareholders are protected.

Declaration on Conflict of Interest

The Group stipulates that all employees must declare
the conflict of interests. Directors and senior
management are prohibited to transact any
securities of the Group during sensitive periods.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
BRE #ERERRS (H)

3. ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND 3. B -#HEREBRREmW
GOVERNANCE PERFORMANCE (continued)
3.2 Society (Continued) 3.2 g @
3.2.7 Anti-corruption (Continued) 327 RET (&)
Prevention of Corruption, Extortion and i E)T - B1R RAGF
Fraud
The Group has established comprehensive system for EEREY TE2HES R
internal control and formulated a set of strict Bz AT —EBRNEK
policies, which prevent malpractices and unethical w I EEN T EENE
business practices, and also avoid the occurrence of A W IFESMEM
corruption and other fraudulent behaviours. (T AR B o
The Group has strictly complied with the regulations EEBBR BT EEE
on anti-corruption. No violations of any provisions {7 - 3R HA P I 4 A
were found in the reporting period. HF o
3.2.8 Community Investment 328 BIRE
The Group has actively participated in the EELBEHELEMDEEY
community including donating funds and materials SEEh o miET RS REY
to charitable organizations. BE|EEEE - JAEELE -
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DIRECTORS'REPORT
EEEWSE

The Directors have pleasure in presenting their report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31st December, 2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 33 to the
consolidated financial statements.

A business review of the Group, with description of the principal risks
and uncertainties and the likely future development, are set out in
chairman’s statement, management discussion and analysis on pages
4 to 10, this directors’ report on pages 54 to 66, and in notes 4, 5,
28, 30 and 31 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31st December, 2021 are
set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on page 73.

The Directors did not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the year.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the years from 2017 to 2021 is set out on page 160.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment of

the Group during the year are set out in note 14 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the share capital of the Company are set out in note 23 to
the consolidated financial statements.
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SHARE PREMIUM AND RESERVES

Details of the movement in the share premium and reserves of the
Group during the year are set out in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity on page 75.

As at 31st December 2021, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution to shareholders amounted to HK$543,739,000 (2020:
HK$783,382,000), being the aggregation of share premium and
retained profits.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of
this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Hui Sum Ping, Chairman
Mr. Hui Sum Tai, Chief Executive Officer
Ms. Hui Yuen Li (Resigned on 3rd August, 2021)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chee Man Sang, Eric
Mr. Wong Chu Leung
Mr. Chau Suk Ming

In accordance with Article 87(1) of the Company’s Articles of
Association, Mr. Hui Sum Tai and Mr. Wong Chu Leung shall retire
from office by rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting of
the Company and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

Each of the Directors has entered into a service agreement with the
Company for a term of around two years up to 31st March, 2023,
which may be terminated by not less than three months’ notice in
writing served by either party.

Save as disclosed above, no Director proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company has a service
contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not
determinable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)
ESEHE (&)

DIRECTORS (Continued)

The Company has received, from the Independent Non-executive
Directors, annual confirmations of their independence pursuant to
the Listing Rules. The Company considers the Independent Non-

executive Directors are independent.

The biographical details of the Directors and senior management of
the Company are set out in Management Profile on pages 11 to 13.

SHARE OPTIONS

Particulars of the share option scheme of the Company are set out in

note 25 to the consolidated financial statements.

The following table discloses movements in the Company’s share

options during the year:

BEE @)

ARBCEEBYFRTESERELTR
AMEB Y M ER 2 FERRE -
R BAUFEMTEFHR/BIUAL -

KRAR

ARFEERBREREEEFBERRE

ZIB3EZEEERERE -

BRE

ANF 2 BB 2 HE BRSBTS R

FMIEE25 ©

TEEBAATDBERENENZ ST

Exercise  Outstanding Granted Exercised Cancelled  Outstanding
price per  at beginning during during during atend of
Category Option type Date of grant share  of the year the year the year the year the year
£ ERERR REES  BROEE FHHATHE Enkie e ERiE#  FREAGE
(Note) HKS
(Hr3t) B
Directors
£
Mr. Hui Sum Ping G 15.10.2018 0.435 3,984,000 - - - 3,984,000
FRTEE
Mr. Hui Sum Tai G 15.10.2018 0.435 3,984,000 - - - 3,984,000
FRELE
Ms. Hui Yuen Li (resigned with effect
from 3rd August, 2021) G 15.10.2018 0.435 3,984,000 - - (3,984,000) -
SRRt
(RZBZ-E/\A=REH)
Mr. Chee Man Sang, Eric G 15.10.2018 0.435 500,000 - - - 500,000
BERERE
Mr. Wong Chu Leung G 15.10.2018 0.435 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000
BREAE
13,452,000 - - (3984000) 9,468,000
Other employees G 15.10.2018 0435 8,168,000 - - - 8,168,000
HftfES
Total for all categories 21,620,000 - - (3,984,000 17,636,000

e:E b

HOP FUNG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED e Annual Report 2021



DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)
EEZERE (K)

N4
SHARE OPTIONS (Continued) B R (a0
Note: MfsT -
The vesting period of the share options granted is determined by Directors at each BEERE SRR EERN G AREBERERES
time when the options are granted. Holders of share options granted under the & o A QA GBS TEREZEAEZTRA T

Company’s share option scheme may only exercise their options during the  {FHITT{E 1 & 2 RS 4% -
exercisable periods as follows:

Granted under scheme

BB &R
Option type G Maximum % of share options exercisable
GEBERE ATEERECESEIL
1.5.2019-30.4.2020 up to 50%
R AES0%
1.5.2020-30.4.2021 up to 75% (to the extent not already exercised)
&= A E75% (AR KRITEERR)
1.5.2021-30.4.2026 up to 100% (to the extent not already exercised)

BEAE100% (ARKRITEERR)

As at 31st December, 2021, the total number of new shares which W-_Z-——®+-_A=+—H ' BEztz
might be issued upon exercise of the options that had been granted  #2H B 4R 4T{5 B BE R HESELT(F 14 A] gL 2517
and remained outstanding under the scheme was 17,636,000 new ¥ & ) 422 /&17,636,0000% * 15 &K 2 7 3%
shares, representing approximately 2.16% of the shares of the HEZ 21T H%2.16% °

Company in issue at that date.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)
ESEHE (&)

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31st December, 2021, the interests and short positions of the
Directors in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company and its associated corporations within the meaning of Part
XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO"), as recorded in
the register maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of
the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers, were as follows:

EERKRM - HEARORESZ 2
R 3¢

RZEZ—F+A=+—H EBRAEAQA
BREZFEHFLBEGA((EHRBEEL))
FIE 2T EGT 2B MATatir iR
BEMBETAZERTETESFZI ST ESTA
EMEARRARERAE  EFREARE R
HEREEE (TEREFEHFRBEBKRIEBEXVI)
2B ARG REFPER 2w A
BT

(a) Shares (a) R
Approximate
Company/ percentage
Name of associated Number and class of of issued
Name of Director corporation Capacity securities share capital
HERTRE
Espng ARFE/EBEEEE 54 HEEHARER BREDN
Mr. Hui Sum Ping Company Beneficial owner 130,512,681 shares 15.96%
Long position
ARYEE LN EnfAA 130,512,681/ iR {7
B
Mr. Hui Sum Ping Company Founder of a discretionary 107,755,400 shares 13.17%
trust/interest of controlled Long position (Note 1)
corporations
ARYEE VNG PREFELA/ 107,755,4008% i {5
XEEEES e (Ba1)
Mr. Hui Sum Ping Company Interest of spouse 19,754,000 shares 2.41%
Long position
ARYEE VNG REzEs 19,754,000 & 3
B
Mr. Hui Sum Tai Company Beneficial owner 150,556,430 shares 18.41%
Long position
ARELE NG EnfAA 150,556,4308% i {5
B
Mr. Hui Sum Tai Company Interest of spouse 5,110,000 shares 0.62%
Long position
ARELE VNG REzEs 5,110,0008% i 3
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

(Continued)

(a) Shares (Continued)

DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)
EEEHE (R)

EERKRM - HEARORESZ 2

RE (m)

(a) B3 @m

Approximate

Company/ percentage
Name of associated Number and class of of issued
Name of Director corporation Capacity securities share capital
HEBTRE
Esns AQR/HBEEER 56 EHHERER BREDN
Mr. Chee Man Sang, Eric ~ Company Beneficial owner 596,000 shares Long position 0.07%
BRERE /NG ERBEAA 596,000/ i% 3 1 &
Mr. Chau Suk Ming Company Beneficial owner 180,000 shares Long position 0.02%
JEMER % 4 /NG ERBEAA 180,000 i 7 47 &
Mr. Chau Suk Ming Company Interest of spouse 1,553,007 shares Long 0.18%
position
JEMER % VNG RBz#ER 1,553,007 i 7 4 &
Mr. Hui Sum Ping Gong Ming Hop Fung  Founder of a discretionary 3,000,000 non-voting 100%
Paper Ware Factory trust/interest of controlled deferred shares of HK$1
Limited (“Hop Fung corporations/short position each Long and short
GM™) of controlled corporations positions (Note 2)
ARTELE AHREHmE PREEREILAN/ 3,000,000 &R EE1ET
E1YNG XEEEER/ CERERETRIER
= YN REEEKE e (ME2)
Mr. Hui Sum Tai Hop Fung GM Short position of a controlled 3,000,000 non-voting 100%
corporation deferred shares of HK$1
each Long and short
positions (Note 2)
ARERE RENH XEEEKRRE 3,000,000f% &R EE1E T
CERERETRIER
e (ME2)
SEEEZERARAT o —E_—FFH

59



60

DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)
ESEHE (&)

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES
(Continued)

(a) Shares (Continued)

Notes:

1. The 107,755,400 shares are owned by Goldspeed Holdings Limited
("Goldspeed”). Goldspeed is wholly owned by Goldkeen Assets
Management Limited (“Goldkeen”) and Goldkeen is wholly owned by
HSBC International Trustee Limited (“HSBC") in its capacity as the
trustee of HSP 2004 Family Trust, a discretionary trust the founder of
which is Mr. Hui Sum Ping and the discretionary objects of which
include Mr. Hui Sum Ping and the family members of Mr. Hui Sum
Ping. Accordingly, Mr. Hui Sum Ping is deemed to be interested in the

107,755,400 shares under the SFO.

2. Hop Fung GM is a subsidiary of the Company and therefore an
associated corporation of the Company under the SFO. The entire
issued share capital of Hop Fung GM is HK$3,000,100 divided into
100 ordinary shares of HK$1 each and 3,000,000 non-voting deferred
shares of HK$1 each. The 3,000,000 non-voting deferred shares of
HK$1 each in Hop Fung GM are beneficially owned by Hop Fung
Group (HK) Limited (“Hop Fung Group HK") which is owned as to
50% and 50% by Mr. Hui Sum Ping and Mr. Hui Sum Tai respectively.

Under the SFO, each of Mr. Hui Sum Ping and Mr. Hui Sum Tai is
deemed to be interested in the 3,000,000 non-voting deferred shares

of HK$1 each in Hop Fung GM.

Pursuant to an option deed dated 19th August, 2003, Hop Fung
Group HK and its nominee granted to Hop Fung Group Company
Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, an option to
purchase from them such 3,000,000 non-voting deferred shares of
HK$1 each in Hop Fung GM. Accordingly, each of Mr. Hui Sum Ping
and Mr. Hui Sum Tai is deemed to have a short position in the
underlying shares of the option granted under the option deed

pursuant to the SFO.
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7%107,755,400% % {5 A1 Goldspeed
Holdings Limited ([ Goldspeed ])
A - Goldspeedf Goldkeen Assets
Management Limited ([ Goldkeen]) & &
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

(Continued)

(b) Share options

Details of the Directors’ and their associates’ interests in share
options of the Company are set out in the section headed
“Share Options” in this report.

Other than as disclosed above, none of the Directors nor their
associates had any interests or short positions in any shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations as at 31st December, 2021.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31st December, 2021, the following shareholders had interests
or short positions in shares or underlying shares of the Company as
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the
Company:

DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)
EEEHE (R)

BEERRND  HEROREBESRZ
= ®)

(b) BBRHE

EERWEZHBEALIRARRBR
BeEDFBENARE BERE] —

# -

BEXHEBEN RZ2EZ—F+=ZA
=+ H EERESIHEALIMENR
AR RETAAEEAE 2 ARG - B
DREHFTPHEETMERSI AR

FTERRRKRG HERORE
ZFZRER

RZZEZ—F+ZA=+—H0 REXAA
mIRES MM EGRIIFEIB6EFE BT
PICs s BITAMEARTE  THERRRAR
Ao S ARRA R D P AR SO R

Approximate

Number of Number of percentage of
Name of issued share issued share
shareholder Capacity shares held options held Note(s) capital
FEERT g, HEBTRE
BRREB/#HE 54 R & B EREHE Mt = BAES
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Goldspeed Beneficial owner 107,755,400 - 2 13.17%
EREEA
Goldkeen Interest of a controlled corporation 107,755,400 - 2 13.17%
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Mr. Hui Sum Tai Beneficial owner/interest of spouse 155,666,430 3,984,000 3 19.52%
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES (continued)

Notes:

1. Of 258,022,081 total shares and 3,984,000 total options, Ms. Jian Jian Yi is
directly interested in 19,754,000 shares and is deemed to be interested in
238,268,081 shares and 3,984,000 options of the Company under the SFO
as she is the spouse of Mr. Hui Sum Ping, a Director and a substantial
shareholder of the Company.

2. The entire issued share capital of Goldspeed is indirectly held by HSBC
through its 100% controlled corporation, Goldkeen in its capacity as the
trustee of HSP 2004 Family Trust, a discretionary trust the founder of which
is Mr. Hui Sum Ping and the discretionary objects of which include Mr. Hui
Sum Ping and the family members of Mr. Hui Sum Ping. Accordingly, each
of Goldspeed, Goldkeen, HSBC and Mr. Hui Sum Ping is deemed to be
interested in the 107,755,400 shares under the SFO.

3. Of 155,666,430 total shares and 3,984,000 total options, Ms. Leung Pui
Man is directly interested in 5,110,000 shares and is deemed to be
interested in 150,556,430 shares and 3,984,000 options of the Company
under the SFO as she is the spouse of Mr. Hui Sum Tai, a Director and a
substantial shareholder of the Company.

4. Of 171,227,882 shares, Ms. Wong Mui is directly interested in 750,000
shares and is deemed to be interested in 170,477,882 shares of the
Company under the SFO as she is the spouse of Mr. Hui Sum Kwok, a
substantial shareholder of the Company.

Other than as disclosed above, the Company had not been notified
of any other relevant interests or short positions in the issued share
capital of the Company as at 31st December, 2021.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SHARES

There was no purchase, sale or redemption of the Company’s listed
securities by the Company or any of its subsidiaries during the year
ended 31st December, 2021.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the heading “Share Options” above, at no
time during the year was the Company, any of its holding companies,
fellow subsidiaries or subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to
enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate. In addition, save as disclosed above, none of the Directors,
and any of their respective associates were granted any right to
subscribe for the securities of the Company or had exercised any
such right during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Other than the transactions set out in note 28 to the consolidated
financial statements, no other transactions, arrangements and
contracts of significance to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director of the Company is or
was materially interested, either directly or indirectly, subsisted at the
end of the year or at any time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

None of the Directors or any of their respective associates were
interested in any business apart from the Group’s business, that
competes or competed or are or were likely to compete, either
directly or indirectly, with the Group’s business at any time during
the year ended 31st December, 2021 and up to the date of this
report.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract, other than employment contracts, concerning the
management and administration of the whole or any substantial part
of the Company’s business was entered into or existed during 2021.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to Article 167(1) of the Company’s Articles of Association,
every Director shall be indemnified and secured harmless out of the
assets and profits of the Company from and against all actions, costs,
charges, losses, damages and expenses incurred by him or her in the
execution and discharge of his or her duties.

The Company maintained appropriate directors and officers liability
insurance during 2021 and up to the date of this report.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

During the year, there was no material breach of or non-compliance
with the applicable laws and regulations by the Group.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31st December, 2021, the aggregate amount of
revenue attributable to the Group's five largest customers accounted
for around 12% of the Group’s revenue. The aggregate amount of
purchases attributable to the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted
for approximately 61% of the Group’s total purchases, with the
largest supplier accounted for approximately 21%.

None of the Directors, their close associates and shareholders (which
to the knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of the
Company’s issued shares) have any interests in the Group’s five
largest customers and suppliers.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Group did not enter into any related party
transactions or continuing related party transactions which fall under
the definition of “Connected Transaction” or “Continuing Connected
Transaction” in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Articles of Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands, which shall
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to
existing shareholders.

DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable donations amounting to
approximately HK$24,000.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Directors strive to maintain high standards of corporate
governance to enhance shareholder value and safeguard shareholder
interests. The corporate governance principles of the Company
emphasise the importance of a quality Board, effective internal controls
and accountability to shareholders. Details of the corporate governance
practices adopted by the Company are set out in the Corporate
Governance Report on pages 14 to 31 of this annual report. The
Company has met the code provisions set out in the Corporate
Governance Code contained in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange throughout the year
ended 31st December, 2021, except with the following deviations:

Code Provision A.2.1

o Code provision A.2.1 stipulates that the division of
responsibilities between the chairman and the chief executive
officer should be clearly established and set out in writing.

o There are no written terms on division of responsibilities
between the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer. The
Directors consider that the responsibilities of the Chairman and
the Chief Executive Officer respectively are clear and distinctive
and hence written terms thereof are not necessary.

Code Provision B.1.2

o A deviation from the code provision B.1.2 is that the
Remuneration Committee of the Company reviews and makes
recommendations to the Directors on the remuneration
packages of the Directors only but not the senior management.

o Currently, the remuneration of the senior management is
attended by the Chairman and/or the Chief Executive Officer of
the Company.

Code Provision C.3.3

o Code provision C.3.3 stipulates that the audit committee must
meet, at least twice a year, with the Company’s auditor.

o Since the Company has not engaged its auditor to review the
financial information in its interim report, the Audit Committee
has met with the Company’s auditor once a year to discuss
matters arising from the audit of the Company’s annual results
and other matters the auditor may wish to raise. The Audit
Committee has met with the Company’s auditor once during
the year ended 31st December, 2021.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to achieving continuous improvement in
environmental performance and complying with the relevant
environmental protection regulations and rules. 100% wastepaper
(old containerboard cardboard) is used by the Group for producing
containerboard in the upstream business.

Environmental protection measures are implemented by the Group to
minimize the impact on the environment. Two of the manufacturing
facilities of the Group have been accredited with the ISO 14001
certification for its environmental management system.

The environmental, social and governance (“ESG") report of the
Group disclosing detailed discussion on the Group’s environmental
policies and performance are prepared in accordance with Appendix
27 Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide issued by
the Stock Exchange. The ESG report is disclosed in this Annual
Report.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the
Company’s total number of issued shares were held by the public as
at the date of this report.

AUDITOR

Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu has acted as auditor of the
Company since its incorporation.

A resolution will be submitted to the forthcoming annual general
meeting to re-appoint Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as auditor

of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Hui Sum Ping
Chairman
26th July, 2022
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Deloitte

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
HOP FUNG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Hop Fung
Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as “the Group”) set out on pages 73 to 159, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31st December,
2021, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity
and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31st
December, 2021, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"”) issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs"”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

=2

HEEEEERERLAAZHEER

(RASESEMKRIZERLTE)

AZBEMITEEZHNFEBEEFRIS9EMNE
CEEZERERQB(ERAD REKMBA
A(RHEEEE) SReMBHRE  EPEE
RZZBEZ—F+_A=+—HBOEEWBKMK
MEMBEZALFENGERAMNEME
EREX HEEREZHRNEEHEESRE
RARGAMBHRERME  BREEEK
RRE -

AZBMTRE ZEREVBEHRREEE
EXestiAe ((EEestag]) BHEH
EEMBEREEN((HEMBRELELD E
EREQATFHRE EEER_T_—F+=
A=+ BRNEKREMBERAREEZA LT
ERNGAEMBERERGEARERE  TEIK
BEBRARIEH 2 HEENZ GRS

AZBMITERETEGHMASRMNE
BETEAN ([FBETER ) ETERLE-
AZBMTRZEFLEANTHETEAITHR
SARBMRBERGAMBRRAAENE
EfoFil - RIBFZEGFMOENEEXS
stEmEE s Al ([P A)) A EE T
R E&RE YD EBRTABETEMERE
T AZBENTTHRE  ATTMESHNEZER
BREARMEZEMR/RTHNE LIRHER

SEEEZERBRATE o

R —FFR



Key audit matter is the matter that, in our professional judgment, was
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period. The matter was addressed in the context of our
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on the
matter.

Key audit matter

Impairment assessment on property, plant and equipment relating to the
containerboard segment

We identified the impairment assessment of property, plant and
equipment relating to the containerboard segment as a key audit matter
due to its financial significance to the consolidated financial statements
and the involvement of significant judgements and assumptions in
estimating the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which
property, plant and equipment belong to.

As disclosed in notes 4 and 14 to the consolidated financial statements,
due to the temporary suspension of production relating to the
containerboard segment, and its unfavourable financial performance
during the current year, the management considered that there are
impairment indicators of the related property, plant and equipment
existed as at 31st December, 2021. Accordingly, the management
assessed the impairment of the property, plant and equipment relating
to the containerboard segment at 31st December, 2021 by preparing
a value-in-use calculation to determine the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit to which the property, plant and equipment
belong to. The value-in-use is the present value of the future cash
flows the Group expected to arise from the cash generating unit, which
is dependent on key assumptions, including (i) discount rate; (i) the
success of obtaining the approval from the relevant government bureau
for the renewal of licences after completion of the change to gas-fuel
boilers in order to resume the production relating to the containerboard
segment; (iii) the expected sales volume of the containerboard segment
after resumption of production; (iv) budgeted gross margin; and (v)
growth rate. These key assumptions are with higher uncertainties and
considerably more subjective management judgement and estimates
involved.

The carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment relating to the
containerboard segment for which the management have performed
impairment assessment as at 31st December, 2021 are HK$913,296,000,
after the impairment loss of HK$420,634,000 that have been recognised
in profit or loss during the current year, as disclosed in note 14 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Our procedures in relation to the impairment assessment on property,
plant and equipment relating to the containerboard segment included:

o Obtaining an understanding of the valuation process, obtaining
the valuation report from management, and evaluating the
competence, capabilities and objectivity of the valuer;

o Engaging our internal valuation specialists to perform the following
procedures:

- Evaluating the appropriateness of the valuation methodologies
and technigues used by the management and the valuer;

- Assessing the reasonableness and relevance of key
assumptions and inputs, in particular the discount rate;

- Checking the mathematical accuracy of the fair value
calculations; and

o Evaluate the reasonableness and relevance of key assumptions, in
particular, (i) the success of obtaining the approval from the relevant
government bureau for the renewal of licences after completion of
the change to gas-fuel boilers in order to resume the production
relating to the containerboard segment by conducting an interview
with the government officer; and (ii) the expected sales volume of
the containerboard segment after resumption of production by
checking the historical utilisation rate of the production plant and
reviewing the researches performed by the valuer on the expected
growth of the future market; and

o Evaluating the management’s sensitivity analysis in respect of the
discount rate and the expected sales volume of the containerboard
segment after resumption of production to assess the extent of
impact on the calculation of the value-in-use.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and
our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.
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Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.
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. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group
to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We
are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of
the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence,
and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance,
we determine the matter that was of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and is
therefore the key audit matter. We describe the matter in our auditor’s
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the
matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the
public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Mok Sau Fan.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

26th July, 2022
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
GRBRmNHMEE RS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2021

HE—_F——F+_HA=1+—HIFE
2021 2020
—E-—F —TFF
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
B &E FET FHET
Revenue Weas 5 755,603 1,040,369
Cost of sales B & AR (1,127,114) (912,500)
Gross (loss) profit (E8)EF (371,511) 127,869
Other income HA WA 6 17,896 23,053
Other gains and losses H iz M 18 12,793 4,052
Net reversal of impairment loss recognised BHEEEEEXT
under expected credit loss model RBEEERE -
R R 1,817 -
Selling and distribution costs SHE KD H#HEAAR (31,233) (38,137)
Administrative expenses TR (77,477) (80,104)
Other expenses HAihF X 7 (22,881) (21,417)
Finance costs B 75 A AR 8 (8,440) (8,813)
(Loss) profit before taxation a0 (E18) FE (479,036) 6,503
Income tax credit (expense) FrisfiiEe (M) 9 56,249 (5,140)
(Loss) profit for the year, attributable AKRRER ANEGEE
to owners of the Company (B18) ) )H 10 (422,787) 1,363
Other comprehensive income (expense) FEEMPEKE
for the year: (Ax) :
ltem that may be reclassified HEngEaEHsEE
subsequently to profit or loss: B 2IER
Exchange differences arising from HE G INETS
translation of foreign operations ZIEH ERE 56,785 87,072
Reclassification of cumulative INFETS B RR 1A
translation reserve upon liquidation EN DB RG
of foreign operations ] 33 (5,771) =
Other comprehensive income for the year FREEMEERE 51,014 87,072
Total comprehensive (expense) income RAARHERANEBIEEE
for the year, attributable to owners 2HE (X)W EE
of the Company (371,773) 88,435
HK cents HK cents
Al AL
(Loss) earnings per share Tk (E518) &2 7 13
— basic — &K (51.71) 0.17
— diluted — 58 (51.71) 0.17

SEEEERBRAR o —T - —FFRH /3
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
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AT_? 1ST DECEMBER, 2021
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are signed on its behalf by:

HUI SUM PING #F#
DIRECTOR E%#

HOP FUNG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

e Annual Report 2021

Y TIEERREE

HUI SUM TAI &F % 5=
DIRECTOR &%

2021 2020
—E-—F —TFF
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
ihg=a FET T
Non-current assets RBEE
Property, plant and equipment W - BB RRE 14 944,206 1,364,462
Right-of-use assets FHEEE 15 31,440 29,092
Deposits and prepayments e RIBRAK 18 177,504 169,843
1,153,150 1,563,397
Current assets REBEE
Inventories Ay 16 127,177 143,471
Trade and other receivables B NHEMEWFRIA 17 112,704 200,055
Deposits and prepayments B RBRNK 18 3,737 4,471
Bank balances and cash RITAESRRIRE 19 246,677 291,561
490,295 639,558
Current liabilities REBAE
Trade and other payables B 5 M E b T /I8 20 147,233 224,854
Taxation payable FE IR 1,413 2,427
Lease liabilities HEBE 21 9,760 7,970
Unsecured bank borrowings EIEIRITESR 22 106,928 138,496
265,334 373,747
Net current assets REBEEFE 224,961 265,811
Total assets less current liabilities BEEBRRBER 1,378,111 1,829,208
Non-current liabilities FkRBERE
Lease liabilities HERE 21 305 -
Unsecured bank borrowings KR ITEE 22 119,951 144,118
Deferred taxation EIERIE 24 8,280 64,034
128,536 208,152
Net assets EERE 1,249,575 1,621,056
Capital and reserves R #
Share capital [N 23 81,764 81,764
Reserves G 1,167,811 1,539,292
Total equity, attributable to owners  ARAFEE AEBGEZAE
of the Company 1,249,575 1,621,056
The consolidated financial statements on pages 73 to 159 were approved R E73E159B Z GAMBERRER T~ —
and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 26th July, 2022 and G+ 5 -+ <BRKEE e E R ISR E



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

—“— N7 z 2\_
Z°N mom
n‘/T\ * Eb %%

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 375T DECEMBER 2021

e = FH H=+ H IFFJE

PRC Share
Share Share  Special statutory Translation options Retained
capital premium  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  profits Total
G BRE
KA RGEE RARE ZERE EIRE fE REANE @t
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TEr TExr  TEx  TEx A TAT  TEr T
(note i) (note i)
(Frsk) (Bt Ri)
At 1st January, 2020 RZE-ZE-A—H 81,764 492,392  (107,444) - (33,986) 2930 1,095,627 1,531,283
Profit for the year EEAE - - - - - - 1,363 1363
Other comprehensive income £ M2 E
for the year - - - - 87,072 - - 87,072
Total comprehensive income ~ FE2ANHLE
for the year - - - - 87,072 - 1,363 88,435
Recognition of equity-settled ML RIEL B IARIA 214
share-based payments 23 - - = = - 1,338 = 1,338
Transfers B - - = 550 - = (550) =
At 315t December, 2020 R-Z_Z%F
+-A=t-H 81,764 492392  (107,444) 550 53,086 4,268 1,09%,440 1,621,056
Loss for the year FEER - - - = = - (422787)  (422,787)
Other comprehensive income ~ EEE 12 Az
for the year - - - - 51,014 - = 51,014
Total comprehensive income  FE2EME (AX) 8%
(expense) for the year - - - - 51,014 - (422,787)  (371,773)
Recognition of equity-settled  HERRSARRIE L B IARR 17 3
share-based payments pa 4 - - - - - 292 - 292
Transfer upon forfeiture of RRERER B
share options - - - - - (897) 897 -
Transfers R = = = 300 = = (300) =
At 315t December, 2021 R-B-—%
+-A=1+-H 81764 492392  (107,444) 850 104,100 3,663 674,250 1,249,575
Notes: FfaE -

Special reserve represents the difference between the costs of investments in
subsidiaries of Hop Fung Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and the
aggregate amount of the non-voting deferred share capital of the subsidiaries
and the nominal value of the share capital of the subsidiaries acquired as a result
of the group reorganisation in 2003.

According to the relevant laws in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC"),
subsidiaries which were established in the PRC are required to transfer at least
10% of their net profit after taxation to a non-distributable reserve fund until
the reserve balance reaches 50% of the respective subsidiaries’ registered capital.
The transfer to this reserve must be made before the distribution of dividends to
owners. Such reserve fund can be used to offset the previous years' losses, if any,

and is non-distributable other than upon liquidation.

FhlERiEc EEBERERAR ([ARF)
RHE AR IREKAENE R R ERERER
ERAEERA ST =FEEEEMKE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

n‘/_ﬁ IE%/)IL%%%

FOR THE YEAR E/\/DED 31ST DECEMBER 2021

‘E 2 = F ": f HiFF)E

2021 2020
B —F —ETHF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FiET FHT
Operating activities REEH
(Loss) profit before taxation A (&) F7)E (479,036) 6,503
Adjustments for: IEVEH AT % -
Finance costs B 75 X AR 8,440 8,813
Net reversal of impairment loss recognised BHEEEEEXT
under expected credit loss model R 2R EBERE -
FRE (1,817) =
Impairment loss on property, plant and Y- WERZHEZ
equipment RIEERE 420,634 -
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment M BERZRETE 86,038 83,127
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEENE 9,084 8,618
Interest income FEHEA (2,934) (2,084)
Gain on disposal of property, plant and HEWE - BE KR
equipment B (677) 4
Gain on liquidation of subsidiaries BB A RlE AR 2 W (5.771) =
Share-based payment expense LARR D T2 2 292 1,338
Operating cash flows before movements in mBE & LERENE
working capital 34,253 106,311
Decrease (increase) in inventories FER A (Em) 21,691 (41,814)
Decrease (increase) in trade and other receivables & 5 & £ th fig i 7k 18
A (Fhn) 94,553 (20,782)
Decrease in deposits and prepayments Ee REMNRBLD 871 2,419
(Decrease) increase in trade and other payables B 5 Kk EMENFRIA
OBiA) &0 (83,237) 62,002
Cash generated from operations BEEECRS 68,131 108,136
Income tax paid BB TS (3.124) (2,511)
Net cash from operating activities RETHELECRSFHE 65,007 105,625
Investing activities KREETH
Deposits paid for acquisition of property, plant W% « BE K&
and equipment and other assets wRiERHMEEENES (17,640) (97,022)
Purchases of property, plant and equipment W - BB R (18,803) (36,666)
Interest received 2 F R 2,934 2,084
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWE - BE R&E
plant and equipment FR8 3R 998 45
Net cash used in investing activities RETZHFEAZREFEE (32,511) (131,559)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

4

GeRTRER (&)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2021

Hhox — 5 —

#X =3 a

/A=" H I F/=

2021 2020
—E_—F —T-THF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T T
Financing activities AEEE
Repayment of bank loans BEIETER (266,811) (216,857)
Interest on bank borrowings paid EfRITEERE (8,255) (8,507)
Repayment of lease liabilities BEREERE (8,486) (7,926)
Interest on lease liabilities paid ERNESEEENE (185) (306)
New bank loans raised HILRITER 202,481 274,539
Net cash (used in) from financing activities BEFE (EH) E4£ 2
ReFH (81,256) 40,943

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash ReRBReEE

equivalents (R &) 18 0 &8 (48,760) 15,009
Cash and cash equivalents at 1st January R—B—BREESRELEE 291,561 292,299
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes Exggosg 3,876 (15,747)
Cash and cash equivalents at 31st December R+ =-A=+—HR&R

Re%EE
represented by bank balances and cash RITHEB LIRS 246,677 291,561
AEEEERERAR o T —FFIR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2021
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GENERAL

The Company is an exempted company with limited liability
incorporated in the Cayman Islands under the Companies Law, Cap.
22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman
Islands and its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The address of the registered
office of the Company is disclosed under Corporate Information
section of the annual report.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is also the functional currency of the
Company.

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 33.

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs")

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year

In the current year, the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as “the Group”) has applied the following amendments
to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA") for the first time, which are mandatorily
effective for the annual periods beginning on or after 1st January,
2021 for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

Amendment to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform -
Phase 2

Amendments to HKFRS 9,
HKAS 39, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

In addition, the Group applied the agenda decision of the IFRS
Interpretations Committee of the International Accounting
Standards Board issued in June 2021 which clarified the costs an
entity should include as “estimated costs necessary to make the
sale” when determining the net realisable value of inventories.

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the current year
has had no material impact on the Group’s financial positions
and performance for the current and prior years and/or on the
disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

("HKFRSs") (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not

yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet

effective:

HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKFRS 3

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Amendment to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 16

Amendments to HKAS 37

Amendments to HKFRSs

Insurance Contracts and the
related Amendments?

Reference to the Conceptual
Framework?

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture*

Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions beyond 30th June,
2021"

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)3

Disclosure of Accounting Policies?

Definition of Accounting
Estimates®

Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction?

Property, Plant and Equipment -
Proceeds before Intended Use?

Onerous Contracts - Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract?

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2018 - 2020?

* Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st April, 2021.

d Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January, 2022.
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January, 2023.
& Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2021
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBERRME (F)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2021

iz — & — F+~—H |- 4E
Z 7 = H || 4F
FEX g 1 J7 =] H1L T/

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not

yet effective (Continued)

Except for the amendments to HKFRSs mentioned below, the
directors of the Company anticipate that the application of all other
new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on

the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of

Liabilities as Current or Non-current and related
amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)

The amendments provide clarification and additional guidance
on the assessment of right to defer settlement for at least twelve
months from reporting date for classification of liabilities as current

or non-current, which:

o specify that the classification of liabilities as current or
non-current should be based on rights that are in existence at
the end of the reporting period. Specifically, the amendments

clarify that:

(i) the classification should not be affected by management
intentions or expectations to settle the liability within 12

months; and

(i) if the right is conditional on the compliance with
covenants, the right exists if the conditions are met at
the end of the reporting period, even if the lender does

not test compliance until a later date; and

o clarify that if a liability has terms that could, at the option of
the counterparty, result in its settlement by the transfer of the
entity’s own equity instruments, these terms do not affect
its classification as current or non-current only if the entity
recognises the option separately as an equity instrument

applying HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation.

In addition, Hong Kong Interpretation 5 was revised as a
consequence of the Amendments to HKAS 1 to align the

corresponding wordings with no change in conclusion.

Based on the Group’s outstanding liabilities as at 31st December,
2021, the application of the amendments will not result in

reclassification of the Group's liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not
yet effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates

The amendments define accounting estimates as “monetary
amounts in financial statements that are subject to measurement
uncertainty”. An accounting policy may require items in financial
statements to be measured in a way that involves measurement
uncertainty - that is, the accounting policy may require such items
to be measured at monetary amounts that cannot be observed
directly and must instead be estimated. In such a case, an entity
develops an accounting estimate to achieve the objective set out
by the accounting policy. Developing accounting estimates involves
the use of judgements or assumptions based on the latest available,
reliable information.

In addition, the concept of changes in accounting estimates in
HKAS 8 is retained with additional clarifications.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have
significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related
to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction

The amendments narrow the scope of the recognition exemption
of deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets in paragraphs 15
and 24 of HKAS 12 Income Taxes (“HKAS 12") so that it no longer
applies to transactions that, on initial recognition, give rise to equal
taxable and deductible temporary differences.

As disclosed in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements, the
Group applies HKAS 12 requirements to the relevant assets and
liabilities as a whole. Temporary differences relating to relevant
assets and liabilities are assessed on a net basis.

Upon the application of the amendments, the Group will recognise
a deferred tax asset (to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible temporary
difference can be utilised) and a deferred tax liability for all
deductible and taxable temporary differences associated with the
right-of-use assets and the lease liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
GEMBRRME (FH)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2021

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

("HKFRSS") (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not
yet effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related
to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction (Continued)

The Group is still in the process of assessing the full impact of the
application of the amendments. The cumulative effect of initially
applying the amendments will be recognised as an adjustment to
the opening balance of retained earnings (or other component of
equity, as appropriate) at the beginning of the earliest comparative
period presented.

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. For
the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial
statements, information is considered material if such
information is reasonably expected to influence decisions
made by primary users. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The directors of the Company have, at the time of approving
the consolidated financial statements, a reasonable
expectation that the Group has adequate resources to
continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future.
Thus they continue to adopt the going concern basis of
accounting in preparing the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBEEME (&)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2021

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. KEMBHRRGEREERE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT EEiBEw@®

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.1 KA BBRRFEREE @)

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial

statements (Continued)

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis at the end of each reporting period,
as explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value
of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing
the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on such a
basis, except for share-based payment transactions that are
within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing
transactions that are accounted for in accordance with HKFRS
16 Leases ("HKFRS 16"), and measurements that have some
similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net
realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories or value in use in HKAS
36 Impairment of Assets.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on
the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements
are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair
value measurement in its entirety, which are described as
follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBERRME (F)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2021
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. BANBBERSEEER T
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT EEiBEw@
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies 32 FESHEE

Basis of consolidation AreEE

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the FEMBHmERBEARARARER

financial statements of the Company and entities controlled NAEREWE A FES B

by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved HBEHRE - EXRAITEUNTE

when the Company: = - BIIZR R A HRAS 22 4

e has power over the investee; s UBRESEBEN:

. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its o A2 B I8 77 S 5% AR
involvement with the investee; and A] & 0] 3R 2 R sk = A 0] &

CIE: - ¥4

e has the ability to use its power to affect its returns. o THHEKRELERENNUY
ZHEIR -

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee WMEERBERLABER EXFAR=1E
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to THIERARER —HNZIEEE
one or more of the three elements of control listed above. AIRNEEeEHEE AT E
RER o
Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains BB QA 2R A AR AN K B
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group losses 1SE M A Rz EHI RS
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses WRAEEBXREEERB AR Z
of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are THIERKIE - AEmME FA
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and Fri g sk HEWB AR 2 WA K
other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains FX T B AEERSGZEH#E B
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the Bt AR e Bm R EM 2 E K
subsidiary. mR HEEAEETIBEHE A
MEAGZAEAL -
Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial MEFTE AEESHKHE QA
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in R RELAE  UEFEZ
line with the Group's accounting policies. EEBREANERZ SRTHE—
o
All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses AEEBRRARIBAZABEEREA
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of B m - A AZREEAS
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation. ERNERRZMNESRE B

RERA R B R R -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of
the following criteria is met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the
Group performs;

o the Group's performance creates or enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the Group performs; or

o the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service, being
at the point the goods are delivered to the customer. Delivery
occurs when the goods have been shipped to the customer’s
specific location.

The revenue of the Group is recognised at a point in time.
Under the transfer-of-control approach in HKFRS 15 Revenue
from Contracts with Customers (“HKFRS 15"), revenue from
manufacturing and sales of containerboard and corrugated
packaging products to the Group’s customers are recognised
when the goods are passed to the customers, which is the
point of time when the customer has the ability to direct the
use of the goods and obtain substantially all of the remaining
benefits of the goods.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

GEMBERHE (&)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2021
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Leases
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or after the date
of initial application of HKFRS 16 or arising from business
combinations, the Group assesses whether a contract is
or contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS
16 at inception, modification date or acquisition date, as
appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed unless
the terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently
changed.

The Group as a lessee
Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of
the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of
the non-lease components, including contract for acquisition
of ownership interests of a property which includes both
leasehold land and non-lease building components, unless
such allocation cannot be made reliably.

Non-lease components are separated from lease component
and are accounted for by applying other applicable standards.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from
the commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option. Lease payments on short-term leases are recognised
as expense on a straight-line basis or another systematic basis
over the lease term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

. the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives received;
and

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item
on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS
9 Financial Instruments (“HKFRS 9”) and initially measured at
fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments and included in the
cost of right-of-use assets.

GReMBERME (F)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
GEMBRRME (FH)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2021
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises
and measures the lease liability at the present value of
lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating
the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable.

The lease payments include fixed payments only. After the
commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by interest
accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use assets)
whenever the lease term has changed, in which case the
related lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised
lease payments using a revised discount rate at the date of
reassessment.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on
the consolidated statement of financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBEEME (&)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2021

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. BANBBERSEEER T
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT EEiBEw@®
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 FESFHEE @

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate
lease if:

o the modification increases the scope of the lease by
adding the right to use one or more underlying assets;
and

o the consideration for the leases increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the
increase in scope and any appropriate adjustments to
that stand-alone price to reflect the circumstances of
the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a
separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability, less
any lease incentives receivable, based on the lease term of
the modified lease by discounting the revised lease payments
using a revised discount rate at the effective date of the
modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities
by making corresponding adjustments to the relevant
right-of-use asset. When the modified contract contains
a lease component and one or more additional lease or
non-lease components, the Group allocates the consideration
in the modified contract to each lease component on the
basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component
and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease
components.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBERRME (F)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2021
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. BANBBERSEEER T
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT EEiBEw@
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 FEESFEE @

Foreign currencies sh

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group ERHEBIEEER 2 MBRE
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional B AAENREE AN 2 B
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised GNEB)FFE 2R 5 - HRZF A
at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the HeERAR - UINEFTEZE
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary BIEE R EHRIZZA 2 EX
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at ENRE  DINEBEETIRESL
the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items that are A EZIFEKIEERITEE
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are TR o

not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary REEREFREEKIER KRE
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are A2 EH EZREE R EE A B E
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise. WP R -

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial M2INGEHMBHREMES - A&
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s operations EXBcEERARBDNERESR
are translated into the presentation currency of the Group FHREREXRESAER
(i.e. HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each ZIHEE® (BAT) c KARX
reporting period. Income and expenses are translated at the B iRZF R 2 FHERETHR
average exchange rates for the year, unless exchange rates B BRIEZNZAMALIRK
fluctuate significantly during the period, in which case, the R BAIERGR - RILERT

exchange rates prevailing at the dates of transactions are AR SE B 2 EAESE-

used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised FEEZENZE (IEG) REM
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity Z2HEWATER  WHRE R F#HIE
under the heading of translation reserve. TZREmRE-

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal of REEBIINER (BIHEAEER
the Group's entire interest in a foreign operation), all of the BINERS 2 2B HER) IS 2 BB 0
exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect of that o AIARRARE ARBZER
operation attributable to the owners of the Company are HEMEBERRTNELZEE
reclassified to profit or loss. BN BEEBR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBEEME (&)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2021
BE-F-—Ff - A=f—HIFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

GREMBHRRFREERE
B ER @)

3.2 FESHEE @)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost
of those assets until such time as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.

Employee benefits

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
Scheme"”) and state-managed retirement benefit schemes are
recognised as an expense when employees have rendered
service entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid as
and when employees rendered the services. All short-term
employee benefits are recognised as an expense unless
another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit
in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave) after
deducting any amount already paid.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBERRME (F)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2021
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. BANBBERSEEER T
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT EEiBEw@
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 FEESFEE @
Share-based payments KR 17,2 3% H
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions U EUARGZNZ X

x5
Share options granted to employees BT EE 2 BRE
Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others miEE RHEMERBEURSE 2 A
providing similar services are measured at the fair value of the TEH 2 AR A B ARG A
equity instruments at the grant date. ZEXHTRELEBAEERTA

2 AFEHE -

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments B E ARG X2 X R &%
determined at the grant date without taking into LEMMEE 2 AFELTEE
consideration all non-market vesting conditions is expensed FEMEERGRG  NERER
on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the EREERBE X WRASE
Group's estimate of equity instruments that will eventually EHREREEBE T AY
vest, with a corresponding increase in equity (share options mEt s (BERERE) B EM
reserve). At the end of each reporting period, the Group M - REMEBPR A%
revises its estimate of the number of equity instruments RIZ P B A BA 3E T 95 B B (R 1 AT
expected to vest based on assessment of all relevant HEFTEEEREERTARE -
non-market vesting conditions. The impact of the revision of BEIRAEMGT 2 E (INF) RiE
the original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss wER - W R A RELE
such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, AT - R EE AR B B R 1EAE
with a corresponding adjustment to the share options reserve. ez #HE -

When share options are exercised, the amount previously BAREEATER - 2 AT B
recognised in share options reserve will be transferred to HETPER I BERERZRG
share premium. When the share options are forfeited after wE - ERREREBEHEHEK
the vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, Bl sk 78 & m B A R EATE - 2 Al
the amount previously recognised in share options reserve will RERERETRER ZHEESE
be transferred to retained profits. BERBIEA -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBEEME (&)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2021
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

GREMBHRRFREERE
B ER @)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 FESFHEE @

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit (loss) before taxation as
reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income because of income or expense
that are taxable or deductible in other years and items
that are never taxable or deductible. The Group's liability
for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
base used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for
all deductible temporary difference to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from the initial recognition (other than in a
business combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction
that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting
profit.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred
tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments are only recognised to
the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period when the liability
is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period,
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-use
assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to the
right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBHRRME (F)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER 2027
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 FESFHEE @

Taxation (Continued) PE (&)

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are RREHREERNEEAGEZHE
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS EXRGMs AEEEEESS
12 requirements to the leasing transaction as a whole. ERIE125% 2 A EREBERBRME

Temporary differences relating to right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities are assessed on a net basis. Excess of depreciation
on right-of-use assets over the lease payments for the
principal portion of lease liabilities resulting in net deductible
temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied to the same taxation entity by the same taxation
authority.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBEEME (R)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2021
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. KMEVBKERGREERE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT EEiBEw@
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 FEESFEE @
Property, plant and equipment Wz - BEKE A
Property, plant and equipment including leasehold land and Mz HERFEE (BEEEES
buildings held for use in the production or for administrative THRAEMBEZHE T RE
purposes, other than construction in progress as described FoONXAt 2 EREIRERIN &
below, are stated in the consolidated statement of financial RAREZE 2 25T EUREE
position at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation 2 REEE (B NG iH%
and subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any. RAEKZ5 ©
Construction in progress includes property, plant and ERIEBEREENERE D
equipment in the course of construction for production or ZIEREYE  BERRE EREL
for its own use purposes. Construction in progress is carried 2 3R K AR (T (] B B RR 2 R (B S
at cost less any recognised impairment loss. Construction in BAR - ERIENETHKRA
progress is classified to the appropriate category of property, BT R DEAEBE I ME -
plant and equipment when completed and ready for intended BB NEERAR  WEBE YT
use. Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other ENREMEEE 2 BREZE
property assets, commences when the assets are ready for RAI e E SRRt & o

their intended use.

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests of EAEBEMAYENEEEES
properties which includes both leasehold land and building (BREEAEIMREFE D) TR
elements, the entire consideration is allocated between the B 2HRERNBEEL B REF
leasehold land and the building elements in proportion to Ko 2 R ERAROES A
the relative fair values at initial recognition. To the extent the B A L5 2 B o fie A8 BE A 59
allocation of the relevant payments can be made reliably, FLab A A ER - HE LM
interest in leasehold land that is presented as “right-of-use mRERE AR R [ REEE]
assets” in the consolidated statement of financial position. 25 -BEREMZEZEHEBEHEE L
When the consideration cannot be allocated reliably between HEIEREZEFR D RAD B #
non-lease building element and undivided interest in the mZ A DR BEMES
underlying leasehold land, the entire properties are classified HAME  BEREME -

as property, plant and equipment.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of MEMERT N ABUEGEEM
assets, other than construction in progress, less their residue FHRIE A EAMEE E EK A (T2
values over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line BEIRERIN BEFIHEME - &5
method. The estimated useful lives, residual values and AEREH FpEERITES
depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each ETIN & S B R E -
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate AEB R BRBEGRCELE
accounted for on a prospective basis. HIHR ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

GREMBHRRFREERE
B ER @)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 FESFHEE @

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of
property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment losses on property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets to determine whether there is any
indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss.
If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the
relevant asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of
the impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets are estimated individually. When it is
not possible to estimate the recoverable amount individually,
the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate
assets are allocated to individual cash-generating unit when
a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
established, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest
group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be established. The recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit or group
of cash-generating units to which the corporate assets
belong, and is compared with the carrying amount of the
relevant cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating
units.

SEERERAE o

Y% - BERERE (8)

ME BERXREBBERHER
REEEERZEERSTSE
HAEAR] B A B F 2 B BUS FERR o
HEXNEEVE BMELLKHE
BEAZEMKEHERDIEE
EZHERSREREEREEY
ZEHE - WNIBSEHER -

W% BE R R A K
BEEZHEEE
RBERR AEESEMEY
X BERRBAREREEE
REE NEEASEMTRE
TREEERBTRERERE M
BENZETR UG HETHEE
BE A W E &R IABERIER
BnE) ZEE -

ME BERRKBARERESR
= #) AT W B & B8 A T M8 Bl AT 4
WA BEEF A AT 25
AEBEeRAZREENMBZR S
EEEM A JRESE -

ERAReEEBEMNRER
AR B RIE B — B o AL &2
AAEEE TRKREBANIRSEL
By BAEMEESHIEER
BAAGE-—BMAOREENRESE
EBuK/NAERN AEESET
ARRBEEMBREELEUAR
SELABMARNNATKE S
VEMARRSELEUIBRSE
AEMARNNREERITHER -

R —FFR

97



98
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Impairment losses on property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets (Continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for which the
estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
reduced to its recoverable amount. For corporate assets or
portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated on a
reasonable and consistent basis to a cash-generating unit,
the Group compares the carrying amount of a group of
cash-generating units, including the carrying amounts of the
corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to
that group of cash-generating units, with the recoverable
amount of the group of cash-generating units. In allocating
the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated to the
assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of
each asset in the unit or the group of cash-generating units.
The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below the
highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable),
its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of the
impairment loss that would otherwise have been allocated to
the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit
or the group of cash-generating units. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit or a
group of cash-generating units) is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or cash-generating unit or a group
of cash-generating units) in prior years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBEEME (&)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2021

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

GREMBHRRFREERE
B ER @)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 FESFHEE @

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost of inventories are determined on a first-in, first-out
method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling
price for inventories less all estimated costs of completion and
costs necessary to make the sale. Costs necessary to make the
sale include incremental costs directly attributable to the sale
and non-incremental costs which the Group must incur to
make the sale.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial
assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time
frame established by regulation or convention in the market
place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customer which are initially measured in accordance
with HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities measured subsequently at amortised cost are added
to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liabilities and
of allocating interest income and interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs
and other premiums or discounts) through the expected
life of the financial asset or financial liabilities, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount on
initial recognition.

Financial assets
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

o the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below).
For financial assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the
credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that the
financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset from the beginning
of the reporting period following the determination that the
asset is no longer credit-impaired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected
credit loss (“ECL") model on financial assets (including trade
receivables, other receivables, deposits and bank balances)
which are subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS
9. The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to

reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the relevant
instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL")
represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to
result from default events that are possible within 12 months
after the reporting date. Assessment are done based on the
Group's historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors
that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current conditions at the

reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade

receivables.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, in
which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment
of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on
significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default

occurring since initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
date of initial recognition. In making this assessment,
the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or
effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

o significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase
in the credit spread, the credit default swap prices
for the debtor;

o existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations;

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor;

o an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet
its debt obligations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the debt
instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the
reporting date. A debt instrument is determined to have
low credit risk if i) it has a low risk of default, i) the
borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual
cash flow obligations in the near term and iii) adverse
changes in economic and business conditions in the
longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the
ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow
obligations. The Group considers a debt instrument to
have low credit risk when it has an internal or external
credit rating of ‘investment grade’ as per globally
understood definitions.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

The Group considers that default has occurred when
a financial asset is more than 90 days past due unless
the Group has reasonable and supportable information
to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is
more appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

(@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b) abreach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

(c)  the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower
a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not
otherwise consider; or

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will
enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect
of recovery, for example, when the counterparty has
been placed under liquidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets written off
may still be subject to enforcement activities under
the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account
legal advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes
a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are
recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of
the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at
default. The assessment of the probability of default
and loss given default is based on historical data and
forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects
an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is
determined with the respective risks of default occurring
as the weights.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group
in accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the
effective interest rate determined at initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL for certain trade receivables are considered
on a collective basis taking into consideration past due
information and relevant credit information such as
forward looking macroeconomic information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

. Past-due status;
° Nature, size and industry of debtors; and
o External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to
ensure the constituents of each group continue to share
similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset
is credit-impaired, in which case interest income is
calculated based on amortised cost of the financial
asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting
their carrying amount, with the exception of trade
receivables where the corresponding adjustment is
recognised through a loss allowance account.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

REBRRME (&)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2021
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an equity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities (including trade and other payables and
unsecured bank borrowings) are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 3, the directors of the Company are required
to make estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and other factors that are considered to be
relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods
if the revision affects both current and future periods.

The following are key assumptions concerning the future, and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment
to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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4,

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2021

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

(Continued)

Estimated impairment assessment of
property, plant and equipment relating to the
containerboard segment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at costs less accumulated
depreciation and impairment, if any. In determining whether an
asset is impaired, the Group has to exercise judgment and make
estimation, particularly in assessing: (1) whether an event has
occurred or any indicators that may affect the asset value; (2)
whether the carrying value of an asset can be supported by the
recoverable amount, in the case of value-in-use, the net present
value of future cash flows are estimated based upon the continued
use of the asset; and (3) the appropriate key assumptions to be
applied in estimating the recoverable amounts including the cash
flow projections and an appropriate discount rate. As detailed in
note 14, there are impairment indicators of the property, plant
and equipment relating to the containerboard segment at 31st
December, 2021. Accordingly, the management assessed the
impairment of the property, plant and equipment relating to the
containerboard segment and determined the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit to which the property, plant and
equipment belong to based on a value in use calculation. Changing
the assumptions and estimates, including (i) discount rate; (i) the
success of obtaining the approval from the relevant government
bureau for the renewal of licences after completion of the change
to gas-fuel boilers in order to resume the production relating to
the containerboard segment; (iii) the expected sale volume of
the containerboard segment after resumption of production; (iv)
budgeted gross margin; and (v) growth rate, could materially
affect the recoverable amount. Particularly, the discount rate, the
success of obtaining the approval from the relevant government
bureau for the renewal of licences after completion of the change
to gas-fuel boilers in order to resume the production relating to
the containerboard segment, and the expected sale volume of the
containerboard segment after resumption of production, are subject
to greater uncertainties due to uncertainty on the market condition.

As at 31st December, 2021, the carrying amounts of property,
plant and equipment subject to impairment assessment were
HK$913,296,000 (2020: HK$1,334,357,000), after taking into
account the impairment losses of HK$420,634,000 (2020: nil)
that have been recognised in profit or loss during the current year.
Details of the impairment of property, plant and equipment are
disclosed in notes 14.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

(Continued)

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

In applying the accounting policy on property, plant and equipment
(note 14) with respect to depreciation, the directors of the
Company estimate the useful lives of various categories of property,
plant and equipment according to their experiences over the usage
of property, plant and equipment and also by reference to the
relevant industrial norm. The useful lives of property, plant and
equipment are reviewed annually. If the expectations differ from the
previous estimates, the changes will be accounted for prospectively
as changes in accounting estimates.

Allowance for inventories

In determining the amount of allowance required for obsolete
and slow-moving inventories, the directors of the Company would
evaluate ageing analysis of inventories and compare the carrying
value of inventories to their respective net realisable values based
on latest market prices and current economic conditions. A
considerable amount of judgement is required in determining such
allowance. If conditions which have an impact on the net realisable
value of inventories deteriorate/improve, additional allowances/
reversal of allowances already made may be required.

The carrying amount of inventories as at 31st December, 2021
was HK$127,177,000 (net of allowance for inventories of
HK$2,155,000) (2020: HK$143,471,000 (net of allowance for
inventories of HK$2,071,000)).
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Deferred tax asset

As at 31 December 2021, deferred tax assets of HK$9,542,000
(2020: HK$9,172,000) and HK$60,185,000 (2020: nil) in relation to
unused tax losses and the deductible temporary difference arising
from the impairment of property, plant and equipment have been
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position,
respectively. No deferred tax asset has been recognised on the tax
losses and deductible temporary difference of HK$78,705,000
(2020: HK$18,961,000) and HK$179,893,000 (2020: nil),
respectively, due to the unpredictability of future profit streams of
certain subsidiaries of the Group. The realisability of the deferred
tax assets mainly depends on whether sufficient future profits or
taxable temporary differences will be available in the future, which
is a key source of estimation uncertainty, especially the uncertainty
on the market condition, the success of obtaining the approval
from the relevant government bureau for the renewal of licences
after completion of the change to gas-fuel boilers in order to
resume the production relating to the containerboard segment,
and the expected sales volume of the containerboard segment after
resumption of production. In cases where the actual future taxable
profits generated are less or more than expected, or change in facts
and circumstances which result in revision of future taxable profits
estimation, a material reversal or further recognition of deferred tax
assets may arise, which would be recognised in profit or loss for the
period in which such a reversal or further recognition takes place.
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TEHASHE o (WPTE £ B AR RERT
m Al DR R A TEER &%%&Fﬁm
BB 1 R 2R FE SR AR A 2 B ETHEF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

GEMBRRME (F)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER 2027

i’,t’Aii»i *\t“" “H=7 ’u‘f‘s"*\

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WmkoaBER
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with BEFEHAREN D IF
customers
An analysis of the Group's revenue by type of goods is as follows: AEFIREREBNWEROTET :
2021 2020
—E_—F —ETH
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHETT
Sales of containerboard R IHE 107,268 442,094
Sales of corrugated packaging R BEIHEE 648,335 598,275
755,603 1,040,369
The Group applies the practical expedient that information AEBRERAERETE L BROER
regarding the transaction prices allocated to the remaining EPRTEABRABEENRSERD
performance obligation for contracts with customers is not B ARG R EBHIR DR —
disclosed as the original expected duration of the contracts is less F A TIHE -
than one year.
Segment information 72 EE R
The Group’s manufacturing operations are located in the PRC. NER 7 BIE R NP E o
The Group's operations are organised based on the type of REE v EZBDIRERERNE D - L&
products. Information reported to the executive directors of the B EE&.%HE“*B%%EEWK AIAITE
Company, being the chief operating decision maker (“CODM"), EANXELERKEE([ETEEEREK
for the purpose of resource allocation and assessment of segment 1) %i&Zﬁﬂﬂﬁéu‘%iﬁﬁJ“ﬁ ViN
performance is analysed based on the type of products. No EEZAR2BROE WEZETELZER
operating segments identified by CODM have been aggregated in FEEHAINLCEDIES Ei&
arriving at the reportable segments of the Group.
Specifically, the Group’s reportable and operating segments are HEREmME  ANEE A 2®|MREEE D
categorised into the manufacture and sale of: AN RARERIEE
e Containerboard - corrugating medium and linerboard o FRIRAR— RAS DA RS
e Corrugated packaging - corrugated paper boards and carton e HREBE-RBRRIAR
boxes
Information regarding the above segments is reported below. LMDz ERZFHRMR T -
AN



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBBRRKE (E)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2021

BEr—E——Ff - A=+—HIFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. W&EKkoEER @
(Continued)
Segment information (Continued) 2 EER )
Segment revenues and results 7B R E A
The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue and results by AR Bl e o] 2o el 5 2 AE
operating and reportable segments: e REE DT
For the year ended 31st December, 2021 B2 —F——F+_HA=+—HIFE
Corrugated Segment
Containerboard Packaging total Eliminations Consolidated
BRE REa% At K &
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
TR THT THR TR TR
REVENUE g
External sales HIMEE 107,268 648,335 755,603 - 755,603
Inter-segment sales DHEEE 227,148 - 227,148 (227,148) -
Total Fh 334,416 648,335 982,751 (227,148) 755,603
RESULT S|
Segment (loss) profit AE(ER) 7B (462,370) 14,602 (447,768) - (447,768)
Central administrative expenses B RITHIR (22,829)
Finance costs BITRR (8,440)
Loss before taxation RAEA (479,036)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
BEMBRRME (&)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2021

ﬁbAf"\,'f f,‘:/*/—,fr /__//,/f,‘:‘f
REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WEKRFHER @
(Continued)
Segment information (Continued) 2 EER )
Segment revenues and results (Continued) N ,%/ﬂ/ﬁ? & EEE)
For the year ended 31st December, 2020 BE_FE_FTFEF_H="1—HIFE
Corrugated Segment
Containerboard Packaging total Eliminations Consolidated
R nipas% HE s 4 Ha
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL THT THT THT THL
REVENUE g
External sales HIMEE 442,09 598,275 1,040,369 - 1,040,369
Inter-segment sales AHmEHE 263,019 - 263,019 (263,019) =
Total @it 705,113 598,275 1,303,388 (263,019) 1,040,369
RESULT E3
Segment profit A 24,584 19,037 43,621 - 43621
Central administrative expenses R R1THF X (28,305)
Finance costs HBRA (8813)
Profit before taxation e 6,503
The accounting policies adopted in preparing the reportable REIRE/MHOAERBREABA 2 E@THER
segment information are the same as the Group's accounting AR FE3FTH 2 AL E 2 FTBURAR ©
policies described in note 3.
Segment (loss) profit represents the (loss incurred) profit earned by DI (ER) BRI (FAIELEZ
each segment without allocation of central administrative expenses BB FTREZ FIHE - BRDBLH RT
and finance costs. This is the measure reported to the CODM for B RMBRAR - T ASEERR
the purposes of resources allocation and performance assessment. FEREMERSETBELERREZH
% o
Inter-segment sales are charged at prevailing market rates. DEBHEEE IS RIBITMERH ©
No revenue from any single customer contributed over 10% of the RAEFER  HETRE—RFE 2K
total revenue of the Group for both years. B REBRAEE K ETE10% °
AEREBEIERBRAR o ZT_—FFH 113



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REBMBHRRME (E)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2021

BE—E——FEf ==t —HIEEF

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WERDIER @
(Continued)
Segment information (Continued) 2 EER )
Other segment information H 5= jéf#//
For the year ended 31st December, 2021 %é_—z;_ T —FF - H=+—HILFE
Amounts included in the measurement of segment profit or loss: HESIF B EEERE Y S5
Corrugated
Containerboard packaging Total
FE AL REE% #st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT TET THET
Interest income WA (643) (2.291) (2,934)
Depreciation of property, ME BERSEINE
plant and equipment 77,204 8,834 86,038
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FCREEECTE 1,212 7,872 9,084
Impairment loss on property, M- BERZELZ
plant and equipment BIEEE 420,634 - 420,634
For the year ended 31st December, 2020 BER—_E_FTEf A=A —HIFE
Amounts included in the measurement of segment profit: HESHAEEAE S
Corrugated
Containerboard packaging Total
AR 4K BB st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FET
Interest income HEWA (1,301) (783) (2,084)
Depreciation of property, ME BERZEBTE
plant and equipment 74,054 9,073 83,127
Depreciation of right-of-use assets TREEECHE 1,471 7,147 8,618
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5.

(Continued)

Segment information (Continued)

Geographical information

The following table sets out information about (i) the Group's
revenue from external customers by location of delivery destination
of the goods and (ii) the Group’s non-current assets by location of

REUMBERRMWE ()
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2021

Fhm—— el — = | 4E fEF
EE—F F1TZH="1T—"HILFZ

Wz ko EHER @

o EE R (@)

Hh [iZ ZFY
TERHINABOEEBRREIXAFED
B 2 INRE B S RN EEIRE
EREHEED 2 ERBDEEZER

assets:
Revenue from
external customers Non-current assets
HREF Kz FRBEE
2021 2020 2021 2020
—EI - ZEZTF ZZEBE--F ZZEZTF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FHETT TET FET
PRC H 755,603 1,040,369 945,634 1,378,068
Hong Kong B - - 17,808 18,828
Macau P - - 1,371 1,479
Philippines JEEE - = 188,337 165,022
755,603 1,040,369 1,153,150 1,563,397
Segment assets and liabilities DEHEEREE

The measure of the segment reporting of the Group reported to
the CODM for the purpose of resources allocation and performance
assessment does not include any assets and liabilities. Accordingly,

no segment assets and liabilities are presented.

AERERRERREFERNIEREK
BREHE 2 B2 AR B 7 3 S B I 5T
AEREERBE - Bt - WEZ55
MEERAE-

SEEZERABRAR o T - —FFHR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBBRRKE (E)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2021
BE—F——F1+—_A=1+—HIFEF

6. OTHER INCOME H AW A

2021 2020
—E-—F ZEERF
HK$’000 HK$'000
THT FET

Other income includes: HEabW A B HE
Interest income F B U A 2,934 2,084
Scrap sales RE mm tH & 227 701
Service income iz 7 U A 9,903 11,887
Sundry income (note) I (P 3E) 4,832 8,381
17,896 23,053

Note: For the year ended 31st December, 2021, COVID-19 related government
grants amounted to HK$191,000 (2020: HK$842,000) was received and
recognised in the profit or loss.

e BE2E—E——F+-_A=+—HILFE "
B W E|COVID- 1948 B8 B AT #5 51191,0007%
TL(ZZT =4 : 842,000/ L) * W8

oA ©
7. OTHER EXPENSES HMAx
2021 2020
—E-—fF ZEZETF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TH T FAET
Other PRC taxes H AR B A IR 6,168 7,527
Depreciation e 10,432 8,105
Legal and professional fees FRREEER 2,026 1,600
Others HAh 4,255 4,185
22,881 21,417
8. FINANCE COSTS B 7% R AR
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTH T TAT
Interest on bank borrowings RITEEZHME 8,255 8,507
Interest on lease liabilities HERBZFE 185 306
8,440 8,813
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

GEMBERHE (&)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2021

INCOME TAX (CREDIT) EXPENSE FEH (ER)HEX

2021 2020
—E-—F ZEETF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FiET FHET

Current tax: BVEAR 18 -
Hong Kong Profits Tax BEBNIEH 485 1,202
PRC Enterprise Income Tax R PTG 1,539 638
Macau Complementary Tax R P 6 78 A0 68 =
2,092 1,840
Deferred tax (note 24) RIAEFLIA (fF5E24) (58,341) 3,300
(56,249) 5,140

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of Hong Kong Profit
Tax, the first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying group entity
will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million will be
taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group entities not qualifying for the
two-tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed at a
flat rate of 16.5%. Accordingly, the Hong Kong Profits Tax of the
qualifying group entity is calculated at 8.25% on the first HK$2
million of the estimated assessable profits and at 16.5% on the
estimated assessable profits above HK$2 million.

For the year ended 31st December, 2021, a portion of the Group'’s
profits is earned by a Macau subsidiary of the Group, which is
subject to Macau Complementary Tax at a rate of 12% on the
assessable income exceeding MOP600,000.

For the year ended 31st December, 2020, a portion of the Group’s
profits was earned by the Macau subsidiaries of the Group
incorporated under the Macau SAR’s Offshore Law. Pursuant to the
Macau SAR’s Offshore Law, such portion of profits was exempted
from Macau complementary tax, which was then at 12% of the
profits. Further, in the opinion of the directors of the Company,
that portion of the Group’s profit was not at present subject to
taxation in any other jurisdiction in which the Group operates.

Under the law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law")
and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the
PRC subsidiaries is 25% for both years. One of the Company’s PRC
subsidiaries was awarded with the High and New-Tech Enterprise
and entitled to preferential rate of 15% for the Group’s financial
years ended 31st December, 2021 and 31st December, 2020.

BREEZBFNERMESFESHES &
BB T 2 2 2,000,000/ 7T A 15
18.25% 2 Tt = BF » i #8#82,000,000
BT 2 m A B H216.5% & Bt BEFL o 1
HEMRFFESHEFNEL 2 EEBE
BE 2R A A HE B 1216.5% 2 & — Fi R
oAl AEBREBERZEBNE
TR0z (A5 FE R B s A1 552,000,000 7T
Z825%=T & « M fl At FE SR i A 2 48
2,000,000 7 BI1%16.5%51 & o

HE-_E-—F+-A=1+—HIFE
ANEE R FE TR A S E 2RI H B
A FTHREY - AR AR E600,0008 9 T2
JE SRR U AR 12 % B 4038 P 7 FE A

HE_T-ZTF+-_A=1+—HIHF
[ AEEEHFBHAEERER
PYF BI 1T R G B 0 122 R A AL 2 BB P
B /B X B FT BREX » AR B P4 BT T B
B AR ZBH B E AR
Fe 8t (B RFIRFE 2 12%E00) © b -
ARREBRE  BAIAEBEZIH
HINB AR A KBS EEZ A EM
RIATE B BN -

BEFECEMSHE(EMBH
5] RS ESEAE ARG - S BK
BRRZMERMEEENB25% ° A
AW —EFEHBARRAEEEE
- F+-_A=+t—HKZ=_EZE_F
F+ A=+t BHULUBFEAZES
FRT S ZE15% M EETR -

BEEBEERBRAR o« —T_—FFH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
meEMBEEME (E)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2021

BE—F——F+=—H= IFFE
9. INCOME TAX (CREDIT) EXPENSE (Continued) 9. FIBHR(EL)FEXmW
The tax (credit) charge for the year can be reconciled to the (loss) FEME (R AT HAGA B REMm
profit before taxation per the consolidated statement of profit or FHERERFRE A (B518) FE 2 HER
loss and other comprehensive income as follows: mnR
2021 2020
—E-—F —E_FF
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET T
(Loss) profit before taxation Al (E518) F)E (479,036) 6,503
Tax at Hong Kong Profits Tax rate of BEBNEHE16.5%
16.5% (2020:16.5%) —ZE-TF 16.5%)
SAEZBIA (79,041) 1,073
Tax effect of income not taxable BERBRAZ R 2
for tax purpose (3,498) (235)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible TAMBRAX 2 G E
for tax purpose 7,231 3,017
Tax effect of deductible temporary RERATEINEREEZR 2
difference not recognised g2 29,682 =
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERBIIAEE 2 T & 9,556 —
Effect of tax different tax rate of the PR B A RBENR 8
PRC subsidiaries (20,014) 1,450
Income tax at concessionary rate EEERGNBFTER (165) (165)
Income tax (credit) expense for the year FEMEH (KR A (56,249) 5,140
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
BEMBRRME (&)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2021

BE—F——F+_HA=F+—HIFE
10. (LOSS) PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 10. £E (FE) 7E
2021 2020
—E-—F ZEETF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHT
(Loss) profit for the year has been arrived at 4F & (f518) FBE 1k (GTA)
after charging (crediting): T5I& 18 :
Depreciation of property, plant and M- BERREBZITE
equipment 86,038 83,127
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEEZTE 9,084 8,618
Total depreciation reE@s 95,122 91,745
Less: Amount included in cost of inventories 8 : st ABER AR Y 2 FE
recognised as expenses KA & 58 (76,191) (75,022)
18,931 16,723
Staff costs BIRA
Directors’ emoluments (note 11) E=Me (FFeE11) 14,692 15,921
Other staff HmET
— salaries and other allowances — Fr e M Hfb)ERL 61,397 84,407
— retirement benefit scheme contributions — RIKEFIEHEI R 12,087 6,346
— share-based payments — AR Z 2 2 116 526
88,292 107,200
Less: Amount included in cost of inventories & : st AR AR X 27 E
recognised as expenses A& 58 (38,615) (53,698)
49,677 53,502
Impairment loss recognised on property, EREASIZWME  BER
plant and equipment as expenses wE 2 REEE GTAHE
(included in cost of sales) B 7R) 420,634 =
Net reversal of impairment loss recognised ~ FEEf(Z EE1EHE X N HER
under expected credit loss model BB B FE (1,817) =
Auditor’s remuneration ZERD BN & 2,153 1,815
Gain on liquidation of subsidiaries M A RER 2 W
(included in other gains and losses) (GtAH AW = K EE) (5,771) =
Cost of inventories recognised as expenses  #&32 /& 51 2 17 & A 706,480 912,500
Exchange gain, net b 5 W e - HEE (6,345) (4,048)
Gain on disposal of property, plant and HEE - HE REH KR E
equipment (677) (4)
BUEEERAERAT o —E-—FF8® 119



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBBRRKE (E)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2021
BE—F——F1+—_A=1+—HIFEF

11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S MNEERFETBRAEMER

120
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EMOLUMENTS AND EMPLOYEES’ & & M
EMOLUMENTS
Directors ==
Other emoluments
Hivip <
Retirement
Salaries benefit Share-
and other scheme based 2021
Fees benefits contributions payments Total
&K BREN URHZST Z=ZE=—-%
ik Hit g7 FTEIMR ZX okl
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAR TiER TERT TART TR
Executive directors: HITEE :
Mr. Hui Sum Ping ARTEE - 6,890 18 54 6,962
Mr. Hui Sum Tai TRREE - 6,513 18 54 6,585
Ms. Hui Yuen Li (note) Iz L (FisE) - 49 1 54 561
Independent non-executive directors: BV HEHTTEE :
Mr. Chee Man Sang, Eric MRERE 187 - - 7 194
Mr. Wong Chu Leung ERkm it 187 - 7 194
Mr. Chau Suk Ming FEREAEE 187 - - 196
561 13,899 56 176 14,692
Other emoluments
HioM&
Retirement
Salaries benefit Share-
and other scheme based 2020
Fees benefits  contributions payments Total
Hek RNER  UBRHEZR Z2Z%F
we HAiEH FTEI R X ks
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT FTHT THET AT FTHET
Executive directors: HiTEE:
Mr. Hui Sum Ping FRERE - 6,890 18 250 7,158
Mr. Hui Sum Tai THRREE - 6,513 18 250 6,781
Ms. Hui Yuen Li (note) SR At (P aE) - 1,082 18 250 1,350
Independent non-executive directors: BV #HTEE -
Mr. Chee Man Sang, Eric MRERE 187 - - 31 218
Mr. Wong Chu Leung Akt 187 - - 31 218
Mr. Chau Suk Ming A% & 187 - 9 = 196
561 14,485 63 812 15,921
Note: Ms. Hui Yuen Li resigned as an executive director of the Company on 3rd it FEAZETER_SE=-_—F//\A=ZAFT
August, 2021. RABRITE SR



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S

EMOLUMENTS AND EMPLOYEES’
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

Directors (Continued)

Mr. Hui Sum Tai is also the Chief Executive of the Company and his
emoluments disclosed above include those for services rendered by
him as the Chief Executive.

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their
services in connection with the management of the affairs of the
Company and Group and the independent non-executive directors’
emoluments shown were for their services as directors of the
Company. During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group
to these directors as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group or as compensation for loss of office and no director waived
any emoluments.

Employees

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the
Group, two (2020: three) were directors of the Company whose
emoluments are set out above. The emoluments of the three (2020:
two) individuals for the year ended 31st December, 2021 amounted
to HK$2,325,000 (2020: HK$2,193,000), representing salaries and
other benefits of HK$2,163,000 (2020: HK$1,657,000), retirement
benefits scheme contributions of HK$54,000 (2020: HK$36,000)
and share-based payment of HK$108,000 (2020: HK$500,000),
for their services rendered to the Group. For the year ended 31st
December, 2021, emoluments paid to the three (2020: two)
individuals fell under the band of HK$nil to HK$1,000,000 (2020:
HK$1,000,000 to HK$1,500,000).

11.

GEMBERHE (&)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2021

BEERFETHRAEMER
& E & )
=4¢ )

MARFAENMR/ARFEIZTHAR
REXFEEZHMEERRENETE
TRABRUREHAZERE2HME -

EXFRORTEEME I ESHETE
ARRRARBEBHREME - IR
MBYIEATTEEME DRFERAR
RAEEMREHERENME - FR - ALK
EfEXNEAME THEFEFERR
BEMASEREMAREE Z )<
SIEREBERMES  TEEFREML
< -

==

AEBRAUGSHMALE  HBmu
ZET ) RARAIESE  FBE
ZEHEHER EXHEHIN -HEZT = —F
+TZA=T—HLEFEE -#T=((=
T TF  WAL) AL 2B& 52,325,000
Bt (T T4 2,193,000 L) °
BIEREERNAEBREREIZEEZ
Fe M HEMEF2,163,0008 L (ZFE =
T4 ¢ 1,657,000/ 70)  RAIKTE F EHE
H3X54,000/8 7L (ZZ =ZZF 4 : 36,000
S TT) R AR 9 43 2 7 108,000/ 7T
(T - T4 : 500,000/ 7T) - &HZE—
T-—F+-_A=+—HIEFEE T
F=pA(ZE=FF W) AT ZES
N FZ 7 £ 21,000,000 TAER (==
— T4 : 1,000,000 7T £=1,500,000/%
JL) °

SEEZERABRAR o T - —FFHR
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NOTESTOTHECONSOUDATEDFWANCMLSTATEMENTS(CONﬂNUEQ
meEMBEEME (E)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2021

= —F— A — = ==
24 = FT _HA=7T HILF/R

12. DIVIDENDS

No dividend was declared or proposed for the years ended 31st
December, 2021 and 31st December, 2020, nor has any dividend
been proposed since the end of the reporting period.

13. (LOSS) EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted (loss) earnings per share
attributable to the owners of the Company is based on the
following data:

12.

13.

iz 5

BE-—F-—%+-A=+—AR-F
—EE A=t -ALFEUEER
SLERRE - & B BRI R BRI
B -

Bk (GR) &R

RRREEANRBEERERNET (&
18) BRI RAT 8IBAE

2021 2020
—E-—F —ET-TH
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHxT FAT
(Loss) earnings (E18) &BF
(Loss) earnings for the purposes of basic ATEEREARREE
and diluted (loss) earnings per share (B518) BF z (BiE) &BF (422,787) 1,363
2021 2020
—E-—F —T-EF
Number of shares R E
Weighted average number of ordinary FESRERREE
shares for the purpose of basic and (BE) BF 2@k miE
diluted (loss) earnings per share 8 817,644,000 817,644,000

The computation of diluted (loss) earnings per share for the year
ended 31st December, 2021 and 31st December, 2020 did not
assume the exercise of the Company’s share options as the exercise
price of these options was higher than the average market price for
shares for both 2021 and 2020.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
BEMBRRME (&)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2021

A2 —E——F —HA="1—HIFE
14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. % BERRKRE
Furniture, Plant,
Factory Leasehold fixtures machinery Construction
premises [and and Leaschold ~ and office and Motor in
in the PRC buildings  improvements  equipment  equipment vehicles progress Total

HEtly  WENE GR-RER HRE 88
RERR FgF RE  WOERE Eite nE ERIE it
HKS000  HK$000  HKFOOD  HKS'000  HKSOOD  HKS'000  HKS000  HK$'000
Tin TiEn TAR Tin Tk ThR Tk Tk

cost B
At 1t January, 2020 “2-%%-H-H 444093 23016 73,861 18667 1,715613 14,542 397 229,189
Exchange adjustments B A% 25,567 8 3310 608 9,237 33 m 122413
Additions ER 8718 270 85 639 12,492 n 6,479 29472
Reclassification ENAE - - 2,809 = = = (2,809) =
Disposals L& - - - (40) 81) = - (121)
At3stDecember, 2020 —E-FF

tZA=1-H 478378 23372 80,892 19874 1,820,261 14,887 4289 2441953
Exchange adjustments ERAZ 18,614 380 2,491 444 67,371 233 40 89,953
Additions ER - - 1,951 105 11,337 - 19,580 32973
Redlassification B8 - - = - 6,157 = (6,157) =
Disposals 3 - - (9,490) (1,979) (40,465) (567) - (52,500)
At31st December, 2021 ZE=—%

tZA=1-H 496,99 3752 75,844 18445 1,864,661 14,553 18132 2512379
DEPRECIATION AND WEREE

IMPAIRMENT

At 1st January, 2020 “2-%%-A-H 216,893 389 58,709 15,561 639,818 12,108 - 946,985
Exchange adjustments A% 12,687 5 2,575 474 31,375 29 - 47459
Provided for the year EEERE 17,775 92 5415 601 57,160 1,194 - 83127
Himinated on disposals ~~ Hi & Bzt - - - (40) (40) - = (80)
At31stDecember, 2000 —Z=ZE

t-A=1-H 247355 4930 66,699 16,59 728313 13,598 - 07749
Exchange adjustments AR 9,624 19 1979 353 24011 01 - 36,207
Provided for the year FEhh 18,945 1,718 5,985 620 57825 945 - 86,038
Impaiment loss recognised ~ RNEZERZHESE

in profit or loss - - - - 420,634 - - 420,634

Himinated on disposals ~ Hi & By - - (9,490) (1,979) 40,162) (567) - (52,197)
At31st December, 2021 —E=—F

tZA=1-H 275,924 6,667 65,173 15,591 1,190,621 14,197 - 1568173
CARRYING VALUES REE
M 31stDecember, 2021  —F=—%

t-R=1-H 221,068 17,085 10,671 2,854 674,040 356 18,132 944,206
At31stDecember, 2000 —Z=ZE

t-A=1-H 23103 18,44 14,193 3278 1,091,948 1,89 4289 1364462
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The above items of property, plant and equipment, other than
construction in progress, are depreciated on a straight-line basis at
the following rates per annum:
Factory premises in the PRC 4% or remaining lease term of
the land element, if shorter
4% or remaining lease term of
the land element, if shorter

Leasehold land and buildings

Leasehold improvements 20%
Furniture, fixtures and office 10%
equipment

Plant, machinery and equipment 3,% -33',%
Motor vehicles 20%

Impairment assessment

During the year ended 31st December, 2021, the annual inspection
of the licences of three coal-fuel boilers of a factory of the Group
expired in mid-October 2021 have been delayed due to the
consideration of the environmental policies of the local government
regarding the prohibited zone where the factory is located. The
Company has temporarily suspended the production operation
of the factory since October 2021. The directors of the Company
consider that the temporary suspension of production relating to
the containerboard segment was not due to any violation of laws
or regulations, but in itself a voluntary action taken by the Group.
During the period of temporary suspension of production, the
Group continues to coordinate with the local government for the
annual inspection procedures of the licences for the coal-fuel boilers
to resume production and in parallel to resume the project to
change its boilers from coal-fuel boilers to gas-fuel boilers pursuant
to the environmental policies of the local government that was
cancelled by the management of the Group in last year considering
the fact that the Group has renewed the licences of the coal-fuel
boilers, the coal-fuel boilers have met the ultra-low emission
standards as required by the relevant policies set by the government
of the Guangdong Province, and, with reference to legal advice,
the environmental policies of the local government regarding the
prohibited zone was invalid and not applicable to the Group at
that time and no law or regulations having concrete timetable for
existing coal-fuel boiler to change to use clean energy. As at 31st
December, 2021, the Group has committed to the project for the
change from coal-fuel boilers to gas-fuel boilers. Up to the date
these consolidated financial statements are authorised for issue,
the Group has engaged a supplier and entered into a contract to
carry out the project for the works to change to gas-fuel boilers and
assist the Group in completing the annual inspection procedures of
the licences for the boilers. The directors of the Company expect
the works to change to gas-fuel boilers will be completed and the
approval from the relevant government bureau for the renewal of
licences will be obtained in order to resume the production relating
to the containerboard segment in 2023.
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Impairment assessment (Continued)

Due to the suspension of production relating to the containerboard
segment as a result of the delay in the annual inspection
of the licences of the boilers, and its unfavourable financial
performance during the current year, the management of the
Group concluded that there were indicators for impairment and
conducted impairment assessment on the cash-generating unit of
containerboard segment which included certain property, plant
and equipment and right-of-use assets with carrying amounts of
HK$913,296,000 and HK$20,131,000, respectively, as at 31st
December, 2021. The Group estimates the recoverable amounts of
the cash-generating unit to which the assets belong when it is not
possible to estimate the recoverable amount of the relevant assets
individually based on a value-in-use calculation.

The recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit of
containerboard segment has been determined based on its value in
use. The Group estimates the value in use of the cash-generating
unit using a pre-tax discount rate of 18.7%. The relevant assets
with carrying amount before the impairment of HK$1,354,061,000
were impaired to their recoverable amount of HK$933,427,000
which is the carrying values at year end and the impairment of
HK$420,634,000 has been recognised in profit or loss within the
relevant function to which these assets relate during the current
year.

The value-in-use calculation determining the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit to which the property, plant and
equipment belong to, is the present value of the future cash flows
the Group expected to arise from the cash generating unit. The
future cash flow projection is based on financial budgets approved
by the management of the Group covering the following 5 years
with a pre-tax discount rate of 18.7% as at 31st December, 2021.
The cash flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using
2.0% growth rate. Other key assumptions for the value in use
calculated are (i) the success of obtaining the approval from the
relevant government bureau for the renewal of licences after
completion of the change to gas-fuel boilers in order to resume the
production relating to the containerboard segment; (ii) the expected
sales volume of the containerboard segment of 288,000 tonnes
per year after resumption of production; and (i) budgeted gross
margin.

BB R (@)
mﬁkzﬁﬁﬁﬁfﬁﬁmﬁiﬂ”iﬁg%ﬂ&

W Ep = F&zﬁifﬁﬁ%?&iﬁﬂivﬁ
%lafi BRERED B2 REEE

14(@?%?_?:*¢+_ﬂ_+*
BEREESD B A913,296,0008 T &
20,131,0008 L 2/ T~ BB &&
HBUARGEAEEE) HEREDR I #E
TREFE EREBEERAEBEEFETK

ARE BB HArHBEEEM K E £ 58
B AEBGEEMBREELEEN
§ A U B & &8 o

MIRE DB SEEE LKA K E
CHERBETHABEET - A&H
FR18.7%M AT AR XM R E
EBENNFEREE - REMNEAES
1,354,061,0008 TR HEEEEE REZR
H AT U B 4 58933,427,00078 7T » BIRA
RZBREE @ M R1E420,634,000/8 TE
RAFEEZEEERBIEANER
PR o

BEEWE BEERREBEENRESES
BB SENEREESERR
‘ilz”ﬁiﬁﬁﬁﬁééﬁﬁé\ﬁciﬁﬁﬁcimﬂix
im%ﬂ’ﬁﬁ@ )J’/\_y_*ﬂ5+ )E]
=+t—HB ARBEEREEANENAE
[ E 12 8 4t ) R RSF B S TR B IR B
B BE 3R E18.7% 5T & - #8 1B5F M &Y
REMEEA20%EREHEE - 5HE(E
FAE (B /Y E b 78 52 R 5% /()58 B 25 A A
RIMERKBSHEBARNE Bt ESE
ERR PR AR AR 4K 2 BRI IE AR 5 (i)FB
RS HRIMEEEENTEHEESTF
288,000 ¢ K (iii)JRE ER|= o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

AN
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=

RN T (F)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2021

Az —5F —

Fr—HA=7T—HIFFE

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Impairment assessment (Continued)

If the discount rate was changed to 19.7%, while other parameters
remain constant, the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit of containerboard segment would be reduced to
HK$865,746,000 and a further impairment of the cash-generating
unit of containerboard segment of HK$68,170,000 would be
recognised.

If the sales volume of the containerboard segment after resumption
of production was decreased by 5%, while other parameters remain
constant, the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit of
containerboard segment would be reduced to HK$831,115,000 and
a further impairment of the cash-generating unit of containerboard
segment of HK$102,801,000 would be recognised.

15. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

14. ¥ BERRE @

BB R (@)

MBE IR RN B19.7% » M E b 2B+
T MIREDHBRESEEEMA AT
O] & 58 % 8 > 2£865,746,00078 7T * 81R
MoBRSEEBMNBERE—PRE
68,170,000 7T,

imAE IR 4K 2 SRR IE EEE R B SH =R
5% MEMBEEFTE  HRED
BRI IR S E A BALR AT W E S B R
831,115,000/ T R AR 4K D FIR S =
A B RE R — 2P R (102,801,000
BT

15. EREEE

Leasehold Leased
lands properties Total
e+ i HEWE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET
As at 31st December, 2021 R-B-—F
t=A=t—H
Carrying amount REE 21,559 9,881 31,440
As at 31st December, 2020 R-ZEB-=F
+=B=+—H
Carrying amount RMEE 21,293 7,799 29,092
For the year ended BE-ZE-—F
31st December, 2021 TZA=+—BLFE
Depreciation charge EEH 585 8,499 9,084
For the year ended BE-_Z_ZF
31st December, 2020 +=ZBA=+—HILEE
Depreciation charge EEMA 542 8,076 8,618
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16.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

GERMBHERRME (F)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2021

ﬁbAf"\,'f f,‘:/*/—,fr /__//,/f,‘:‘f
RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued) 15. FRAEEE @

Year ended Year ended

31.12.2021 31.12.2020

BE-2_--% HBE=-_ZT_FTF

+=—A=+—-H +=—A=+—H

IEEE EFE

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FAT

Expenses related to short-term leases HEHAEEFENRY - 239

Total cash outflow for leases HERSRHERE 8,671 8,232

Additions to right-of-use assets WINFREEE 10,249 7,329
For both years, the Group leases certain warehouse and ancillary MEN NEBAELEHEETAE
office properties for its operations. Lease contracts are entered into K@ A YE - HEAGLYNABEEE A

with fixed monthly lease payments for fixed term of 1 to 2 years.
Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a
wide range of different terms and conditions.

In addition, the Group owns several industrial buildings where its
manufacturing facilities are primarily located and office buildings.
The Group is the registered owner of these property interests,
including the underlying leasehold lands. Lump sum payments were
made upfront to acquire these property interests. The leasehold
land components of these owned properties are presented
separately only if the payments made can be allocated reliably.

As at 31st December, 2021, included in the Group's right-of-use
assets is HK$1,359,000 (2020: HK$1,370,000) prepayments under
processing arrangement which represents the prepaid amount for
land use rights.

HENKRETYL BHRETEAE—ZEMF -
TEHERERERE EhE  Tes8E
R B R B AG 1 o

o AEBEEETEERLERE
AN TEETNRFE AKER
EZ%%%F“*(’EEWE%%EEiﬁE) B Rt
MEB A o SEAEL —RIENFIAYK
BT EER - @Eﬁﬁi‘iﬁﬁ’]mlﬁ HE
AN ZFEEMENHEELH
WA RAIEBZT -

R-_EBE-_—F+_-_A=+—H £5E
z&m%%ﬁm 451,359,000/ 7T (=
T - F 4 : 1,370,000 7T) 2 ML HE
A AL ERECES S -

INVENTORIES 16. &

2021 2020
—s-—F T F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHxT FHET
Raw materials R4 95,820 95,152
Work in progress R m 9 317
Finished goods BIRK o 31,348 48,002
127,177 143,471

AEEEERERAR o T —FFIR



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
GEMBRRME (FH)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2021

BE—F——Ff+ _A=+—HIFEF
17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 17. EZ RHEHMEWRFIE

2021 2020

—E-—F ZEETF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FE T FET

Trade receivables Z 5 eI RIE 102,709 192,473
Less: allowance for credit losses W EEEERE (1,076) (3,108)

101,633 189,365

Other receivables (note) E th i Yo zioE (B aE) 11,071 10,690

Total trade and other receivables B 5 K E MK GIEAREE 112,704 200,055
Note: As at 31st December, 2021, balance included an advance to Batangas iz - R=ZZBE=-—F+=-_A=+—H &8
Paper Corporation (“Batangas”) an independent third party to the Group, BB FAEB 2% % = FBatangas
amounting to HK$9,108,000 (2020: HK$9,061,000), which is unsecured, Paper Corporation ([ Batangas |) 2 FX 18
interest-free and repayable on demand. 9,108,000/ 7t (==& —Z 4 : 9,061,000
BT BEERBEAEER 2B RBR

TREFEE -

The Group allows credit periods ranging from 5 to 120 days to REBETEHEFESE21208ZEEH -
its trade customers which may be extended to selected trade BAUBREBESECESRFEASEE 2 E
customers depending on their trade volume and history of SERBAENFKEHEN TUERZEE
settlement with the Group. The following is an aged analysis of Bl o 3| ARHREHARENZZHE (HE
trade receivables net of allowance for credit losses presented based ZSEZWHERBEHEL) HREEE
on the invoice dates, which approximates the respective revenue BEEEMRY 2 E 5 EINEIE Z Rk

recognition dates, at the end of the reporting period: DT

2021 2020

—E-—F —ETF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FAT

Within 30 days 30BN 100,268 175,169

31 - 60 days 31£260H 636 13,565

61 - 90 days 61£290H 378 631

Over 90 days 908 KA 351 =

101,633 189,365
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As at 31st December, 2021, total bills received amounting to
HK$1,178,000 (2020: HK$1,723,000) are held by the Group for
future settlement of trade receivables. All bills received by the
Group are with a maturity period of less than one year.

Before accepting any new customer, the Group uses an external
litigation search to assess the potential customer’s credit quality and
defines credit limits on a customer-by-customer basis. Limits and
scoring attributed to customers are reviewed monthly.

As at 31st December, 2021, included in the Group’s trade
receivables balance are debtors with aggregate gross amount of
HK$28,845,000 (2020: HK$26,776,000) which were past due as
at the reporting date. Out of the past due balances, HK$351,000
(2020: nil) has been past due 90 days or more. The past due
amount relates to a number of independent customers that have
good trade and payment records with the Group. There has not
been a significant change in credit quality of the relevant customers
and the Group believes that the balances are still recoverable. The
Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.

The average age of these receivables is 49 days (2020: 59 days)
based on invoice dates.

Other than bills received amounting to HK$1,178,000 (2020:
HK$1,723,000), the Group does not hold any collateral over these
balances.

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other receivables are
set out in note 31.

R—E-——F+=-_A=+—H Bl
E{E4A%E1,178,000 7T (ZF T 4F ¢
1,723,000/ 70) Ty AN E#FE BIER
BENEZEBGIE - AEBEWH AT
BEEEMNISHEHAE—FRN -

ERMET BT AEESRAI
MARER  FEERBEERXFPZEER
EENAREBEEPREFERRE - EE
ZEERBLIEEET A LR -

R—ZTE=——&+=-—A=+—H A&
BvESREABLESBTRESTR
%4 528,845,000 L (ZE & F :
26,776,000 7T) 2 FEUWR FIE © 2 F R
HERHEBEAH BEafsses
351,000 L (ZE =T F : &) E 8 5
90H M £ - ZEE B FIHE S Z
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

=)
)

MEmERME (F)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2021

(2

18.

19.

HOP FUNG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS

18. BERFANRK

2021 2020
—E-—F ZEETF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Deposits for acquisition of property, BEYE BERKSE LTS
plant and machinery 131,579 128,667
Insurance prepaid B FE R 1,054 1,071
Other prepayments and other deposits HinfE s R H iR E
(note) (B &E) 48,608 44,576
181,241 174,314
Analysed into: DA
— Current assets - nBEE 3,737 4,471
— Non-current assets —FERBEE 177,504 169,843
181,241 174,314

Note:

In 2019 and 2020, the Group entered into a series of agreements with
Batangas. Pursuant to the agreements, the Group agreed to prepay start-up
funds of an aggregated amount of Renminbi (“RMB")37,520,000 (equivalent
to HK$45,924,000) (2020: RMB35,000,000 equivalent to HK$41,176,000)
as at 31st December, 2021 to Batangas to offset against the payment of the
subcontracting fee or operating fee for managing the manufacturing of the pulp
plant of the Group in Philippines which is expected to commence operation in
2023.

BANK BALANCES AND CASH

Bank balances carry interest at prevailing market rates from 0.001%
10 1.610% (2020: 0.001% to 1.600%) per annum.

Included in the carrying amount of the Group’s bank balances are
following amount denominated in currencies other than functional
currency of the relevant group entities:

BaE

RZE—NFR-ZZT_ZTF - A& E HBatangas
RN —RIE - BEZEHE  ASERE
MBatangasTE M HIa &S - RZZE=_—F+=A
=t+t—H&EHARARK ([AR%]) 37,520,000
7T (F8 & 745,924,000 L) (Z T T4 : A
R #35,000,0007T ' 48 & 741,176,0007% 7T)
NEEREEAEENRIERERHER T
CEEREZEFEREEINzoBERLR
B o

19. RITERKE S

IRITA 88 TH IR IR 1T 35 F F) %0.001%
£1610% (ZZE-ZFF :0.001% %
1.600%) 5t & °

AEBERITEBRZREERRE NI
MEBEBERZIEERE NN ERIIE
ZEE

2021 2020
—E-—F —ZETF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET T

RMB ARE 39,517 64,743
United States dollars (“USD") EZA(E V), 7,362 14,951
HK$ BIT 1,476 11,053
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

REMBRRMT (&)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2021
ﬁbAf"\,'f f,‘:/*/—,fr /__//,/17:(
20. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 20. E5 REMENRIR
2021 2020
—E-—F ZEERF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FET
Trade payables =) ANEeE 23,644 58,720
Trade payables under supplier finance BEHEEME LS
arrangements (note a) E S e A (Hita) 6,081 10,538
Payables for the acquisition of property, BEME  KE K&
plant and equipment Z IR 6,150 9,143
Other PRC tax payables JE A~ E At R B A 18 29,780 28,158
Accrued charges (note b) FEE 2 i (P 7Eb) 74,330 97,518
Other payables M E S ROE 7,248 20,777
147,233 224,854
Notes: T
(@) These relate to trade payables in which the Group has issued bills to (@) EFIFHEANEFO R ARRLEEZ 5 E
the relevant suppliers for future settlement trade payables. The Group H TAIE R EEEFEAEZEZE S E
continues to recognise these trade payables as the relevant banks are REEH ANEBEERRAZETES
obliged to make payments only on due dates of the bills, under the same E’gﬁﬁ%’(lﬁ CEAAEBBRTAREMEERS
conditions as agreed with the suppliers without further extension. 1% TE B9 A B R 12 R AR B HA B 5K
M’ — T -
(b) Major items in accrued charges are accrued salaries and wages. (b) S HEMEEHE AREAHFERTIE -

The suppliers of the Group grant credit periods ranging from 30 to
90 days. The Group has financial risk management policies in place
to ensure that all payables are within the credit time frame. The
following is an aged analysis of trade payables presented based on
the invoice due date at the end of the reporting period:

$El21ﬁﬁfﬁu?%i%EMV
BEH - ANEEF BV BRREREER

LAREGRFT B BN R Eﬁ&ﬁ%%@mﬁ
B TNHARSREHREREZINIA

HME5 282 RNRIRZRE DT -

2021 2020

:g:—qﬁ — 7 — E'E

HK$'000 HK$'000

THET T

Current BNEA 12,279 47,474

Overdue 1 to 30 days #AHE1E30H 24 1,957

Overdue 31 to 60 days #BHA31 =608 4 1,085

Overdue for more than 60 days 71 Hi60H A £ 11,337 8,204

Trade payables B 5 e /I8 23,644 58,720
SEEEERAERAA o —E_—FFH 131
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REBMBHRRME (E)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2021

BE—E——FEf ==t —HIEEF

21. LEASE LIABILITIES 21. HESE
2021 2020
—E-—F ZEETF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TH T FET
Lease liabilities payable: ERHEEEE -
Within one year —FR 9,760 7,970
Within a period of more than one R—F L EEBENBER
year but not more than two years w4 B BRfE A 305 -
10,065 7,970
Less: Amount due for settlement within B RRBAEYRZ
12 months shown under current + =@ A RE|EEE
liabilities k| (9,760) (7,970)
Amount due for settlement after 12 RIERBEBETITRZ
months shown under non-current +ToEARIHERSRE
liabilities 305 -

The weighted average incremental borrowing rates applied to lease
liabilities range from 3.0% to 5.0% (2020: 3.0% to 3.6%).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBEEME (F)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2021

BE—F——F+_HA=F+—HIFE
22. UNSECURED BANK BORROWINGS 22. BERRTEER
Unsecured bank borrowings comprise: ERIRITEERRE
2021 2020
Effective interest rate HK$'000 HK$ 000
B = FET T
Bank loans RITEMN 1.10% to 4.89%
(2020: 1.63% to 5.46%) 226,879 282,614
1.10%%24.89%
ZEZTF  1.63%E5.46%)
2021 2020
—B-—F —T_FF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTET T
Carrying amount repayable*: FEEEREE"
Within one year —F R 36,928 80,718
More than one year, —F LA ETBIBMRE
but not exceeding two years 14,688 38,235
More than two years, MEL BT BIBERF
but not exceeding five years 105,263 105,883
156,879 224,836
Carrying amount of bank loans that BERERER KR
contain a repayment on demand clause (RmeaEylR) &
(shown under current liabilities) and FEE’\ ¢W1 R
repayable within one year RITERCREE 70,000 57,778
226,879 282,614
Less: Amount due within one year shown & : RRENBEHIRZ
under current liabilities —FRNE 5 (106,928) (138,496)
Amounts due after one year shown as RIERBEEIRZ
non-current liabilities —FIRE e 119,951 144,118
= The amounts due are based on scheduled repayment dates set out in the Z BB BRBHERERBEZEEE
loan agreements. TFENAHERE -
As at 31st December, 2021 and 31st December, 2020, the R - —F+-_A=+—HBE-_ZT—

unsecured bank borrowings carry interest

exposing the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. The interest rates
are linked to Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate (“HIBOR”) and

PRC Loan Prime Rate (“LPR").

at floating rates, thus
RZEFEFE

S /Jlb%ﬂ Z"‘E@Kﬁ"

B &R %

=) i -

BEEBEERBRAR

ZEF+_A=+—H: K EEARRTEE
B b 7N & B ZE R E IR
ZEN EREEFBRT
RZEHFE ((FBRT H%TEEJ)&‘:F‘

WEME ([ERXTHREF

R —FFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

GERMBEHERME (F)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2021
HE—F—

FrZA=+—HIFFEF
23. SHARE CAPITAL 23. A
Number of
shares Share capital
BHEE (&N
HK$'000
FHET
Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each BREE0.10B T2
LE AR I D
Authorised: ERE AR
At 1st January, 2020, 31st December, \:’—::“i A—H-
2020 and 31st December, 2021 —E2-ZF+-A=+—H
k=—ZT=-—F+=A
=4—=E 1,000,000,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid: BT RMERA
At 1st January, 2020, 31st December, E’\_g_f—ii*ﬂ =g «
2020 and 31st December, 2021 —ETETHA=1+—H
R—T=-_—%+=H
== 817,644,000 81,764
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The followings are the deferred tax liabilities (assets) recognised by
the Group and movements thereon during the current and prior
reporting years:

Impairment of
property, plant

and equipment Tax losses
WE- BER
FiEZRE REEE
HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TEx
At 1st January, 2020 \_T_ZFF—-A—H - (8,663)
Charge to profitorloss 7Bz = =
Exchange adjustments fE 5 EA % - (509)
At 31st December, 2020 RZZ=TF
+-A=+—H - (9,172)
(Credit) charge to profit 7182 (Gt A) k&
or loss (60,185) -
Exchange adjustments R - (370)
At 31st December, 2021 WR-ZT-—%
+ =4—=f (60,185) (9,542)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax
losses of approximately HK$138,316,000 (2020: HK$76,257,000)
available for offset against future profits. A deferred tax asset
has been recognised in respect of approximately HK$59,611,000
(2020: HK$57,296,000) of such losses. No deferred tax asset
has been recognised in respect of the remaining approximately
HK$78,705,000 (2020: HK$18,961,000) due to the unpredictability
of future profit streams. All unrecognised tax losses will expire in
the years ranging from 2024 to 2026. At the end of the reporting
period, the Group has deductible temporary differences arising from
impairment of property, plant and equipment of HK$420,634,000
(2020: nil). A deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect
of approximately HK$240,741,000 (2020: nil) of such deductible
temporary difference. No deferred tax asset has been recognised
in respect of the remaining approximately HK$179,893,000 (2020:
nil) as it is not probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary differences can be utilised.

Under the EIT Law of the PRC, withholding tax is imposed
on dividends declared in respect of profits earned by the PRC
subsidiaries from 1st January, 2008 onwards.

SEEEERBRAR

UTRAEEERZEEHEARE (B
BE)RRABREFERAETREFEZ

ek

5
Undistributed
Accelerated earnings
tax of the PRC
depreciation  subsidiaries Total
= NG
MERERE ROREF @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THT TET
50,912 14,951 57,200
3,300 - 3,300
3,163 880 3,534
57,375 15,831 64,034
552 1,292 (58,341)
2,319 638 2,587
60,246 17,761 8,280
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6 49138,316,000/8 T (=T T F :
76,257,0007% 7)) ] #K 88 R 0w A o
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Equity-settled share option scheme

The Company approved and adopted a share option scheme (the
“Scheme”) on 3rd June, 2013 for the primary purpose of providing
incentive or rewards to selected participants for their contribution
to the Group.

Under the Scheme, the board of directors of the Company
may grant options to eligible employees, including executive or
non-executive directors (including independent non-executive
directors), of the Company, its subsidiaries, or any entity (“Invested
Entity”) in which any member of the Group holds any equity
interest, to subscribe for shares in the Company. Additionally,
the Company may, from time to time, grant share options to any
supplier of goods or services to any member of the Group or any
Invested Entity, any customer of the Group or any Invested Entity,
and any consultants, advisers, managers, officers or entities that
provides research, development or other technological support to
the Group or any Invested Entity.

The total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all options to be granted under the Scheme must not in aggregate
exceed 10% of the shares of the Company in issue as at the date of
the passing of the ordinary resolution for adoption of the Scheme.
The number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised at any time
under the Scheme shall not exceed 30% of the issued share capital
of the Company from time to time.

The number of shares in respect of which options may be granted
to any individual in any 12-month period is not permitted to
exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any point in
time, without prior approval from the Company’s shareholders
in accordance with the Scheme. Where any grant of options to a
substantial shareholder or an independent non-executive director
or any of their respective associates would result in the shares in
the Company issued and to be issued upon exercise of all options
to such person in the 12-month period up to and including the
date of grant in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company in
issue and with a value (based on the closing price of the shares
of the Company at the offer date of each offer) in excess of
HK$5,000,000, such grant of options must be approved in advance
by the Company’s shareholders in accordance with the Scheme.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

25. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)

Equity-settled share option scheme (Continued)

An option may be exercised at any time during the period to be
determined and notified by the directors to the grantee and in the
absence of such determination, from the date of acceptance of an
offer of the grant of such option to the earlier of the date on which
such option lapses and ten years from the date of offer of that
option. A consideration of HK$1 is payable upon acceptance of the
offer.

The exercise price is determined by the directors of the Company,
and will not be less than the higher of the nominal value of the
share; the closing price of the Company’s shares on the date
of offer; and the average closing price of the shares for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of offer.

The following table discloses details of the Company’s share options
held by the directors and other employees and movements in such
holdings during the year:

25.

REMBBRERME (&)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2021

r— F ]
;34 = EET

s S
=) 2 EEJE

H=T H1E

LR/ A2 E @

BRELZAGRZERESTE @)

BREATNETEELANGARAZH
FABERTTE  MABEE  BmER
BEHBREASEEZBRERRZA
HIRHEZBERER LT T F2RER
Hl o MEMERERZAMIEBTRE-

TEENHARAESTEE  EFEE
REMEE  ARAFBRMREL A2
Yo (8 R B fn B h B B A &
BzFglmEBEZRSE -

TEREEHEEREMERRAZAR

RS

Outstanding  Outstanding Exercised Forfeited ~ Outstanding
Date of Exercise at at during during at
Option type grant price 1.1.2020 31.12.2020 the year the year 31.12.2021
R-B-8F  RoFCRE R-B=-F
-A-A t=A=t-A t=p=t-8
BRERR RHES (ikidH W A{TE R ATE R ERRl HARTRE
HK$
BT
Granted under Scheme
BEZ R
Option type G 15.10.2018 0435 21,620,000 21,620,000 - (3,984,000 17,636,000
G lE —E-)N\F
TAtaA
Exercisable at the end of the year 11,060,000 17,636,000
RERATR
Weighted average exercised price 0435 0435 0435 0.435 0.435
ETERE
SEEEERAERAA o —E_—FFH



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBERRME (F)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2021

BT — 4

“H=1—HIFFE

25. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued) 25. UM 2 H @
Equity-settled share option scheme (Continued) BREZNARZERESTE (@)
Note: M T

The vesting period, which is the period from the date of grant to the exercisable
date, of the share options granted is determined by directors of the Company at
each time when the options are granted. Holders of share options granted under
the Scheme may only exercise their options during the exercisable periods as
follows:

RHBEEzFZBH AR BHERTE A H
B DRARAESRERE L BRERE
o REZABRH I BREZSAAEIR
AR AT 17 {58 5 i 77 {2 L B A A

Option type G Maximum% of share options exercisable
GE K E AT ERRREREE AL
Exercisable periods:
AIATEEAR -
1.5.2019 - 30.4.2020 up to 50%
& AES0%
1.5.2020 - 30.4.2021 up to 75%
R AIE75%

1.5.2021 - 30.4.2026

up to 100% (to the extent not already exercised)

S AIE100% (LAHARITEEAR)

The fair values of the share options at the grant date were calculated using the
Binomial model. The inputs into the model were as follows:

RRE B EBRENAFETER ZBEAE
XEtE - ZEAZBAZBBENOT :

Share price on the date of grant RIF L B8 ZRE HK$0.42/5 7T
Exercise price 1TEE HK$0.43577T
Expected volatility TEHRR 8 60%
Expected life from date of grant R B ARt TR G 0.5- 7.5 yearstF
Risk free rate R TR 2.42%
Expected dividend yield TEFHAR B 1.78%

Expected volatility was determined by using the historical volatility of
the Company’s 875-day share prices before the date of grant. The
expected life used in the model has been adjusted, based on the
management’s best estimate, for the effects of non-transferability,
exercise restrictions and behavioural considerations.

The Group recognised total expense of HK$292,000 (2020:
HK$1,338,000) for the year ended 31st December, 2021 in relation
to share options granted by the Company.

TEER IR R IB AR R R H A #IA1875
BHIRE IRENBEZNIEETE %8
ANER B FHEREEERTAIE
FEETERFRTAREZZEFL
ZEAEMET AR -

REBHEREEZE T -_—F+—-H4
=t+t—HIEFEEARFAHMEHZER
ER BT HA292,0008 T (ZE =
T4 1 1,338,000/ 7T) °

26. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 26. EAREKIE
2021 2020
—EC-—F —_B_FF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Capital expenditure in respect of the T 5 K2 =% 4 s i & 7R il 2
acquisition of plant and equipment
— contracted for but not provided — BRI AE R 49,103 56,952
— authorised but not contracted for —EEEERFTLN 42,840 =
91,943 56,952
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27.

28.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME

Hong Kong

The Group has joined the MPF Scheme for its employees in Hong
Kong. The MPF Scheme is registered with the Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Authority under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held
separately from those of the Group in funds under the control
of an independent trustee. Under the rule of the MPF Scheme,
the employer and its employees are each required to make
contributions to the MPF Scheme at rates specified in the rules. The
only obligation of the Group with respect to the MPF Scheme is to
make the required contributions under the MPF Scheme.

The retirement benefit scheme contributions arising from the MPF
Scheme charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income represent contributions payable to the
funds by the Group at rates specified in the rules of the scheme.

PRC

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries in the PRC are members
of a state-managed retirement benefit scheme operated by the
government of the PRC. The subsidiaries are required to contribute
a certain percentage of the salaries of their employees to the
state-managed retirement benefit scheme. The only obligation of
the Group with respect to the retirement benefit scheme is to make
the required contributions under the scheme.

During the year, the retirement benefit scheme contributions
amounted to approximately HK$12,143,000 (2020: HK$6,409,000).

GEMBERHE (&)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2021
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RIREFEHE
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RBHERBEEEIEEREM - B1E
TR EIZEERAKREEENH XM
BY XA 2 EETEE - RIFRTE
TERA - BREREEESBARR
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BEETEIBN AR ERH -
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RiFaEE R EMEERER X IHZ 8
S At BRI B A B R R AR B
TEIREZ L RRENES ZHK -

>H

ok

HE
AEEZTEMBLEEE /T EBRA
LEZEAREEEARBNFTEIKE - I
BRABAASKEREZHFME—BOL
KR REE ZRKENFBIHR - K
SEBERBHNE 2 - BERAZ
BB R E R EK

FR BERBAGFTEHRD A
12,143,000/ 7T (ZZ =F 4 : 6,409,000
/ETE)

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 28. BEALRS
The remuneration of directors, who are the key management of the BEAEREBRFTEEEBAEBZEETNENRN
Group, during the year are as follows. 2T
2021 2020
—E-—F —ETHF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT AT
Short-term benefit %2 HA 4@ Al 14,460 15,046
Post-employment benefit BRE 56 63
Share-based payments VARR 0 2 i 2 2 176 812
14,692 15,921
The remuneration of executive directors, who are also the key HITESNERAEEBETEITHAE -
executives of the Group, is determined by the remuneration HEZMSHRFWNEE 2R FEARIR
committee having regard to the performance of individuals and MG HBAETE -
market trends.
SEEEEREAR o “T - —FFW
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

GEMBRERME (&)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3757 DECEMBER 2021

£ 7 — — FI—H | 1| 4F &
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29. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising
including both cash and non-cash
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for
which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the
Group's consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from

from financing activities,

financing activities.

29. MEEB 2B EHKR

TRANAEERE RS cAREE

BRERERFREE

cBMEEDELE

ZEBENEERERENRAKRASRE

RAKEZE

iﬁi/}lu%%‘:}]/\*ﬁﬁl’ﬂé

/E@ﬁﬁimizg1 °©

Unsecured
bank
borrowings
Lease and interest
liabilities payable Total
23K
RITHEE
HESE REMSFE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET AT
At 1st January, 2020 R-—ZT-_FF—H—H 8,143 217,165 225,308
Financing cash flows (note a) mEReRE (fiFa) (8,232) 49,175 40,943
Lease modification (note b) HEEET (MizEb) 7,329 7,329
Interest accrued FEETFIE 306 8,507 8,813
Exchange adjustments [ i B 424 8,076 8,500
At 31st December, 2020 RZZEZEF
+=—A=+—H 7,970 282,923 290,893
Financing cash flows (note a) &R R=E (Mizta) (8,671) (72,585) (81,256)
Lease modification (note b) HEEET (MsEb) 10,249 - 10,249
Interest accrued JETF B 185 8,255 8,440
Exchange adjustments PE 5 2 332 8,594 8,926
At 31st December, 2021 RZE——%F
+=A=+—H 10,065 227,187 237,252
Notes: B
(@)  The cash flows represent the proceeds used for addition/repayment of (@ HBenskELbtRiesnsRd BIEY
bank borrowings, repayment of lease liabilities and interest paid in the NEBRITE % EEHEEAEND

consolidated statement of cash flows.

(b) During the year, the Group renewed lease agreements for the use of
leased properties for one year before expiry (2020: one year). On the lease
modification date, the Group recognised HK$10,249,000 of right-of-use
asset (2020: HK$7,329,000) and HK$10,249,000 lease liability (2020:

HK$7,329,000), which is a major non-cash transaction.
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FR ALEBREAEENENEE R
EERAM TULNEH —F(=ZT=ZF:
—F) REEBTRE  NEEERE
FAREE E10,249,0008 L (Z T =ZT 4 :
7,329,000/ 70) M & & (510,249,0007%5
T (ZZE =T 4 : 7,329,000/ 7T) - 51k
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

30. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

31.

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and
equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged
from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, which includes
the lease liabilities and unsecured bank borrowings disclosed in
notes 21 and 22 respectively and equity attributable to owners of
the Company, comprising issued share capital and reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on a
regular basis. As part of this review, the directors of the Company
consider the cost of capital and the risks associated with each
class of capital. Based on recommendations of the directors of
the Company, the Group will balance its overall capital structure
through the payment of dividends, new share issues and share
buy-backs as well as the issue of new debt or the redemption of
existing debt.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a) Categories of financial instruments

30.

31.

REMBBRERME (&)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2021

o —F— (| — H / =}

/E EF
(27 = Sl /=

EXREREE

RRERAEENTSEBTREREE
B AKEYUREAETER  WEB
{5 (TS R A B T B AR R
BRAER - AEENEEFEE S
BIERHTE -

AEENEARBRERE (EHEHE
M2V 22N BIEBE 2 HERBRE
ERRTER) URARRES ARG
B (BREBTRALER) -

ARBEZTEHRWITERRE - ERR
A —& D AAREECERETK
ARESREANBERR - REBEAQF
EEnER A5EHBEBRMEKE
TITHAL - BRI AR ETHERS
BERBEIR - BATEBBEANRRE -

ERITHA
() €M T AZEH

2021 2020
—E-—F ZEERF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Financial assets & E
Financial assets at amortised cost WHHK At 22 EEE 360,704 483,830
Financial liabilities HEEE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost WHEK AT EZ YA E 280,250 400,689
ELEEERERAR o T —FFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBEEME (R)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2021

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade and
other receivables, deposits, bank balances and cash, trade
and other payables, lease liabilities and unsecured bank
borrowings. Details of the financial instruments are disclosed
in respective notes. The risks associated with these financial
instruments include market risk (foreign currency risk and
interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on
how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The directors
of the Company manage and monitor these exposures to
ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely
and effective manner.

Market risk
Foreign currency risk

Non-derivative foreign currency monetary assets and
monetary liabilities

A significant portion of the Group’s sales is denominated
in RMB and significant portion of the Group’s purchases is
denominated in RMB and USD. The Group’s manufacturing
operations are located in the PRC.

Several subsidiaries of the Group have foreign currency sales
and purchases, which expose the Group to foreign currency
risk. Certain bank balances, trade and other receivables,
trade and other payables and unsecured bank borrowings
are denominated in the foreign currencies of the relevant
group entities. The Group currently does not have a foreign
exchange hedging policy. However, the management of the
Group monitors foreign exchange exposure and will consider
hedging foreign exposure should the need arise.

HOP FUNG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED e Annual Report 2021
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

GEMBRRME (F)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2027
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34 = T+ 1= s‘ LA*H\
31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 31. € T A @)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) BIKEMEEEERBEE
policies (Continued) (#&)
Market risk (Continued) 5% R B (&)
Foreign currency risk (Continued) SR % ()
Non-derivative foreign currency monetary assets and EPTEIINE R EEEEEAE
monetary liabilities (Continued) (&)
At the reporting date, the carrying amounts of the Group’s RBER AEBHNEEERE
monetary assets and monetary liabilities denominated in BEBNUNEEE I BT
currencies other than the respective functional currencies of EMEEKEEREEEBGEZERER
the relevant group entities are as follows: BT :
Assets Liabilities
BE =N
2021 2020 2021 2020
:g:_fﬁ —7— $ :g:_i —7— E'E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FET FTET FET
RMB AR 39,517 64,946 - -
HK$ BT 2,071 12,088 60,000 68,354
usb ETT 7,865 15,431 6,091 10,548
Foreign currency sensitivity analysis SNERRE DT
The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5% TRANAEEHEBREETR
increase and decrease in the functional currencies of the 2 E L EENEAERE
relevant group entities against the relevant foreign currencies. B5% 2 UKE © BURES% /AR
Sensitivity rate of 5% represents the assessment of the RESYHEXAREH T SB
directors of the Company of the reasonably possible change o BMREDITEBREAIINES
in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only B2 EMAFEEKIER  UTRF
outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items IR A B L DA B B 2R 2 5% %
and adjusts their translation at the year end for a 5% change & o
in foreign currency rates.
The sensitivity analysis below shows the impact relates to T2 HRREDTRERAARE -
monetary assets or liabilities that are denominated in RMB, BT ETHECERKEESA
HK$ or USD against the functional currencies of relevant BBl EEEEERIIEEY
group entities, HK$ or RMB respectively. BITRARE ZZE -
SEEEERER e — —FER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBERRME (F)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3757 DECEMBER 2021

Hm—F—— - — = — T

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

31. €@ T A u@m)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) BIKREMEEEERBEER
policies (Continued) (#&)
Market risk (Continued) 7% B [ (&)
Foreign currency risk (Continued) SN B (4
Non-derivative foreign currency monetary assets and EPTEINNE B EEE TR AE
monetary liabilities (Continued) (%)
Foreign currency sensitivity analysis (Continued) AN R S o T (48)
In relation to monetary assets, where the functional currency REBEEmMS  MEEEEE
of the relevant group entity strengthens 5% against the B EEREEMRMNTE
currency in which the assets are denominated, there would be ZEBHE%  BIFEHEEE
an increase in post-tax loss (2020: decrease in post-tax profit) FeEmn(Z—E_ZF : HiEMHE
for the year. However, in relation to monetary liabilities, W) o R EEKEEMS -
where the functional currency of the relevant group entity WA EBER 2 NEEERE
strengthens 5% against the currency in which the liabilities EFTRANGHE 2 BEEAES% © 8l
are denominated, there would be a decrease in post-tax EEHEERBEeRD(ZE-Z
loss (2020: increase in post-tax profit) for the year. A 5% F o BEFEEZN) - ThEe E Ay
weakening of the functional currency would have an equal B5% BlEEHEER (ZT =
but opposite impact on the post-tax loss (2020: post-tax TE Tﬁféfrljﬂ) 2 X2 HESEE
profit) for the year. BERZE
RMB Impact USD Impact HK$ Impact
ARMZEE EYAvA % Brzeg
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
ZB--% C"ZT-TF ZB--F§ _ZT-THE CB--§ _T_TH
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TEL THET TET TET TAT
Decrease (increase) in /& 51
post-tax loss (2020: (i) (ZE =%
(decrease) increase FHEME
in post-tax profit) (R2) % m) (1,650) (2,712) (74) (204) 2,419 2,348

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the sensitivity
analysis is unrepresentative of the inherent foreign exchange
risk as the year end exposure does not reflect the exposure
during the year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation
to lease liabilities (see note 21 for details) and cash flow
interest rate risk in relation to variable-rate bank borrowings
(see note 22 for details of these borrowings), bank balances
and deposits. The directors consider that the interest rate risk
on bank balances and deposits are minimal, accordingly, no
sensitivity analysis is performed.

The Group's exposures to interest rates on financial liabilities
are detailed in the liquidity risk section of this note. The
Group cash flow interest rate risk is mainly concentrated on
the fluctuation of HIBOR and LPR arising from the Group’s
borrowings denominated in HK$ and RMB.

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis has been determined based on the
exposure to interest rates for non-derivatives instruments.
The analysis is prepared assuming the financial instruments
outstanding at the end of the reporting period were
outstanding for the whole year. Increase or decrease in a 50
basis points represents the assessment of the directors of the
Company of the reasonably possible change in interest rates.
For the Group’s exposure to interest rates on its variable-rate
bank borrowings, if interest rates had been 50 basis points
higher/lower and all other variables were held constant,
the Group’s post-tax loss (2020: profit) for the year would
have increased/decreased by HK$947,000 (2020: decreased/
increased by HK$1,180,000).

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the sensitivity
analysis is unrepresentative of the interest rate risk as the year
end exposure does not reflect the exposure during the year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBEEME (R)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2021

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group’s counterparties
default on their contractual obligations resulting in financial
losses to the Group. The Group’s credit risk exposures are
primarily attributable to trade receivables, bank balances,
other receivables and deposits. The Group does not hold any
collateral or other credit enhancements to cover its credit risks
associated with its financial assets, except that the credit risks
associated with some trade receivables is mitigated because
settlement of certain trade receivables are backed by bills
issued by reputable financial institutions.

Trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers

In order to minimise the credit risk, the directors of the
Company has delegated a team responsible for determination
of credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring
procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover
overdue debts. In addition, the Group performs impairment
assessment under ECL model on trade receivables individually
or based on a collective assessment. In this regard, the
directors of the Company consider that the Group'’s credit risk
is significantly reduced.

The Group only accepts bills issued by reputable PRC banks
if trade receivables are settled by bills and therefore the
management of the Group considers the credit risk arising
from the endorsed bills is insignificant.

Trade receivables consist of a large number of customers,
spread across diverse industries and geographical areas, and
thus the Group does not have significant concentration of
credit risk.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers (Continued)

For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified
approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at
lifetime ECL. Except for credit-impaired debtors with gross
carrying amount of HK$1,076,000 as at 31st December, 2021
(2020: HK$3,108,000), the Group determines the ECL on
the trade receivables that are not credit-impaired with gross
carrying amount of HK$101,633,000 as at 31st December,
2021 (2020: HK$189,365,000) under collective assessment,
grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics by
reference to past default experience and current past due
status of debtors.

As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the Group
uses debtors’ past due status to assess the impairment for its
customers because these customers consist of a large number
of customers with common risk characteristics that are
representative of the customers’ abilities to pay all amounts
due in accordance with the contractual terms.

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical
observed default rates over the expected life of the debtors
and are adjusted for forward-looking information that
is available without undue cost or effort. The grouping
is regularly reviewed by management to ensure relevant
information about specific debtors is updated.

During the year ended 31st December, 2021, reversal of
impairment loss under ECL model of HK$1,817,000 (2020:
no impairment allowance) is recognised for trade receivables.
Details of the quantitative disclosures are set out below in this
note.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBEEME (R)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2021

iy Z2s — & — — 1+ — H H e

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Bank balances

Credit risk on bank balances is limited because the
counterparties are reputable banks with high credit ratings
assigned by international credit agencies. The Group assessed
12m ECL for bank balances by reference to information
relating to probability of default and loss given default of the
respective credit rating grades published by external credit
rating agencies.

Other receivables and deposits

For other receivables and deposits, the directors of the
Company make periodic individual assessment on the
recoverability of other receivables and deposits based on
historical settlement records, past experience, and also
guantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportive forward-looking information. The directors
of the Company believe that there are no significant increase
in credit risk of these amounts since initial recognition and
the Group provided impairment based on 12m ECL. For the
year ended 31st December, 2021, the Group assessed the
ECL for other receivables and deposits with gross carrying
amount of HK$12,394,000 as at 31st December, 2021 (2020:
HK$2,904,000) was insignificant and thus no loss allowance
was recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
BEMBRRME (&)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2021
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 31. €@ T A um
(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) MEREMREEBEZERBE
policies (Continued) (%)
Credlit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) 15 B R R B ()
The Group's internal credit risk grading assessment comprises AEE /A= S R BTG AR R
the following categories: BENATER
Internal credit rating Description Trade receivables Other financial assets
REBEETR #it EZEUHE At BaE
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default and does Lifetime ECL - 12m ECL
not have any past-due amounts not credit-impaired
{ER R RPHFENEARE - HEEMBHTE FHRBEERE NEARHEEEE
-EEERE
Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates but usually Lifetime ECL - 12m ECL
settle after due date not credit-impaired
BReE BEEARZRIBAETEF  TBRERIBBERE 2HRHEERR 12EAESEERR
-BEERE
Doubtful There have been significant increases in credit risk since initial Lifetime ECL - Lifetime ECL -
recognition through information developed internally not credit-impaired not credit-impaired
Bl BRRBELEZER  FERRA MRRZARABEN cHEHEEER rHRHEERR
-EEERE EEERE
Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is credit-impaired Lifetime ECL - Lifetime ECL -
credit-impaired credit-impaired
ER RRBERNAEECLRESRAE PHRREERS FHEREERR
- HRESRE - HRESRE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in severe financial -~ Amount is written off Amount is written off
difficulty and the Group has no realistic prospect of recovery
i35 BEENMBARRENRRE AEERRONE FET DA S FOET bAM 8
LBEHZ
SEEEERAERAA o —E_—FFH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
GEMBRRME (FH)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2021

B —F——Ff+=—A=+—HIFZE
31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 31. @ T B @)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) BIKREMEEEERBEER
policies (Continued) (&)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) 1= Bz fe R i (B 518 (48)
The table below details the credit risk exposures of the TRAMNLEEBEITEAEE
Group's financial assets, which are subject to ECL assessment: EBEFHNASEMEEENE
BERRE :
Internal 12-month or
Notes  credit rating lifetime ECL Gross carrying amount
12{8 A sk
s AREETSLE 2HESHEEESR REARH
2021 2020
“E--F ZEC-EFF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THER FTET
Financial assets at amortised cost
DEERATEHBERE
Trade receivables 17 Note Lifetime ECL
- not credit-impaired
(collective assessment) 101,633 189,365
B S WA B x 2HEREEESR
—EEERE
(Bf2aTa)
Trade receivables 17 Loss Lifetime ECL
— credit-impaired 1,076 3,108
B H WA BB 2HEREEEE
—{=ERE
Other receivables 17 Low risk 12m ECL 11,071 1,629
H b e RRIR KRR REAEHEEEE
Deposits 18 Low risk 12m ECL 1,323 1,275
bk 15 /2 fiz RERAEHEEEE
Bank balances 19 Low risk 12m ECL 246,666 291,556
RITEEBR 1K /2 B REAEHEEEE
Note: For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified iz MESEUREMS  AEBED
approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime ECL. FER BB R & R F 95 A
Except for debtors that are credit-impaired, the Group determines A AFEZHEHEEEBEN
the ECL on these items on a collective basis, grouped by past due EBEREE BREREERENE
status. WEERIN REBE R EEEERE

EZEHRENBHEREER &
BEIER DR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

31.

GERMBHERRME (F)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2027

- /1 /

BE—ZF F+ - A=+—HIFFE
@I Em
(b) BIEMEEBERBE

policies (Continued) (&)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) 1= E RS RdEFE (8)
The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL that TRERBEGLLLT EZEERR
has been recognised for trade receivables under the simplified BHREWZENEHEBEEE
approach: B
Lifetime ECL
(credit-impaired)
2HANEERR
(HREEHE)
HK$'000
T
At 1st January, 2020 and 31st December, 2020 \ == _gi A—B XK
—E_EFT_A=1—H 3,108
Impairment losses recognised EERAEEE 92
Impairment losses reversed B ORE &R (1,909)
Write-offs i 4 (302)
Exchange adjustments ME M, 38 B 87
At 31st December, 2021 R-B--5+=-A=+—H 1,076
AN
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBEEME (R)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2021

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk
In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by the management to finance the Group’s
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows. The management monitors the utilisation of bank
borrowings and ensures compliance with loan repayment
terms.

The Group relies on bank borrowings as a significant source
of liquidity. As at 31st December, 2021, the Group has
available undrawn borrowing facilities of approximately
HK$153,919,000 (2020: HK$129,462,000). The Group
monitors its current and expected liquidity requirements
regularly and ensuring sufficient liquid cash and adequate
committed lines of funding from reputable financial
institutions to meet the Group’s liquidity requirements in the
short and long term.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its financial liabilities. The table has been drawn
up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial
liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group
can be required to pay. Specifically, bank borrowings
with a repayment on demand clause are included in the
earliest time band regardless of the probability of the banks
choosing to exercise their rights. The maturity dates for
other non-derivative financial liabilities are based on the
agreed repayment dates. The table includes both interest and
principal cash flows.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)
Liquidity and interest risk tables

REUMBERRMWE ()
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2021

B —Z—

31. €@ T A um

(b) MBEBEZERRBER

()
HEBE T ER (&)
REEL KT SR

Fr—A=+—HIFE

Weighted On
average  demand or 3 months Total
effective less than 1-3 to 1-2 2-5 undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1 month month(s) 1 year year(s) years  cash flows amount
METH REX -fBRZ =fipz ABRE
1 ik —fERR =f@Aa - -FERE WERLF HESE REE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiEn TER Fan Tin TEn Tin TEn
2021 ZEC-F
Trade and other 25k
payables AtERFE - 53,371 - - - - 53,371 53,371
Lease liabilties HERR 36 837 1673 7529 326 - 10,365 10,065
Unsecured bank BERRORE
borrowings
- variable rate -%8 34 71,337 2922 38,900 19,566 109,696 242,421 226,879
125,545 4,595 46,429 19,892 109,696 306,157 290,315
Weighted On
average  demand or 3 months Total
effective less than 1-3 to 1-2 2-5  undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1 month month(s) 1 year year(s) years  cash flows amount
EF RERS i E =fiAz AMERS
ERflE  —EAR =fiA - -EZ@E MERRE  RE#E G
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T TETL T T TATL
2020 3
Trade and other Bk
payables AR - 118,075 - - - - 118,075 118,075
Lease liabilties HERR 36 762 1524 6,576 - - 8,862 7970
Unsecured bank BERROEE
borrowings
~variable rate — %8 33 95,575 6,014 4713 4,209 108,351 298,862 282,614
214412 7538 51,289 44209 108,351 425,799 408,659
Bank loans with a repayment on demand clause are included BEREREBEERZETER
in the “on demand or less than 1 month” time band in the HEALMBEAE SR %
above maturity analysis. As at 31st December, 2021, the Sk —EAARNIEE KR _-=
aggregate undiscounted principal amounts of these bank ——fF+=-_A=+—H ZER
loans amounted to HK$70,000,000 (2020: HK$57,778,000). FTEFHNFTERFTERALE A
Taking into account the Group’s financial position, the 70,000,000 L (Z T =T 4 :
directors do not believe that it is probable that the banks 57,778,000/ L) ° &£ E E AN & B
will exercise their discretionary rights to demand immediate BI G AR R 1% - EEHERITET
repayment. SITEHEAERTANERZWIE
HE o
AEEEERERAR o T —FFIR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
GEMBRRME (FH)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2021

Az —5F —

F4+—H / H =

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

(9]

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

Liquidity and interest risk tables (Continued)

For the purpose of managing liquidity risk, the management
reviews the expected cash flow information of the Group's
bank loans with a repayment on demand clause based on the

scheduled repayment dates set out in the agreement as set
out in the table below:

31. €@ T A u@m)

(b)

MBEREEERRBE
(#)

B E LR (%)
RBEE KT B AR (#)
REBRBESER EEER
BTRAEHEANZTAEERE
HEBERERBERIZASE
BERTERNESFRESREEH
EITIRET -

Weighted
average Total
effective Within  undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1 year cash flows amount
T RTR
BERAE —-FR HRERELE REE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT TET TET
2021 —B--F
Bank loans with a repayment B EREREEER
on demand clause ZRITER 1.36 70,085 70,085 70,000
2020 —E-EHF
Bank loans with a repayment BB IRE R (BB 5K
on demand clause ZRITER 1.51 57,852 57,852 57,778

The amounts included above for non-derivative financial
liabilities with variable interest rate are subject to change if
changes in variable interest rates differ to those estimates of
interest rates determined at the end of the reporting period.

Fair value

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying
amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded
at amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements
approximate their fair values.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBBRRKE (E)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2021
BE—F——F1+—_A=F+—HIFEF

32. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 32. ARRMBERRERFER
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY
2021 2020
—E-—F T -TF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTET FET
Non-current asset ERBEE
Interest in subsidiaries AN PA X 1,358,004 1,470,163
Current assets REBEE
Deposits and prepayments e RIBRAK 332 321
Taxation recoverable A U\ Fi 51 - 80
Amounts due from subsidiaries JrE UK B 2B 2 B 3R IE 352,414 586,850
Bank balances and cash RITEHRNIRS 4,349 10,555
357,095 597,806
Current liabilities REBAE
Other payables and accrued charges H e FOIE R R  H 12,460 15,543
Amounts due to subsidiaries FESTH B A R 5RIB 1,073,469 1,183,012
Taxation payable FE &7 1A 4 =
1,085,933 1,198,555
Net current liabilities mENAEFE (728,838) (600,749)
Net assets BESE 629,166 869,414
Capital and reserves R
Share capital [N 81,764 81,764
Reserves (] 547,402 787,650
629,166 869,414

AN
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
meEMBEEME (E)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2021
BEr_—T_—F+_A=+—HIFE

32. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (continued)

Note:

Details of the movement of reserves in the Company are set out below:

32. KRB BRI R F#EER @

GER

AABZ HEREFERIIMT

Share Share options Retained
premium reserves profits Total
B3R E BREREE R &8 F 8 #ct
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
FHT FHT FHT FHT
At 1st January, 2020 R-ZTE=-TF—H—H 492,392 2,930 273,408 768,730
Profit and total comprehensive FEFBER2E KB
income for the year - - 17,582 17,582
Recognition of equity-settled FRUA R 45 S VA RR 19 2 1<F
share-based payments 23 - 1,338 - 1,338
At 31st December, 2020 R-T_THF
+=A=+—H 492,392 4,268 290,990 787,650
Loss and total comprehensive FEBBEREEAZEE
expense for the year - - (240,540) (240,540)
Recognition of equity-settled RAREREE
share-based payments AR A 1+ 2 32 - 292 = 292
Transfer upon forfeiture of share 78 b B S e 1
options - (897) 897 -
At 31st December, 2021 RIT_—%
+TZR=+— 492,392 3,663 51,347 547,402
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBEEME (&)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2021
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33. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 33. TEfBEATIEHR
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries as at 31st December, 2021 R_E-_—F+-_A=+—HRK_-ZT—
and 31st December, 2020 are as follows: TFE+-_A=+—HZTEMNBRAF

BT
Proportion of
nominal value
Place of Issued and of issued capital/
incorporation fully paid registered capital
or registration/ share capital/ and voting right
Name of subsidiary operations contributed capital held by the Company Principal activities
KARFEE
EEYL/ BRAIRMERET/ BRARE/ERER
WEARER EXnE BEARE REREEZEELA TERK
2021 2020
“8--%  CECEf
% %
Chun Yik (Macao Commercial Macau Ordinary shares N/A 100 Manufacturing and trading of
Offshore) Limited (note a) MOP100,000 corrugated packaging
ER (RPBERRHERE) P LiRA%100,0002P1 % TER IRk HERES
AR AT (i)
Fung Kong Shing Fung Paper Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$2 100 100 Investment holding
Ware Factory Limited
BEHESnRERAR B LERAT REER
Green Forest (QingXin) Paper PRC Contributed capital 100 100 Manufacturing and trading of
Industrial Limited (note b) US$112,247 803 containerboard and corrugated
packaging
RE(BH) BEARAR (Fsh) +E BARA112,247 803X T RREREFBELHERES
HF Industrial (Philippines) Philippines Ordinary shares Philippines 100 100 Operation not yet commenced
Corporation Pesos 200,000,000
FRE 720,000,000 WARHBEE
FRERZR
Hop Fung Consultants Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$2 100 100 Provision of management service
AEERERAF A LRRUBT REER R
Hop Fung Group Company Limited  British Virgin Islands  Ordinary shares US$600 100 100 Investment holding
("BVI")/Hong Kong
EERUES ERMR600% T REER
([2BRxES))/
Hop Fung International Enterprise ~ Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$2 100 100 Provision of accounting service
Limited
ALERCRERRA A LRRUET Rt e R
AN

SEEEERBRAR o —T - —FFRH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3757 DECEMBER 2021
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33. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)

33. FEHBATER @

Proportion of
nominal value
Place of Issued and of issued capital/
incorporation fully paid registered capital
or registration/ share capital/ and voting right
Name of subsidiary operations contributed capital held by the Company Principal activities
KAREE
HREYL/ BRIRBMRERE/ BRATRE/EMEL
WEAR R EXiE BlRA REREZEELH TREHR
2021 2020
“B--Ff  ZZ-%%
% %
Man Shung (Macao Commercial Macau Ordinary shares N/A 100 Manufacturing and trading of
Offshore) Limited (note a) MOP100,000 corrugated packaging
BIE(RFIRERRERE) P E4B%100,0008 % TEA NEBEZBERES
BRAT (Fia)
Wah Wang Paper Ware Limited Macau Ordinary shares 100 100 Trading of corrugated packaging
MOP100,000 and procurement of raw
materials
ZERHEMERAT i E4B%100,0008 % RBRELBSREMEZHE
ReEnfmERAR (noteb)  PRC Contributed capital 100 00 Manufacturing and trading of
HK$23,000,000 corrugated packaging
(FfzEo) i B #11R72823,000,000%8 7T RFREBERES
BEERRINERAE (noteb)  PRC Contributed capital 100 00 Manufacturing and trading of
HK$25,000,000 corrugated packaging
(M)  HE B 417 7825,000,00078 T NFEBEZRERES

Notes: Fd 5 -

(@)  The applications for giving up the licences for operating offshore service (@) MEBRMIBFRSESCEERNEBF
business in Macau were submitted to the Macao Trade and Investment CR-_ZE-ZEE+_-_A—HRRMHE S
Promotion Institute on 1st December, 2020 and approval was obtained KRERERER TR _ZFF+=
on 17th December, 2020. The licences became invalid on 31st December, A+tBEEH FHREBNR_ZT_ZTF
2020. The companies were liquidated in June 2021 and a gain on +ZB=+—HEWH - ZAFER=-Z
liquidation of HK$5,771,000 regarding translation reserve reclassified T—FERNABFR UREFERNZIERER
from the other comprehensive income was recognised in the profit or loss BEEmEmESET DAL BIEN pﬁﬁ
(note 10) during the year. 258K 55,771,000% 7T (F3E10) o

(b)  Green Forest (QingXin) Paper Industrial Limited, REe#mARAER LD by HREGEHAEXEARAR HeEn

Other than Hop Fung Group Company Limited, all subsidiaries are

and & 24K RORY)E R AR are wholly foreign owned enterprises.

indirectly held by the Company.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities subsisting at 31st
December, 2021 and 31st December, 2020 or at any time during

both years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
BEMBRRME (&)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2021
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33. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 33. TEMBELRTER @
(Continued)
The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which, in the FRINEARATEERAEANEB LS
opinion of directors of the Company, principally affected the results LEEEEEFE2AEERNBAA -
and assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, EERE BEMNBARFBEIHE
in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive BYERBRILE °
length.
At the end of the reporting period, the Company has other RMEHR > RABIEESAEE M S
subsidiaries that are not material to the Group. These subsidiaries TBEAZHEMHBAR - ZEHWEBA
are operated in Hong Kong, Macau, Southeast Asia, BVI or PRC. BIRES JBPY -  Hrgas c ABREE
The principal activities of these subsidiaries are summarised as EXHFREE - ZEWNBARIZ ETEE
follows: BENMT :
Principal activities Principal place of business Number of subsidiaries
FTEEK FTEEEME MEBAREE
2021 2020
—E-—F ZEETF
Investment holding BVI 2 2
KB EEETHS
2 2
Inactive BVI 1 1
=y REBREIES
Hong Kong 1 1
6
PRC 1 1
H
Southeast Asia 1 1
R
4 4
Provision of management services Hong Kong 2 2
R ERIRT B
8 8

SEEEERBERAR o« —T-_—FFx% 159



160

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

BT ER

Year ended 31st December,

BE+-A=t—HLEE

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
“E—+F ZE-N\F E-NF TTF "T-_—F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
FET FET FHET FHET FHT
RESULTS ES
Revenue Wz 1,523,210 1,423,860 1,194,082 1,040,369 755,603
Cost of sales SHERN A (1,117,744)  (1,223,626)  (1,078,828) (912,500)  (1,127,114)
Gross profit (loss) ERM(EE) 405,466 200,234 115,254 127,869 (371,511)
Other income H A 17,692 21,191 20,584 23,053 17,896
Other gains and losses H i eas R B 18 (5,055) (7,563) (2,297) 4,052 12,793
Impairment loss under HHEEBEERT
expected credit loss model R EEE - = (551) = 1,817
Selling and distribution $HE KD AR
costs (67,123) (51,176) (45,689) (38,137) (31,233)
Administrative expenses THHAX (149,824) (92,471) (83,662) (80,104) (77,477)
Other expenses Hfth % (27,493) (23,665) (18,168) (21,417) (22,881)
Finance costs BT AR AX (2,096) (4,832) (6,189) (8,813) (8,440)
Profit (loss) before taxation %t A8 (E518) 171,567 41,718 (20,718) 6,503 (479,036)
Income tax (expense) credit ~ FT{5%: (FIs) % (33,857) (11,246) 12,799 (5,140) 56,249
Profit (loss) for the year, RREEE AR
attributable to owners of FEEFE(EE)
the Company 137,710 30,472 (7,919) 1,363 (422,787)
At 31st December,
R+=ZB=1+—H
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
—E—tF ZE-)N\F ZE-NF —EFTF —T-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FHET FHET THET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES X¥ERE®E
Total assets BEE 2,113,096 2,089,377 1,997,270 2,202,955 1,643,445
Total liabilities BEE (474,783) (539,155) (465,987) (581,899) (393,870)
Total equity attributable to A2 Al # A A FE{S
owners of the Company A 1,638,313 1,550,222 1,531,283 1,621,056 1,249,575
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